PERCEPTIONS JOURNAL OF INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS

Introduction: International Migration and Diplomacy: Challenges and Opportunities in the 21st Century Şebnem KÖŞER AKÇAPAR

The EU's International Relations and Migration Diplomacy at Times of Crisis: Key Challenges and Priorities Franck DÜVELL

The Limits of an International Burden-sharing Approach: Syrian Refugee Protection Crisis and its Consequences on Turkey's Refugee Policy Başak KALE

Migration in International Relations: Towards a Rights-Based Approach with Global Compact? O. Can UNVER

Relations: Migration and Foreign 1

The Contemporary Lens in International

in Turkey Yelda DEVLET KARAPINAR

Public Diplomacy through Diaspora Engagement: The Case of Turkey Şebnem KÖŞER AKÇAPAR & Damla BAYRAKTAR

Turkey as a 'Safe Third Country'? The Impacts of the EU-Turkey Statement on Syrian Refugees in Turkey Doğus ŞİMŞEK

The Impact of Forced Migration in the Middle East: Syrian and Palestinian Refugees Meltem İNCE YENİLMEZ

> Winter 2017 Volume XXII - Number 4 ISSN 1300-8641



center for strategic research Republic of Turkey Ministry of Foreign Affairs

PERCEPTIONS

Editor in Chief

Ufuk Ulutaş

Deputy Editor

Birgül Demirtaş

Managing Editor

Engin Karaca

English Language and Copy Editor

Julie Ann Matthews Aydınlı

Book Review Editor

Mehmet Zeki Günay

International Advisory Board

Ali Resul Usul	Lee Hee Soo
Ahmet Içduygu	Maria Todorova
Burhanettin Duran	Mustafa Kibaroğlu
Bülent Aras	Nuri Yurdusev
David Chandler	Oktay Tanrısever
Ekrem Karakoç	Ole Wæver
Ersel Aydınlı	Pınar Bilgin
Florian Bieber	Richard Whitman
Fuat Keyman	Şaban Kardaş
Gülnur Aybet	Talha Köse
Jaap De Wilde	
Jang Ji Hyang	Thomas Risse

Homepage: http://www.sam.gov.tr

The Center for Strategic Research (Stratejik Araştırmalar Merkezi- SAM) conducts research on Turkish foreign policy, regional studies and international relations, and makes scholarly and scientific assessments of relevant issues. It is a consultative body of the Turkish Ministry of Foreign Affairs providing strategic insights, independent data and analysis to decision makers in government. As a nonprofit organization, SAM is chartered by law and has been active since May 1995.

SAM publishes Perceptions, an English language journal on foreign affairs. The content of the journal ranges from security and democracy to conflict resolution, and international challenges and opportunities. Perceptions is a quarterly journal prepared by a large network of affiliated scholars. The views expressed in the articles are those of the authors and should not be attributed to the Center for Strategic Research.

PERCEPTIONS is a peer-reviewed journal and is included in the following databases and indexes: Columbia International Affairs Online, CSA Index, Current Contents of Periodicals on the Middle East, EBSCO, European Sources Online, Index Islamicus, International Political Science Abstracts (IPSA), Lancaster Index to Defense & International Security Literature, PAIS Index, Pro Quest.

To subscribe, write to the Center for Strategic Research, Dr. Sadık Ahmet Caddesi No: 8, Balgat / 06100

Ankara - TURKEY Phone: (+90 312) 292 22 30 - 253 40 84 • Fax: (+90 312) 282 27 15 - 253 42 03 e-mail: perceptions@mfa.gov.tr

Printed in Ankara by: MATSA Basımevi

Printed in Ankara, 19 May 2018

ISSN 1300-8641

	PERCEPTIONS JOURNAL OF INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS
	Winter 2017 Volume XXII Number 4
	TABLE OF CONTENTS
	Guest Editor : Şebnem KÖŞER AKÇAPAR
1	Introduction: International Migration and Diplomacy: Challenges and Opportunities in the 21 st Century
	Şebnem KÖŞER AKÇAPAR
35	The EU's International Relations and Migration Diplomacy at Times of Crisis: Key Challenges and Priorities
	Franck DÜVELL
55	The Limits of an International Burden-sharing Approach: Syrian Refugee Protection Crisis and its Consequences on Turkey's Refugee Policy
	Başak KALE
85	Migration in International Relations: Towards a Rights-Based Approach with Global Compact?
	O. Can ÜNVER
103	The Contemporary Lens in International Relations: Migration and Foreign Policy Nexus in Turkey
	Yelda DEVLET KARAPINAR
135	Public Diplomacy through Diaspora Engagement: The Case of Turkey Şebnem KÖŞER AKÇAPAR & Damla BAYRAKTAR
161	Turkey as a 'Safe Third Country'? The Impacts of the EU-Turkey Statement on Syrian Refugees in Turkey
	Doğuş ŞİMŞEK
183	The Impact of Forced Migration in the Middle East: Syrian and Palestinian Refugees
	Meltem İNCE YENİLMEZ
	PERCEPTIONS - WINTER 2017



International Migration and Diplomacy: Challenges and Opportunities in the 21st Century

Şebnem KÖŞER AKÇAPAR*

Introduction

In today's world, international migration is one of the key public policy areas with repercussions for international relations and diplomacy. In fact, the movement of people has proven to continue to be a significant topic of discussion, as it has direct implications on borders that nation-states try to maintain, on the existing political and social institutions, as well as on the receiving and home societies.¹ Various kinds of political and social animosities, including xenophobia, Islamophobia, and racism are in ascendancy all around the world, creating problems for the maintenance of a healthy national and international order. Hardly any country or society seems totally immune from

such tensions, since almost all countries in the world face the challenges of managing migration, border controls and integration of immigrants.

Although the mobility of persons is often a contested area, it also provides a forum within which international diplomacy may play a key role. However, there is a limited number of case studies in the migration literature that sheds light on how migration processes can become a part of diplomatic relations and when negotiations over migration can evolve into 'diplomacy of migration'.

Various kinds of political and social animosities, including xenophobia, Islamophobia, and racism are in ascendancy all around the world, creating problems for the maintenance of a healthy national and international order.

^{*} Assoc. Prof. Dr., Director of Asian Studies Center at Koç University (KUASIA), Executive Board Member at MiReKoc (Migration Research Center at Koç University), Department of Sociology, Koç University, Rumelifeneri Yolu, Sarıyer, İstanbul, 034450, Turkey. E-mail: sakcapar@ku.edu.tr

One of these cases that explores the role of migration in international relations and diplomacy is Thiollet's account on labour migration in the Middle East.² Looking at the free circulation of Eritrean refugees and other migrants in the Arab region, Thiollet argues that diplomacy over labour migrants and refugee movements revived pan-Arabism and facilitated regionalism in the Middle East in the 1960s and 1970s. Thiollet's research sheds light on how migration diplomacy links sending and receiving countries via intense bilateral relations while engaging with a wider range of actors in this process.

In another historical analysis on US-Chinese relations, Oyen argues that migration diplomacy over Chinese Americans was a crucial aspect in forming alliances and creating disputes between the two countries in the period of 1943 to 1972.3 Beginning with the US's rescinding of the Chinese Exclusion Act in 1943 to create a strong wartime alliance with the nationalist Chinese regime, Oyen argues that migration policies and practices were used to renegotiate the intergovernmental relations during the war and post-war period. Oyen's historical account on how irregular migration, student exchange, family remittances, asylum movements and deportation of dissidents were deployed by both the US and China in terms of rapprochement or detente is quite

impressive in the sense that it clearly indicates that migration diplomacy becomes a means of realizing other foreign policy objectives through changes in migration legislation. While Oyen's research suggests that the positive or negative impact of migration to diplomacy and vice versa is prone to change over extended periods of time, Thiollet's discussion captures the possibilities of regional integration as a response to incoming diverse migration flows. These studies are enlightening for discussion of the complex and intertwined relationship between migration and diplomacy.

The externalization of border policies has led to the increasing involvement of the EU member states in the border infrastructure of transit countries, and in the negotiations of re-admission agreements to deport irregular migrants and reject asylum seekers.

In the context of the EU and Turkey, we see that migration related issues are still relevant, and diplomatic tools are proving to become even more important to solve current problems. The externalization of border policies has led to the increasing involvement of the EU member states in the border infrastructure of transit countries, and in the negotiations of re-admission agreements to deport irregular migrants and reject asylum seekers. Turkey, as a candidate country guarding the external borders of the EU has long been under pressure from the EU. Many media outlets referred to 2015 as the year of the European refugee crisis. Today, the number of Syrian and other refugees living in the EU is still minimal, with Germany holding the highest numbers, with over one million. However, we are aware that most of the refugees (84%) today live in developing and neighbouring countries rather than in the global North.⁴ While many traditionally migrant receiving and refugee settlement countries in Western Europe and North America have introduced more restrictions on entry or lowered their quotas, they donate large sums of money to many governments in the global South to curb flows of people before entering the EU territory. What we witness in this process is so-called 'transit' refugees, stuck in the countries of transit for longer periods of time. This eventually either paved the way to more human smuggling and an immense death toll in the Mediterranean and the Aegean⁵ or to the creation of a migration industry with increasing project activities carried out by international, intergovernmental and local/national organisations to contain and to improve living standards of 'transit' refugees.

As of April 2011, Turkey started receiving refugees from Syria fleeing the civil war. Since then, the civil war escalated in Syria and Turkey has become the country hosting the highest number of refugees in the world. According to the Directorate General of Migration Management of Turkey (DGMM), as the end of 2017, the number of Syrian refugees under temporary protection settled in Turkey stands at 3.5 million.6 Turkey has displayed an exemplary humanitarian effort in this crisis with its open border policy up until 2017, and was able to manage unprecendented migration flows from Syria mostly relying on its own resources. Beyond the immediate and evident humanitarian perspective, though, there are obviously political, economic, demographic, and sociocultural implications of this mass movement for the wider society and for the refugees themselves. After seven years of living together with almost four million Syrian and other refugees and asylum seekers mainly from Afghanistan, Iraq, Bangladesh, and Iran, Turkish authorities have finally accepted that Turkey has de facto become a country of immigration. This transformation from being an emigration country to an immigration country appears to be acknowledged by the government, as the DGMM 2016 Turkey Migration Report suggests the completion of the transition to

a destination country for migrants, asylum seekers, and refugees.⁷

With a large number of immigrants and refugees in its territory, Turkey is also coming to terms with the challenges of integration. Although most of the Syrians enjoy a temporary protection regime, they are still not considered as 'refugees' due to Turkey's upholding of the geographical limitation clause in the 1951 Geneva Convention on Refugees. Nevertheless, Turkey closely follows the principle of non-refoulement and other duties in accordance with the international protection. There are also thousands of Syrians holding only residence permits but without temporary protection and an unknown number of Syrian irregular migrants.8 Their 'liminal' situation and temporary status not only automatically limits opportunities given to Syrians like permanent settlement in Turkey, but also hinders the political will to put proper integration regimes in place at the national level even after seven years of living together.

Although most of the Syrians enjoy a temporary protection regime, they are still not considered as 'refugees' due to Turkey's upholding of the geographical limitation clause in the 1951 Geneva Convention on Refugees. Yet, there were good lessons for Turkey in this process, especially at the institutional and polity level to address the challenges. In fact, Turkey has started to make a series of changes and reforms in migration policies not only to address pressing issues resulting in large numbers of flows over the course of seven years but also for the sake of the EU Accession Process since the early 2000s. In 2003, Turkey adopted the law on work permits for foreigners (No. 4817), mainly addressing the growing number of irregular and circular economic migrants working in the informal sector, who were lured into the country thanks to Turkey's booming economic stance as the 10th largest economy in the world and a G-20 country. Wage differentials in their countries of origin is another factor attracting labour migrants from diverse locations, including Central Asia, Eastern Europe, Africa, and South Asia. Changes in regulations continued with the International Labour Force (Law No. 6735), which became the primary legislation for foreign labour in 2016. The Law includes both employer-led and points-based approaches with an emphasis on selective labour migration. The introduction of the Turquoise Card is the signifier of this emphasis, which enables permanent work permits for those considered of strategic importance, determined by indicators such as education level, professional

experience, and investments, and provides residence permits for the holder's spouse and children. The Law also assigns the task of determining international labour force policy to the International Labour Force Policy Council.

In 2003, Turkey adopted the law on work permits for foreigners (No. 4817), mainly addressing the growing number of irregular and circular economic migrants working in the informal sector.

In 2005, Turkey adopted the Action Plan on Asylum and Migration, laving out the tasks to be completed in aligning migration law to the EU acquis until 2012. That would include lifting the geographical limitation as well as making asylum and migration procedures in line with that of the EU. However, Turkey's concerns over becoming a buffer zone for irregular migrants and rejected asylum seekers as well as the EU's reluctance to admit Turkey as a full member even after meeting the set criteria were evidenced by its hesitation to eliminate the geographical restriction. Nevertheless, the Action Plan was a strong assurance for reforms on migration-related issues and led to changes to the 1994 Asylum

Regulation. One of these changes was lifting the 10-day time limitation for refugees to apply to the governorates and the UNHCR for asylum. Before the change, this limitation was already targeted in the cases against the deportation of asylum seekers who were recognized as refugees by the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), in both local courts⁹ and the European Court of Human Rights (ECHR).¹⁰

In 2005, Turkey adopted the Action Plan on Asylum and Migration, laying out the tasks to be completed in aligning migration law to the EU acquis until 2012.

In 2006, Turkey made some amendments in the Settlement Law (No. 5543) that had dated back to the 1930s, and in 2009, to the Citizenship Law (No. 5901). As such, the new Settlement Law that replaced the 1934 Resettlement Law (Law No. 2510) maintained the definition of migrants as those of Turkish descent despite the relaxation in other aspects. In 2008, pursuant to the Action Plan, the Bureau for the Development Asylum and Implementation of Migration and Legislation and Administrative Capacity Improvement

was also established to draft the Law on Foreigners and International Protection (LFIP) (No. 6458). It was adopted later in 2013 and the temporary protection regime that came into force in October 2014 literally changed the legal status of Syrians from temporary guests to those under temporary protection.¹¹ The current asylum system established under the LFIP presents four statuses of international protection: refugee; refugee; conditional subsidiary protection; and temporary protection. A person who qualifies neither as refugee nor conditional refugee would be assigned to subsidiary protection. Lastly, those who left their country in exodus would apply for temporary protection. Applications for temporary protection must be made at a Provincial Directorate of Migration Management, local divisions of the DGMM that are established in every province. All issues related with migration and integration will be handed to the DGMM, including the camps for Syrians which, since their inception, have been run by the Disaster and Emergency Presidency (AFAD).

Temporary protection provides access to primary and secondary education, healthcare and other social services. Temporary protection provides access to primary and secondary education, healthcare and other social services. The Ministry of Education and the DGMM report that there are currently more than 976,000 Syrian children of school age in Turkey. Language remains a barrier in public schools, where the language of instruction is Turkish. While the language of instruction is Arabic in temporary education centers, most Syrian children go to Turkish public schools, while the remaining receives education at the temporary education centers. These figures indicate a significant rise in the number of Syrians who have the right to access to education. About 62% of Syrian children in the 2017-2018 school year are in schools compared to 30% in 2016. There are also almost 17,000 Syrian young adults who receive higher education in Turkey. The YTB provides scholarships for more than 4,000 of those students at the university level. 400 Syrian academicians are also employed in Turkish universities in different departments.¹² The Ministry of Education aims to enroll the remaining children and plans to transfer students to public schools from temporary education centers in the coming years. The enrollment of all Syrian children at school age and limiting child labour is important to prevent 'lost generations', delinquency, and high unemployment rates among

young refugee populations in the years to come. Access to healthcare in public hospitals is also provided while medication is quite costly. Although fewer in numbers, Syrian and Arabic speaking medical doctors are also employed at community centres run by some municipalities and at public hospitals.

The YTB provides scholarships for more than 4,000 of those students at the university level.

Currently, due to their large numbers, Syrians constitute the largest number of beneficiaries for temporary protection. Only a fraction (8%) of Syrians under temporary protection reside in shelters. Their protracted situation, mass flows, and limited capacity in camps have forced many Syrians to find housing in mostly poor neigbourhoods in cities, underlying the urban refugee issue. While cities closer to the Syrian border host most of the Syrians, the city with the largest number of Syrians is İstanbul, with 545,753 as of February 2018.13 Under the Law, reception and accommodation centers and removal centers have also been established. Reception and accommodation centers provide services such as accommodation, healthcare and food, whereas removal centers accommodate those under administrative detention. Regarding

border management between Turkey and the EU, the implementation of online processing and biometric data requirements eased visa processes in 2010. The prerequisites of the EU membership process marked some of the developments in this area, such as the modernization of border crossing points necessary for the European Integrated Border Management Strategy (IBM). In 2013, a cooperation agreement was concluded with the European Border and Coast Guard Agency (FRONTEX), which enables cooperation between the parties such as the "exchange of relevant strategic information".¹⁴ However, issues such as the military control of borders rather than a special police force remain as obstacles to the IBM.

The LFIP law is comprehensive in that it regulates the activities of foreigners in the country, such as entrance and residence, and the requests for asylum and protection. With this new law also came the establishment of an important institution: the Directorate General of Migration Management (DGMM), which, for the first time, is monitoring entries, and keeping and disseminating statistical data on migrants and refugees. Moreover, the DGMM, as a department of the Ministry of Interior, operates as a civilian nucleus of migration management, taking over the tasks previously undertaken by the General Directorate of Security

and other different authorities. These tasks include the development, implementation and execution of migration legislation and projects; coordination among related parties; international and temporary protection; prevention of irregular migration and human trafficking and protection of victims; and management of foreigners' entrance to, staying in, and exit from the country. Assembling these tasks under one roof, the DGMM became the sole authority in migration management in Turkey. To address one of the urgent matters in migration, the DGMM devised the Strategy Document and National Action Plan on Irregular Migration in 2015. The Plan aims to achieve progress in reducing the scale of irregular migration until 2018 through the development of extensive legislation, articulation of strategic and statistical knowledge, utilization of precautions against organized crime such as trafficking in persons and human smuggling, improvement of voluntary and involuntary return programmes, and promotion of local and global cooperation. As part of the institutional changes, the Presidency for Turks Abroad and Related Communities (YTB) was established in 2010 to address the needs of the Turkish diaspora and ethnic kin living in different countries.

As for labour market integration, a series of improvements also took place.

The Presidency for Turks Abroad and Related Communities (YTB) was established in 2010 to address the needs of the Turkish diaspora and ethnic kin living in different countries.

Up until January 2016, work permit regulations prevented Syrians from acquiring formal employment, since a residence permit was a requirement obtain work permits. Most to Syrians who did not hold residence permits had to work in the informal economy at much cheaper rates than Turkish nationals. However, with the change in the legislation, Syrians under temporary protection for six months are eligible to apply for work permits through an employer that offers minimum wages at least. More incentives were also introduced to hire highly-skilled Syrians, like medical doctors, nurses, teachers, and engineers. To protect the national workforce and prevent resentment, the employment of Syrians is restricted at 10% of all employees in any given workplace, yet this cap was not even close to being exceeded, as the number of work permits granted in 2016 reached 9,989 and 17,062 in 2017.15 Turkey still needs to adopt policies and a clear roadmap to facilitate labour market integration of Syrian refugees.¹⁶ Furthermore, in order to support the livelihood of Syrians, the Emergency Social Safety Net (ESSN) programme was launched by the Ministry of Family and Social Policies. The programme is funded by the EU and coordinated by Turkey, the World Food Programme, and the Turkish Red Crescent. The programme provides cash (TL 120) toppedup debit cards for up to 1.3 million Syrians. Self-sustaining programmes were also introduced by civil society to Syrian men and women to equip them in the labour markets and increase their capacity to find better employments. As of late 2017, there were 8,000 registered Syrian-owned small and medium-scale enterprises in Turkey and the number is expected to rise with the support of international donors.¹⁷

With the change in the legislation, Syrians under temporary protection for six months are eligible to apply for work permits through an employer that offers minimum wages at least.

Another important turning point regarding the legal status of Syrian refugees is about the recent amendment in the Turkish citizenship law in Turkey, opening up the possibility of

foreign investors and contributors to the economy of becoming Turkish citizens regardless of their descent. Then comes the option of extending Turkish citizenship to some of the chosen Syrians who are under the temporary protection regime. As mentioned earlier, Turkey has already provided temporary protection to Syrian refugees, which somewhat eased their access to certain rights, including access to public healthcare, education of children in public schools and participation in labour markets via the new law introduced on work permits. The idea of granting Turkish citizenship to Syrian refugees who found refuge in Turkey was first voiced in 2016 by President Erdoğan in Kilis, a neighbouring city with Syria, with already existing close kin ties between Syrians and Turkish nationals. Stressing the overlapping borders of motherland and adopted homeland, he also heralded a change in naturalization policy by announcing that "the path to Turkish citizenship will be opened for our Syrian brothers and sisters".18 Kilis is an interesting case study to consider as the Syrian refugees there have gradually exceeded the number of local inhabitants in the city and the city has de facto become a buffer zone between Syria and Turkey. Such public announcements triggered a heated debate partly due to the lack of legal status of Syrians as 'refugees' or as 'permanent residents/denizens' in the first place, and partly because they fueled nationalist fears that the temporariness of Syrians would be replaced with permanence.¹⁹ In order to thwart the political backlash and public outrage, government officials clarified that conditions of granting citizenship under exceptional criteria to Syrians would be based on high skills and higher education levels of applicants.²⁰ Almost 40,000 Syrians under temporary protection were given Turkish citizenship by the end of 2017.²¹

Kilis is an interesting case study to consider as the Syrian refugees there have gradually exceeded the number of local inhabitants in the city and the city has *de facto* become a buffer zone between Syria and Turkey.

In line with the developments in the migration system in Turkey, the official and academic discourses surrounding Syrians have also changed dramatically over the last seven years. Initially, they were considered as 'guests' underlying temporariness and hospitality. Then it took the form of religious duty of Muslims that referred to early Muslims and hijra (emigration of early Muslims from Mecca to Medina) with the terms of ensar (host) and muhajir (forced religious migrant). Regardless of a shared religion, a recent study gauging public reactions against Syrians in Turkey, 80% of Turkish people cannot find any affinity between themselves and the Syrian population. In fact, the vast majority of Turkish citizens believe that the Syrians will never go back to their country of origin.²² Social exclusion and other-ization is also evident in the recent attacks in different urban centres in Turkey targeting Syrians²³ and some racist hashtags on Twitter.²⁴

In line with the developments in the migration system in Turkey, the official and academic discourses surrounding Syrians have also changed dramatically over the last seven years.

Nowadays, reflecting public perceptions before the 2018 presidential elections in Turkey, the official discourse has taken on the form of eventual safe return of Syrian refugees and providing a safe zone for returnees, as Turkey cannot keep Syrians within its territory forever.²⁵ It seems that many Turkish people (86.2%), regardless of their political affiliations and voting behaviour, are united in their wish of repatriation of Syrians once the war is over.²⁶ The ongoing military operation run with the Syrian Free Army across Turkey's borders called the 'Olive Branch' and the earlier 'Euphrates Shield' were launched to secure the Syrian territories across the Turkish border from terrorists but also to provide a safe zone for many Syrians who want to go back to their homeland. After the Euphrates Shield Operation, more than 100,000 Syrians repatriated voluntarily while Turkey still provides safety in the area and meets basic humanitarian needs of many living there.

Nowadays, reflecting public perceptions the official discourse has taken on the form of eventual safe return of Syrian refugees and providing a safe zone for returnees, as Turkey cannot keep Syrians within its territory forever.

Prospects of resolving migration issues based on shared interests by diplomatic measures are evident in a most recent experience. Beginning with the 1990s, the management of borders and the mobility of persons have entered the agenda for both Turkish and European actors, finally reaching a peak point in 2015, as a result of the abrupt rise in border passages. Whereas Turkey holds the highest number of refugees of Syrian and other nationalities on its territory, the fact that many refugees succeeded in reaching the EU through land and sea borders via irregular means made this a pressing item in bilateral official visits and multilateral talks. Albeit with smaller numbers, such irregular migration had always included the movement of asylum seekers and refugees, partly due to Turkey's maintenance of the geographical clause limiting the granting of refugee status to only the citizens of Europe,²⁷ and partly because of Turkey's crucial position in between many developing and politically unstable countries of the global South and the developed member states of the European Union. Turkey's hand appears to have been both strengthened and weakened during the negotiations, especially in relation to its candidacy prospect.

During the summer of 2015, with the sudden increase in the irregular migration flows from Turkey to the EU, the Joint Action Plan on Migration became operational in November 2015, with the aim of curbing irregular flows. According to Frontex, some 885,000 migrants arrived in the EU in 2015 via the Eastern Mediterranean route, the vast majority comprised of Syrians, Afghans, and Somalis, arriving from Turkey on the shores of several Greek islands in the Aegean Sea.²⁸ On 18 March 2016, a readmission agreement

was concluded with the EU despite certain EU member states' concerns over Turkey's potential membership to the union. The decrease in the number of sea arrivals in Greece suggests that the EU-Turkey agreement has made an actual impact on stopping irregular migration, human smuggling networks and the heavy death toll from sea crossings. UNHCR data demonstrate that there were 24,739 sea arrivals in Greece in 2017 compared to 173,450 for 2016.29 Moreover, the number of people who drowned while attempting to reach Greece through the Aegean has decreased by almost 95 % in 2017.³⁰ However, other routes on the Black Sea and the Mediterranean were established almost simultaneously with the EU-Turkey deal. Many humanrights organizations also criticized the EU, saying that signing an agreement would jeopardize lives and limit the opportunities of genuine asylum seekers to reach safety by suggesting that the EU is simply shifting its responsibility towards refugees onto Turkey. The living conditions of many asylum seekers stranded in Greece as the first country of asylum were reportedly inhumane.31

According to the EU-Turkey deal, Turkey readmits Syrian migrants who arrived in Greece from Turkey but were denied from international protection, in return for the EU's admission of another Syrian migrant in Turkey. Under the 1:1 agreement, the number of Syrians resettled in the EU countries reached more than 12,000 by early February 2018.32 Another component of the agreement was international burden-sharing and financial help. Turkey would be compensated with EUR 3 billion initially, and with another EUR 3 billion promised by the end of 2018. To date, Turkey has spent US\$ 30 billion on Syrian refugees and has only received a small part of the financial support (1.85 billion Euros) from the EU while the rest of the sum is slated to be given under humanitarian aid and only in installments.³³

During the summer of 2015, with the sudden increase in the irregular migration flows from Turkey to the EU, the Joint Action Plan on Migration became operational in November 2015.

In addition to burden-sharing, another expectation from the deal was that the Schengen visa requirements would be lifted for Turkish citizens by the end of June 2016. While the readmission agreement reduced the number of refugees taking the Balkan Route, the EU did not lift the visa requirements for Turkish citizens on the pretext that Turkey's reluctance to reform its antiterror laws would be a violation of human rights. However, the Turkish government considered these reforms as impossible by referring to security reasons³⁴ and cautioned several times that in the case that visa-free travel was not granted, Turkey might withdraw from the agreement.³⁵ As expressed by Stringer, although visa diplomacy is usually seen as part of consular affairs and "low politics", issuing or denying visas - as part of carrot and stick policy - "often allow regimes to make policy statements that cannot be expressed by other diplomatic means."36 Although Turkey still meets the requirements borne from the agreement, the possibility that it could withdraw unilaterally alarmed the European countries, especially the ones on the Balkan Route such as Greece and Austria. There are also public concerns and anecdotal evidence that the EU countries are handpicking the skilled Syrians under the scheme, while the unskilled are dumped into Turkey.

According to the EU-Turkey deal, Turkey readmits Syrian migrants who arrived in Greece from Turkey but were denied from international protection, in return for the EU's admission of another Syrian migrant in Turkey.

For some time now, the two migration processes, the emigration of Turkish nationals and the mobility of third country nationals have been attached to one another- frequently utilized as a quid pro quo by political leaders. In terms of the readmission agreement negotiations, from the perspective of Turkey, since the beginning of negotiations in 2002, the agreement was understood as a very risky instrument, which would eventually turn the country into a buffer zone between the EU borders and the borders of the source countries of irregular migrants. It was within this context that a visa facilitation agreement, which would lead to a visa-free regime between Turkey and the EU, was seen as the only positive outcome that Turkey could gain from this process.³⁷ Paradoxically, the free movement of workers across Turkish-EEC borders has been envisaged and deemed extremely positive in Article 12 of the Ankara Agreement in 1963,38 nevertheless it has not been put into practice up to date. Still, the prospects for free circulation have continued to be addressed by certain political leaders and state officials in Turkey, to boost electoral wins in domestic politics, or to strengthen the bargaining capacity of the country in the negotiation processes. Moreover, in the course of the Turkey-EU readmission agreement, there have always been concerns over

domestic security.³⁹ Opening up the black box of statecraft, this illustrated that migration diplomacy almost always involves more than two actors.

Another area of contention between the EU and Turkey is related with the large Turkish diaspora- the majority of which live in Germany, with three million. Many examples around the world indicate that diasporas are active participants in homeland politics, that they influence and even policy-making challenge foreign of the host and home states, and develop alternative political identities transcending borders.40 Since the 1990s, international migration has become a major component in the diplomatic relations between Turkey and the EU, shaping particularly policies on irregular migration and the five million Turkish emigrants living in Europe. Over the last couple of years, diaspora engagement and stateled transnationalism have also entered high on the agenda for policy makers as well as public opinion in Turkey.⁴¹

Diasporas are active participants in homeland politics, they influence and even challenge foreign policymaking of the host and home states, and develop alternative political identities transcending borders. As a traditional country of emigration, international migration has clearly influenced Turkey's diplomatic relations with other countries, particularly with those on the European continent. The history of migration from Turkey to Europe has been shaped by the search for work in the expanding European economies of the 1960s in the context of Fordist guestworker programmes, and later continued by family reunification and formation as well as asylum flows throughout the 1980s and 1990s.42 Beginning with the 1961 bilateral labour recruitment agreement signed with the Federal Republic of Germany and followed by the agreements with other countries in Western Europe and elsewhere, the planning and management of the mobility of persons across the borders as well as the managing of postmigratory conditions entered in the agenda of the state actors. Over the last two decades, the acknowledged permanence of Turkish citizens in the EU and Turkish state's policies around reinforcement and institutionalization of diaspora governance have posed some challenges in bilateral relations. These include questions about how to deal with the spill-over effect of domestic politics beyond the physical borders and how to approach dual citizens' loyalties towards their home and host countries. A significant development for the Turkish diaspora

was the introduction of external voting for Turkish citizens. After the implementation, the participation rates of the Turkish diaspora in domestic politics increased significantly, from about 5% in 2014 to 48% in 2017,43 which reinstated its position as a political actor in Turkey. Moreover, an initiative referred to as the Blue Card was established for foreigners who had previously renounced their Turkish citizenship to benefit from rights defined for citizens. The politicization over Turkey's diaspora engagement policies coupled with populism fed by xenophobia and Islamophobia and electoral concerns in the EU have contributed to the already worsening relations between the EU and Turkey.

As a traditional country of emigration, international migration has clearly influenced Turkey's diplomatic relations.

Recently, migration diplomacy was tested with the deterrence of Turkish ministers from campaigning on the April 2017 referendum in the EU. One of these instances coincided with the Dutch general election. The attempts of Turkish officials to organize a political rally in the Netherlands resulted with the Dutch government's withdrawal of the landing permission of the flight of the Turkish Minister of Foreign Affairs, Mevlüt Çavuşoğlu and the forced expulsion of Fatma Betül Sayan Kaya, Turkish Minister of Family and Social Policies, from the country, causing a political and diplomatic incident between the two governments in violation of the Vienna Agreement. Consequently, the Turkish government terminated diplomatic relations at a high level and prohibited the return of the Dutch Ambassador to Turkey. As a response, the Dutch government announced that the Ambassador was being withdrawn from Turkey and diplomatic representation was lowered. In Austria and Germany, there were similar problems44 and the Turkish government's response was severe. The Turkish President Erdoğan severely condemned the Dutch government and accused the Netherlands of being responsible for the Srebrenica massacre, while the President of the European Council, Donald Tusk, considered the reaction as "detached from reality."45

The free movement of workers across Turkish-EEC borders has been envisaged and deemed extremely positive in Article 12 of the Ankara Agreement in 1963, nevertheless it has not been put into practice up to date.

However, the larger locus of tension was in Germany. Similar to the Netherlands, political rallies for the Turkish referendum were not allowed either.46 in Germany President Erdoğan labeled these last minute cancellations as "Nazi practices."47 Additionally, a Kurdish opposition rally in Frankfurt attracted the attention of the Turkish government because of the use of the Kurdistan Workers' Party's (PKK) forbidden symbols. Germany's permission for this rally but not for the others was considered as a "double standard" by the Turkish Foreign Ministry. Other officials further accused Germany of supporting and giving refuge to terrorists- both PKK and Gülen supporters (FETÖ).48 Lastly, it has been claimed that some Turkish imams affiliated with the Turkish-Islamic Union for Religious Affairs (DITIB), funded by the Turkish Directorate of Religious Affairs, were collecting intelligence on Turkish Gülen supporters living in Europe.⁴⁹ The developments in the relations between Germany and Turkey resulted in Germany's more critically determined stance on Turkey, which was publicly announced by the former German Foreign Minister Gabriel along with a caution to travel to Turkey.⁵⁰ Germany's Chancellor, Angela Merkel, visited Turkey couple of times before concluding the EU-Turkey deal. Yet, over the course of the 2017 German

federal elections, this quite harsh stance was retained and even extended to the EU-level. Merkel openly expressed her opposition to Turkey's EU membership and expansion of customs union while supporting economic sanctions through the restriction or suspension of EU funds. In retaliation, Erdoğan urged Turkish-Germans not to vote for Turkey's adversaries, and other officials made comparisons of racism and the far-right to the German stance, which were also complemented with a travel advisory on Germany.⁵¹

Germany's Chancellor, Angela Merkel, visited Turkey couple of times before concluding the EU-Turkey deal.

To sum up, in the current state of affairs. the diplomatic relations between Turkey and the EU and some of its member states are strongly linked with three issues of concern related migration and post-migratory to conditions: The first point is whether the intense migratory flows due to the free circulation of Turkish nationals could create significant adjustment problems for the labour market and migrants. The second point is whether Turkey will continue to fulfil the requirements of the readmission agreement signed between the EU and Turkey and to

meet the EU's objectives on border control and management in order to keep irregular migration heading to Europe at a minimum pace.⁵² The third concern is over dual citizenship and allegiance. Turkey's continuous ties with and influence over its emigrants in Europe on domestic politics have created problems in the recent past. In fact, the bilateral relations, especially with some of the EU member states, have reached their "lowest point" in history.⁵³ The deterioration of relations between Turkey and European countries also corresponded to the periods of referendums and national elections. All these examples related to cross-border practices may carry the potential for tension or cooperation in diplomatic relations between states, which are already entangled with concerns over domestic politics.54

In the current state of affairs, the diplomatic relations between Turkey and the EU and some of its member states are strongly linked with three issues of concern related to migration and post-migratory conditions.

The picture, however, is not void of signs that can bring optimism. While

the ties between Europe and Turkey displayed a negative slope recently, there were also instances of positive initiatives at the diplomatic level. These were also coupled with the remarks of officials affirming the continuation of relations and the strategic importance of the relations for both sides.55 One of these remarks belongs to Commissioner Avramopoulos, which portrayed the current progress on visa liberalization as the "last mile to run."56 An EU-level prohibition of PKK assemblies and symbols would also be considered as a materialization of these initiatives and remarks.⁵⁷ Although some Turkish political leaders speak of the possibility of choices other than the EU and sometimes express that the EU memberships is not a necessity any longer, negotiations on membership continue.58 visa-free travel and However, there are indications that relations between the EU and Turkey may evolve to a different form in the future, one with a higher emphasis on strategic partnership and a lower stress on membership.59 For so long, the relationship between the EU and Turkey has been an unbalanced one. The EU was the active agent demanding changes, which Turkey had to accept unconditionally in anticipation of full membership. Yet, the new driving force in Turkish foreign policy with the motto of an "enterprising and

humanitarian outlook" and Turkey's

eventual move from being a country in the periphery to a core country, has altered the dynamics of uneven power relations.

While the ties between Europe and Turkey displayed a negative slope recently, there were also instances of positive initiatives at the diplomatic level.

Other positive important institutional developments related to migration have been as follows:

- i) The establishment of the Migration Policies Board under the Chairmanship of the Interior Minister, with the participation of of undersecretaries from different ministeries, the president of the Presidency for Turks Abroad and Related Communities (YTB), and the director general of the DGMM. The Board was given the task of Turkey's determining migration policies, coordinating migrationrelated activities, and devising strategies on the management of migration and integration.
- ii) The other was the report prepared by the Refugee Rights Sub-committee of the Human Rights Commission at the Turkish Grand National Assembly, which was released in

January 2018. The report calls for a comprehensive integration policy for the first time in order to thwart social distance in society between Syrians and Turkish citizens and social to increase acceptance and inclusion. Underlining the emergency of integrating Syrian refugees into Turkish society, the report suggests the creation of an institutional framework either by the division of the Ministry of Family and Social Policies into two, thereby allowing another Ministry of Social Policies and Integration; or establishing a Presidency of Integration. Recognizing the urgent need to support municipalities for the integration of Syrian asylum seekers especially, the report also mentions the utmost important role of local administrations in integration processes due to differing local conditions in each city. Furthermore, the report takes into consideration those who would stay in Turkey regardless of the political situation in Syria and suggests that a new strategy should be developed to envision integration policies in coordination with the EU and the Syrians themselves.⁶⁰ As it is anticipated that the Integration Strategy Document and National Action Plan for the coming five years will be announced anytime soon, there are expectations

that they would address integration issues in detail.

In fact, migration issues have always been high on the agenda of the EU and Turkey.

comprehensive Against this of putting background, the idea together a special issue on international migration and diplomacy came about after organizing an international conference in İstanbul on 18 May 2016 with the coordination of the Migration Research Center at Koç University (MiReKoc) and the Center for Strategic Research (SAM) of the Turkish Foreign Ministry. A lot has happened since then as a clear indication that the topic of international migration and diplomacy will not disappear from headlines anytime soon. Based on the past and ongoing events taken place, the question of international migration has already been positioned at the center of politics and policies within Turkey shaping Turkish-EU relations. In fact, migration issues have always been high on the agenda of the EU and Turkey. It will, most likely, continue to be one of the most important agenda items in foreign policy in the years to come, as predicted by the Global Trends 2030 Report: "International migration is set to grow even faster than it did in the

past quarter-century."61 Therefore, it has increasingly become important for diplomats to address the political and humanitarian crisis that accompany large-scale population movements together with the international community.62 Shared interests could indeed lead to new partnerships on international migration. If policy makers and diplomats could use it well, this might pave the way for closer cooperation not only in migration and asylum issues, but also in trade and fight against global terrorism.

It has increasingly become important for diplomats to address the political and humanitarian crisis that accompany large-scale population movements together with the international community.

Common themes that came up during the conference were solidarity; the need for burden-sharing; addressing humanitarian issues and global inequalities as root causes of outmigration; and multilateralism and migration diplomacy as important tools to solve the problems. Some of the speakers underlined the urgent need to develop a holistic multilateral,

multifaceted approach, arguing that it may be more useful than traditional bilateral diplomacy as it might open up channels for human development, cooperation and stability.63 Other speakers mentioned good practices of global governance from bottom up, in which cities and municipalities were taking more initiatives and setting examples for national governments and even supranational organizations. In many migrant-receiving countries, from Turkey, Greece, Germany, to the UK, there are both political and civil societal approaches welcoming migrants. In these countries and beyond, there has been an army of volunteers and civil society actors in recent years working to help the migrants, offering them food and shelter. These grassroot organizations have also been pressuring the governments to provide more support for migrants by helping them help themselves.

As reminded we were in his keynote speech at the Conference International on Migration and Diplomacy back in 2016, Philip Fargues stated that the world was not facing an unprecedented international migration crisis- definitely not Europe and at least not in terms of numbers. He further added that the current system was not capable of dealing with migration. What we are facing then is not a migration crisis, but a crisis due to inadequate refugee policies

and migration management or lack thereof. Most of the forced migrants today are not even able to cross borders and remain stuck in their countries of residence as Internally Displaced People (IDP). Their numbers stand at more than 40 million by the end of 2016 compared to 25 million refugees and asylum seekers.⁶⁴ The UNHCR's Global Trends report also highlights that those people who are lucky enough to cross international borders usually move to neighbouring countries.⁶⁵ We also see more and more unaccompanied minors and single women on the move. What we focus on, though, is the security of nation-states and unfortunately not the "human security" of forced migrants.66 Throughout the world, people are fleeing for a safe haven, but are confronted with closed borders. Syrians constitute the highest number of displaced people at the moment, but it might be some other country's nationals in the near future.

The existing sharp dichotomy between refugees and economic migrants seems to be no longer valid, as there is an overlapping of these categories.

During the conference, we also addressed the need to reconsider migrant categories. The existing sharp dichotomy between refugees and economic migrants seems to be no longer valid, as there is an overlapping of these categories. This "categorical fetishism" simply fails to explain the complexity phenomenon the migration of while reinforcing dominant political thinking.67 Obviously, this migration crisis is not only about numbers but about human stories demonstrating resilience. First and foremost, people on the move are using their human agency to come up with their own solutions in defiance of rules and regulations (sometimes with the help of human smugglers). They choose their own destinations and are very creative with their survival strategies. Most of the time, we hear from testimonies of saved 'boat people' that risking their lives is deemed worthwhile when crossing the borders, considering what they have been going through in their countries of origin. It has become evident that the securitization and externalization of border controls will not deter people from moving.

It seems more migration will continue to be the trend in the years to come. Forced migration due to civil wars, conflicts, or climate change will continue in the future in the Mediterranean and in West Asia and in other parts of the world, like South America, South Asia, and Africa. At the same time, we are experiencing the resurgence of nationalism and right-wing extremism in Europe as an outcome of popular demands and as a reaction to threats to security and sovereignty. As Franck Düvell mentioned during his speech: "Key values of the EU came under pressure, such as liberalism, human rights, solidarity and joint policies, and with these the historical heritage, moral grounding, and finally even the political foundations of the EU. The EU lost its credibility in the international arena when dealing with the migration management crisis and realizes that in order to manage migration, they need Turkey and other partners."⁶⁸

It seems more migration will continue to be the trend in the years to come.

International migration is only one of the many complex emergencies in our current political environment. It is, however, one that needs to be carefully and comprehensively addressed as its implications affect many areas of people's daily lives. Qualifying the current situation with the word 'international' implies that no single nation or country alone can resolve it. However, it is equally important to note that the concept of international community should not be restricted a certain pattern of affairs into where only state leaders, politicians

and high-level government officials take part. The scope of stakeholders the international in community, especially in the case of international migration, also encompasses citizens and bureaucracy, as well as the private sector. A dedicated cooperation is required to address the issues related with international migration. In the current context, diplomacy proves to be a promising essential tool in achieving such a cooperation, since it facilitates interstate dialogue. Such a dialogue at this level can help the international community to move beyond the logic of externalising the burdens to other parties. Indeed, not shifting but sharing the burden will not only alleviate the pressures on each state, but also provide a platform to come up with more effective actions to help the community of international migrants in need of protection.

International migration is only one of the many complex emergencies in our current political environment.

As the current refugee system does not address many of the issues mentioned above, the UNHCR has released a 'zero draft' of the Global Compact on Refugees, outlining new perspectives towards the global refugee crisis by the end of January 2018. The idea of putting

together a draft on the management of migration and refugee flows goes back to September 2016, when the UN General Assembly adopted the New York Declaration for Refugees and Migrants, establishing the baseline of the Comprehensive Refugee Response Framework. Two processes emerged from the Declaration: one is the Global Compact for Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration (GCM)69 and the other is the Global Compact on Refugees (GCR). As I write the introduction, the GCM meeting is underway at the UN Headquarters whereas the GCR process will take place in Geneva with the participation of the International Organization for Migration (IOM). The GCR aims to transform the way the international community responds to refugee crisis in providing more protection for refugees and more sustained support for the host countries as well as building the selfreliance of refugees and expanding opportunities for resettlement in

Not shifting but sharing the burden will not only alleviate the pressures on each state, but also provide a platform to come up with more effective actions to help the community of international migrants in need of protection. third countries. It further aims to convene a "global platform" to migration respond to challenges diplomacy through by engaging state actors, regional organizations, and other stakeholders, such as networks of cities and municipalities, civil society organizations, faithbased organizations, public-private partnerships, and academia.⁷⁰ Turkey has the potential to play a key role during this transformative process. Both processes are promising to pave the way for a rights-based approach in human flows.⁷¹

The Secretary General of the United Nations and former UN High Commissioner for Refugees, Mr. Antonio Guterres, praised Turkey on many occasions and its effective humanitarian response towards Syrian refugees.

At his speech, the Deputy Foreign Minister at the time, H.E. Mr. Naci Koru, underlined the growing importance of migration issues in Turkey and the need for concerted action to address the well-being of all people crossing borders. He also stated: "Migrants, refugees or asylumseekers are, first of all, human beings. And everyone deserves to be treated as such. By improving conditions for a life in dignity, by reducing inequalities, and by promoting peaceful societies, we can make crossing international borders a matter of informed choice, not desperate necessity."72 Following humanitarian diplomacy as a major pillar of Turkish foreign policy, this new outlook in Turkish foreign policy also helps us understand Turkey's new interest in playing a role in extending humanitarian assistance across a vast geography, extending from Africa to Asia, as one of the most important global players in the international arena, and in becoming a champion for the rights of oppressed Muslims around the world, as in the case of the Rohingyas and Palestinians.73 The Secretary General of the United Nations and former UN High Commissioner for Refugees, Mr. Antonio Guterres, praised Turkey on many occasions and its effective humanitarian response towards Syrian refugees as well as those living in other geographies.74

This special issue addresses the gaps in the migration literature and provides an account of how the incorporation of international migration in diplomacy can take place in practice. It is evident that recent developments in migration, the Syrian refugee issue, and Turkey's EU membership process, will keep international migration at the heart of foreign policy. Focusing mostly on the cases of Turkey and the EU from macro, meso and micro perspectives, the articles in this special issue analyze different instances in which diplomacy is interlinked with migration. Surely, the promise of 'Migration Diplomacy' or 'Diplomacy in Migration' necessitates holistic engagement not with the state institutions and bureaucrats only, but with the people as well, whilst moving beyond the populist political discourse and separating the issue of international migration from short-term electoral concerns and immediate gains.

Frank Düvell's article focuses on key challenges of the EU policies that shape foreign policy and diplomacy in the field of international migration. More specifically, he looks at the responses to the 2015/2016 migration and refugee crisis. In order to conceptualize the reasons for forced migration, he suggests that a critical analysis is needed. Giving examples from case studies of his field research during the same time period, he explores secondary and tertiary displacement of refugees before moving to the EU. Indicating the misconceptions in the media and in the general public, he underlines how these recent flows were regarded as a security threat while many of his interlocutors crossing the Aegean belonged to educated and urban middle classes. This was partly attributed to the emergence of Da'esh and a series of attacks in major cities, including

İstanbul, Ankara, Paris, Nice, Brussels and London. Although EU-Turkey relations were largely based on Turkey's accession process during which Turkey had to comply with the EU standards, migration crisis altered the the power relations between the two. He concludes that the biggest challenge for the EU in managing migration and sharing responsibility is sharp political divisions within the member states. which threaten the unity and even undermine the legimitacy of the EU.

Since the neigbouring countries of Syria are hosting the highest number of refugeees despite limited resources, and doing a "public good" for the overall international community, the EU could have used ethical and altruistic values based on human rights instead of solely security-oriented policies.

Başak Kale takes up the concept of burden-sharing and refugee protection as an international "public good". Drawing examples from institutional and legal developments targeting Syrian refugees living in Turkey and the lack of significant international support towards Turkey, she points out the limitations of burden-sharing and suggests the need to create a better mechanism within the EU. She describes the current situation not as a refugee crisis but the crisis of refugee protection, as the legal framework provided bv the 1951 Geneva Convention on Refugees is ambigous in ensuring cooperation for burdensharing among nation-states and is inefficient for dealing with large flows of people. This is usually coupled with the lack of interest by the international community to work on clear-cut universal principles on burden-sharing for refugees. She further suggests that this 'crisis' can only be eliminated with putting in place a functioning and systematic approach to burdensharing under global leadership and supranational framework. Since а the neighouring countries of Syria are hosting the highest number of refugeees despite limited resources, and doing a "public good" for the overall international community, the EU could have used ethical and altruistic values based on human rights instead of solely security-oriented policies.

Underlying the importance of good governance in international migration with the incorporation of international organizations, the international community and all stakeholders for a concerted action, Can Ünver's article elaborates two main international frameworks: the International Convention for the Protection of the

Rights of All Migrant Workers and the Members of their Families from 1990 (IRCMW) and the recently launched process of the Global Compact for Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration (GCM). He argues that in order to address new migration and refugee patterns effectively, there is a growing need for all nation-states- sending, transit and receiving countries- to get more involved in global migration management processes. As the primary concern of nation-states have been preserving national sovereignty in controlling migration movements into their territories, he proposes these two rights-based legal instruments for safeguarding the human rights of all migrants and refugees regardless of their legal status.

Yelda Devlet Karapınar's article immigration showcases how has become "high politics" between the EU and Turkey, first with the EU accession process and then with the Syrian refugee issue. Yet, she argues that these developments fall short of explaining Turkey's restructuring of current immigration policies. Turkey's engagement with regional consultative processes, international platforms, and international organizations working on diverse dimensions of migration have also contributed to its involvement in global discussions related to migration, and encouraged the country to become a significant actor in the international migration governance. Building on Giddens' concept of structuration, she adopts mainly a constructivist approach by saying that implementation of policies after the 2000s in external development, affairs. economy, security, international cooperation, and humanitarian aid have all had an impact on current migration policy making in Turkey. She ultimately comes up with nine trends which directly and indirectly affect Turkish migration policies: humanitarianization, developmentalization, politicization, diplomatization, regionalization, economization, securitization. externalization, and projectization.

Turkey's engagement with regional consultative processes, international platforms, and international organizations working on diverse dimensions of migration have also contributed to its involvement in global discussions related to migration.

After giving a brief account of changing conceptualizations of the term "diaspora", Şebnem Köşer Akçapar and Damla Bayraktar Aksel argue that the new Turkish diaspora policy was shaped by the acknowledgment of transnational and permanent Turkish migrant populations in Western Europe and the United States and the re-orientation of Turkish foreign policy after the 2000s. This era, ushering in more diaspora engagement by the state and the recognition of public diplomacy as an important tool in bilateral relations, also led to major transformations policy targeting Turkish immigrants living in different transformations countries. These under analysed four major are headings: ii) institutionalization processes; ii) ideological changes; iii) political (electoral) regulations; iv) other relational factors. Finally, as the Turkish state's institutional and administrative presence abroad become consolidated, it is expected that diaspora members assume a bridging role as they are considered permanent communities as with transnational linkages to the homeland. However, the authors underline that the diversity and fragmentation within the Turkish diaspora indicate that it is not a monolithic and unified entity, and policies targeting the emigrant populations should reflect and respect this diversity.

Based on her fieldwork in three different cities in Turkey and face-toface interviews with Syrian refugees, Doğuş Şimşek's article scrutinizes the EU-Turkey deal closely in an effort to explore the impact of the Agreement and whether Turkey can be recognised as a "safe third country" for refugees. Following a brief historical overview of the Syrian mass migration into Turkey, she provides personal accounts of refugees themselves as regards their access to rights, settlement choices, and the different levels of discrimination they feel in society. She concludes that living in limbo and not feeling of temporariness secure because implied in status, many respondents preferred taking costly and perilous journeys to Europe. She concludes with some recommendations for the EU and Turkey to provide an effective protection and integration environment for Syrian refugees.

In her article, Meltem Ince Yenilmez examines the impact of forced migration in the Middle East- mainly Turkey, Lebanon and Jordan- and takes up two protracted cases: Palestinian and Syrian refugees. She looks at the economic, cultural and political dynamics of forced migration in the region and argues that

despite the immediate negative effects on labour markets, politics, culture, and security, forced migration has a net benefit on the host countries in the long-term. She further explores the reasons for the lack of regional coping mechanisms with mass refugee flows, including the absence of regional migration management, and proposes that terms such as "crisis" and "guests" could be replaced with more adequate terminology by giving refugees more opportunities and incentives to integrate faster into the host societies.

This era, ushering in more diaspora engagement by the state and the recognition of public diplomacy as an important tool in bilateral relations, also led to major policy transformations targeting Turkish immigrants living in different countries.

Endnotes

- * I would like to thank Dr. Damla Bayraktar Aksel (Post-doctoral fellow at MiReKoc), Feyyaz Barış Çelik (PhD Candidate, International Relations Department at Koç University), and Emrah Çelik (MiReKoc fellow) for their invaluable help in drafting the introduction.
- 1 Roger Waldinger and David Fitzgerald, "Transnationalism in Question", *American Journal of Sociology*, Vol. 109, No. 5 (2004), p. 1183.
- 2 Helene Thiollet, "Migration as Diplomacy: Labour Migrants, Refugees and Arab Regional Politics in the Oil-Rich Countries", *International Labour and Working Class History*, Vol. 79, No. 1 (2011), pp. 103-121.
- 3 Meredith Oyen, *The Diplomacy of Migration: Transnational lives and the making of U.S-China Relations in the Cold War*, Ithaca, NY, Cornell University Press, 2015.
- 4 UNHCR Global Trends, Forced Displacement in 2016, at http://www.unhcr. org/5943e8a34.pdf (last visited 20 March 2018).
- 5 Ahmet İçduygu and Şebnem Köşer Akçapar, "Migrant Smuggling in Turkey", in M. McAuliffe and F. Laczko (eds.), *Migrant Smuggling Data and Research: A Global Review* of the Emerging Evidence Base, Geneva, International Organization for Migration, 2016, pp. 137-160.
- 6 DGMM statistics on temporary protection, at http://www.goc.gov.tr/icerik6/gecici-koruma_363_378_4713_icerik (last visited 15 February 2018).
- 7 http://www.goc.gov.tr/files/files/2016_goc_raporu_.pdf (last visited 11 November 2017).
- 8 DGMM reports the number of Syrians staying in Turkey with residence permits is 65.000. Although the number of unregistered Syrians in Turkey is not known, those exiting the country for Syria from the bordergates voluntarily suggests high numbers (interview with UNHCR official at Gaziantep, Karkamış).
- 9 Ankara 9. İdare Mahkemesi, 2004/2860 E.; Ankara 9. İdare Mahkemesi, 03 November 1997 (E. 1996/1356, K. 1997/1321); Danıştay 10. Dairesi, dated 20 January 2000 (Decision No: 1998/1481 E. 2000/131 k.); Danıştay, 25 May 2000 (1999/154 e. 2000/2756 k.).
- 10 Asylum Law Database, at http://www.asylumlawdatabase.eu/en/content/ecthr-jabariv-turkey-application-no-4003598-11-july-2000 (last visited 12 November 2017).

- 11 On 22 October 2014, the Council of Ministers of the Republic of Turkey issued a regulation on temporary protection. The law lists 6 types of residence permits: short-term, long-term, family, student, humanitarian, and for victims of trafficking. LFIP also regulates their access to health, education, social assistance and labour markets.
- 12 *Migration and Integration Report*, Turkish Grand National Assembly, Human Rights Commission, Refugee Rights Sub-committee, 18 January 2018, p. 130.
- 13 Recently, more restrictions were imposed on free circulation of Syrians and especially entry to Istanbul. For updates on the official numbers, see: http://www.goc.gov.tr/ icerik6/gecici-koruma_363_378_4713_icerik (last visited 15 February 2018).
- 14 Frontex- European Border and Coast Guard Agency, at http://frontex.europa.eu/assets/ Partners/Third_countries/WA_with_Turkey.pdf (last visited 12 November 2017).
- 15 http://cibs.csgb.gov.tr (last visited 12 November 2017).
- 16 Omar Kadkoy, "Syrians and Labour Market Integration: Dynamics in Turkey and Germany", GMF, (February 2017), at: http://www.gmfus.org/publications/syriansand-labor-market-integration-dynamics-turkey-and-germany (last visited February 15 2018).
- 17 Report by International Crisis Group, *Turkey's Syrian Refugees: Defusing Metropolitan Tensions*, No. 248, at https://d2071andvip0wj.cloudfront.net/248-turkey-s-syrian-refugees.pdf (last visited on 25 February 2018), pp.15-17.
- 18 "Cumhurbaşkanı Erdoğan'dan Suriyelilere Vatandaşlık Müjdesi", Milliyet, 2 July 2016.
- 19 Şebnem Köşer Akçapar and Doğuş Şimşek, "The Politics of Syrian Refugees in Turkey: A Question of Inclusion and Exclusion through Citizenship", *Social Inclusion*, Vol.6, No.1 (2018), pp. 176-187.
- 20 "Yıldırım'dan Suriyelilere Mesaj", Sözcü, 6 July 2017.
- 21 Personal interwiew with a DGMM senior official, 7 December 2017.
- 22 Murat Erdoğan, "Syrians Barometer 2017", at https://mmuraterdogan.files.wordpress. com/2016/06/syrians-barometer-executive-summary.pdf (last visited 15 February 2018).
- 23 "Ankara'da Suriyeli Sığınmacılarla Türk Vatandaşları Arasınd Kavga", at http://t24.com. tr/haber/ankarada-suriyeli-siginmacılarla-turk-vatandaslari-arasında-kavga,412394; T.C. Sakarya Valiliği, "Kaynarca'da Yaşanan Olayla İlgili Vali Balkanlıoğlu Basın Açıklaması Yaptı", at http://www.sakarya.gov.tr/kaynarcada-yasanan-olayla-ilgili-valibalkanlioglu-basin-aciklamasi-yapti (last visited 3 September 2017).

- 24 Some of the hashtags were #suriyelilerevinedonsun (Syrians go home), #suriyelilersinirdisiedilsin (Syrians should be deported); #suriyeliistemiyoruz (we don't want Syrians).
- 25 "Erdoğan'dan Suriyeli Mesajı", Hürriyet, 8 February 2018.
- 26 Initial results of the survey titled "Dimensions of Polarization in Turkey" conducted by the German Marshall Fund and İstanbul Bilgi University's Centre for Migration Research, at https://goc.bilgi.edu.tr/media/uploads/2018/02/06/dimensions-ofpolarizationshortfindings_DNzdZml.pdf (last visited 6 February 2018). Also see, "Politically Polarized Turkey finds Largest Common Ground in Syrian Refugees' Return, *Turkish Daily News*, 6 February 2018.
- 27 Ahmet İçduygu and Damla B. Aksel, "Two-to-Tango in Migration Diplomacy: Negotiating Readmission Agreement between the EU and Turkey", *European Journal of Migration and Law*, Vol. 16, No. 3 (2014), pp. 337-363.
- 28 FRONTEX, "Eastern Mediterranean Route", at http://frontex.europa.eu/trends-and-routes/eastern-mediterranean-route/ (last visited 12 November 2017).
- 29 https://data2.unhcr.org/en/situations/mediterranean/location/5179 (last visited 11 November 2017)
- 30 Ramazan Ercan, "Huge Drop in Migrant Numbers Taking Aegean Route", *Anadolu Ajansı*, at http://aa.com.tr/en/europe/huge-drop-in-migrant-numbers-taking-aegean-route/776390?amp=1 (last visited 11 November 2017).
- 31 Amnesty International, at https://www.amnesty.org.uk/blogs/campaigns/greek-islandsrefugees (last visited 7 February 2018).
- 32 See DGMM statistics on 1:1 Agreement between EU and Turkey, at http://www.goc. gov.tr/icerik6/gecici-koruma_363_378_4713_icerik (last visited 15 February 2018).
- 33 Up-to-date figures available on the website of the EU Facility for Refugees in Turkey, at http://bit.ly/2mNa3cO (last visited 25 February 2018).
- 34 Deutsche Welle, "Changing Terror Law Impossible- EU Refugee Deal Hinges on Visa Free Travel", at http://www.dw.com/en/turkey-changing-terror-law-impossible-eurefugee-deal-hinges-on-visa-free-travel/a-19292453 (last visited 11 November 2017).
- 35 Habertürk, "AB Bakanı Çelik Habertürk TV'de Gündemi Değerlendirdi", at http:// www.haberturk.com/dunya/haber/1335974-ab-bakani-celik-haberturk-tvde-gundemidegerlendirdi; Bild, "Europa Demütigt Die Türkei", at http://www.bild.de/politik/ ausland/interview/europa-demuetigt-die-tuerkei-47317120.bild.html (last visited 11 November 2017).

- 36 Kevin D. Stringer, "Visa Diplomacy", *Diplomacy and Statecraft*, Vol. 15, No. 4 (2004), p. 677.
- 37 İçduygu and Aksel, "Two-to-Tango in Migration Diplomacy".
- 38 Ahmet İçduygu, "ThePolitics of Demography and International Migration: The Implications for the EU-Turkey Relationship", *Journal of Balkan and Near Eastern Studies*, Vol. 12, No. 1 (2010), pp. 59-71.
- 39 İçduygu and Aksel, "Two-to-Tango in Migration Diplomacy".
- 40 Ray Koslowski, "International Migration and the Globalization of Domestic Politics", in Ray Koslowski (ed.), *International Migration and the Globalization of Domestic Politics*, 2005, New York, Routledge, pp. 5-32.
- 41 Şebnem Köşer Akçapar and Damla Bayraktar Aksel, "Public Diplomacy through Diaspora Engagement: The Case of Turkey," *Perceptions: Journal of International Affairs*, Vol. XXII, No. 4 (Winter 2017), pp. 135-160.
- 42 Ahmet İçduygu and Aysen Ustubici, "Negotiating Mobility, Debating Borders: Migration Diplomacy in Turkey-EU Relations", *New Border and Citizenship Politics*, London: Palgrave Macmillan, 2014, pp. 44-59.
- 43 Yüksek Seçim Kurulu, "Türkiye'deki Seçimlere Katılım", at http://www.ytb.gov.tr/ yurtdisi-vatandaslar/turkiyedeki-secimlere-katilim (last visited 15 November 2017).
- 44 Shadia Nasralla, "Austria Stops Four Turkish Political Meetings as Row Spreads", *Reuters*, at http://www.reuters.com/article/us-turkey-referendum-europe/austria-stops-four-turkish-political-meetings-as-row-spreads-idUSKBN16H2C6; The Local, "Turkey Cancels Swiss Rally to Zurich's Great Relief", at http://www.thelocal.ch/20170313/turkey-cancels-swiss-rally-to-zurichs-great-relief; BBC, "How EU Countries Have Responded to Turkey Rallies", at http://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-39251216; Euronews, "How EU Countries Have Responded to Turkey Rallies", at http://www.bc.com/news/world-europe-39251216; Andrea Thomas, "Two German Cities Cancel Separate Turkish Rallies", *Wall Street Journal*, 2 March 2017
- 45 BBC, "Turkey'detached from reality'- EU's Donald Tusk, at http://www.bbc.com/news/ world-europe-39278131; "EU Says Turkey's Nazi Remarks 'Detached from Reality", *Hürriyet Daily News*, 15 March 2017; Lizzei Dearden, Turkey's Nazi Allegations are 'Detached from Reality', says European Council President Donald Tusk, *Independent*, 15 March 2017.
- 46 "Third German Town Cancels Turkish Referendum Rally Amid Yucel Spat", at http:// www.dw.com/en/third-german-town-cancels-turkish-referendum-rally-amid-yucelspat/a-37803173 (last visited 5 December 2017).

- 47 Philip Olterman, "Erdoğan Accuses Germany of 'Nazi Practices' over Blocked Political Rallies", *The Guardian*, 5 March 2017; "Turkey's Erdoğan Accuses Germany of 'Nazi Practices' over Rally Cancellations", at http://www.dw.com/en/turkeys-erdoganaccuses-germany-of-nazi-practices-over-rally-cancellations/a-37816320 (last visited 15 December 2017); "Erdoğan Compares Germany Rally ban to 'Nazi Practices", at http://www.aljazeera.com/news/2017/03/erdogan-compares-germany-rally-ban-nazipractices-170305140546937.html (last visited 5 December 2017).
- 48 "Über 600 Türkische Beamte Beantragten Asyl in Deutschland", at http://www. morgenpost.de/politik/article212231915/Ueber-600-tuerkische-Beamte-beantragten-Asyl-in-Deutschland.html (last visited 5 December 2017); "Turkish Asylum Applications in Germany jump 55 % this Year", at http://www.reuters.com/article/ us-germany-turkey-asylum/turkish-asylum-applications-in-germany-jump-55-%-thisyear-idUSKCN1BT240 (last visited 5 December 2017); "Turkish Asylum Applications in Germany Jump 55% this Year, Many Rejected", at http://www.euractiv.com/section/ enlargement/news/turkish-asylum-applications-in-germany-jump-55-this-year-manyrejected/ (last visited 5 December 2017).
- 49 DITIB, "Pressemeldung zu den Aktuellen Berichten", at http://www.ditib.de/detail1. php?id=547 (last visited 5 December 2017); "Turkish Imam Spy Affair in Germny Extends Across Europe", at http://www.dw.com/en/turkish-imam-spy-affair-ingermany-extends-across-europe/a-37590672 (last visited 5 December 2017); "Ditib Bedauert Spitzelaffare", at http://www.rp-online.de/politik/deutschland/ditibbedauert-spitzel-affaere-aid-1.6528628 (last visited 5 December 2017).
- 50 "Reorientation of Policy Towards Turkey", at http://www.bundeskanzlerin.de/ Content/EN/Artikel/2017/07_en/2017-07-19-bundesregierung-fordert-freilassungsteudtners_en.html (last visited 5 December 2017).
- 51 "Erdoğan tells Turks in Germany not to Vote for 'Turkey's Enemies' merkel, Schulz, Greens", *Hürriyet Daily News*, 18 August 2017; Erdoğan tells Turks in Germnay to Vote Against Merkel", at http://www.reuters.com/article/us-germany-turkey/erdogan-tells-turks-in-germany-to-vote-against-merkel-idUSKCN1AY17Z (last visited 5 December 2017); http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2017/08/18/erdogan-urges-turks-germany-reject-merkel/; http://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-40973197 (last visited 5 December 2017).
- 52 İçduygu, "The Politics of Demography and International Migration".
- 53 Turkey's Relationships with EU has Reached 'Lowest Point', Says Turkish PM, *The Independent*, 25 April 2017.
- 54 Roger Putnam, "Diplomacy and Domestic Politics: The Logic of Two-Level Games", *International Organization*, Vol. 42, No. 3 (1988), pp. 427-460.
- 55 "EU Diplomats meet Turkish EU Minister Çelik to Restore Ties", at http://www. dw.com/en/eu-diplomats-meet-turkish-eu-minister-celik-to-restore-ties/a-19524639 (last visited 12 December 2017); "With Migrant Deal Under Threat, EU Ups Diplomtic Efforts", at http://www.dw.com/en/with-migrant-deal-under-threat-euups-diplomatic-efforts/a-19520797 (last visited 12 December 2017); "Turkey not Drifting Away from NATO or Europe: Turkish FM", at http://www.hurriyetdailynews. com/turkey-not-drifting-away-from-nato-or-europe-turkish-fm-122969 (last visited 12 December 2017); "Turkey- EU look to Build Better Ties", at http://www. hurriyetdailynews.com/turkey-eu-look-to-build-better-ties-123833 (last visited 12 December 2017); "EU Calls Turkey Strategic Partner", at http://aa.com.tr/en/europe/ eu-calls-turkey-strategic-partner-/999010 (last visited 12 December 2017); "EU in Same Boat with Turkey", at http://aa.com.tr/en/europe/eu-in-same-boat-withturkey/998772 (last visited 12 December 2017).
- 56 "Remarks by Commissioner Dimitris Avramopoulos at the 8th Bosphorus Summit", at http://ec.europa.eu/commission/commissioners/2014-2019/avramopoulos/announcements/ remarks-commissioner-dimitris-avramopoulos-8th-bosphorus-summit_en (last visited 12 December 2017); Ali Ünal, "Turkey, EU Likely to Find Middle Ground to Move Forward with Visa Liberalization", *Daily Sabah*, 7 December 2017.
- 57 Sevil Erkuş, "EU Mulls Total Ban on PKK Rallies and Flags", *Hürriyet Daily News*, 18 October 2017; "Turkey Welcomes EP Decision to Ban Terror Groups from Entering Assembly", *Daily Sabah*, 23 November 2017.
- 58 "EU Should Not Forget Turkey has Alternatives PM Says", at http://www.reuters. com/article/us-turkey-eu/eu-should-not-forget-turkey-has-alternatives-pm-saysidUSKCN12M081(last visited 8 January 2018); http://www.euractiv.com/section/ global-europe/news/eu-should-not-forget-turkey-has-alternatives-pm-warns/ (last visited 8 January 2018).
- 59 http://www.ft.com/content/81b92208-9d50-11e7-9a86-4d5a475ba4c5 (last visited 5 December 2017); http://www.al-monitor.com/pulse/originals/2017/12/turkeyeuropean-union-seeking-new-kind-relationship.html (last visited 5 December 2017).
- 60 Turkish Grand National Assembly Human Rights Commission, Refugee Rights Subcommittee, *Migration and Integration Report*, 18 January 2018, p. 253.
- 61 *Global Trends 2030: Alternative Worlds*. National Intelligence Council Publication, at https://globaltrends2030.files.wordpress.com/2012/11/global-trends-2030-november2012.pdf (last visited 7 February 2018).
- 62 William Lacy Swing, *The Diplomacy of Population Displacement*, p. 21, at https:// www.iom.int/sites/default/files/migrated_files/about-iom/docs/1The-Diplomacy-of-Population-Displacement-The-Foreign-Service-Journal-March-2013.pdf (last visited 8 February 2018).

- 63 Ibid., pp. 21-2.
- 64 UNHCR, Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2016, at http://www.unhcr.org/ globaltrends2016/ (last visited 8 February 2018).
- 65 Ibid.
- 66 Şebnem Köşer Akçapar, "Uluslararası Göç Alanında Güvenlik Algılamaları ve Göçün İnsani Boyutu", in S. Gülfer Ihlamur-Öner and N. Aslı Şirin Öner (eds.) Küreselleşme Çağında Göç: Kavramlar, Tartışmalar, İstanbul, İletişim Yayınları, 2012, pp. 563-575.
- 67 Heaven Crawley and Dimitris Skleparis, "Refugees, Migrants, Neither, Both: Categorical Fetishism and the Politics of Bounding in Europe's 'Migration Crisis'", *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, Vol. 44, No. 1 (2017), p. 2.
- 68 Speech of Franck Düvell at the Conference on International Migration and Diplomacy in İstanbul, 18 May 2016.
- 69 The Global Compact for Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration, Zero Draft (5 February 2018), at https://refugeesmigrants.un.org/sites/default/files/180205_gcm_zero_draft_ final.pdf (last visited 18 February 2018).
- 70 The Global Compact on Refugees, Zero Draft, (as at 31 January 2018), at http://www. unhcr.org/Zero-Draft.pdf (last visited 09 February 2018).
- 71 See Can Unver's article in this special issue.
- 72 Speech of Naci Koru at the Conference on International Migration and Diplomacy in İstanbul, 18 May 2016.
- 73 Şebnem Köşer Akçapar and Damla Bayraktar Aksel, "Public Diplomacy through Diaspora Engagement: The Case of Turkey," Perceptions: Journal of International Affairs, Vol. 22, No. 4 (Winter 2017), pp. 135-160.
- 74 "Guterres, Jolie in Turkey to Show Solidarity with Syrian Refugees", at http://www. unhcr.org/hk/en/5895-guterres-jolie-in-turkey-to-show-solidarity-with-syrianrefugees-2.html (last visited 15 February 2018); "In Turkey, UN Chief Guterres Spotlights Collective Responsibility for Refugee Protection", at https://news.un.org/en/ story/2017/02/551282-turkey-un-chief-guterres-spotlights-collective-responsibilityrefugee (last visited 15 February 2018).

The EU's International Relations and Migration Diplomacy at Times of Crisis: Key Challenges and Priorities

Frank DÜVELL*

Abstract

This contribution explores the key challenges of contemporary EU policies that shape and can contribute to explaining the EU's foreign policy and diplomacy in the fields of neighbourhood policy and accession as well as migration policies, and, notably, its responses to the 2015/2016 migration and refugee crisis. It analyses how social unrest, uprisings and wars in the Middle East, Northern Africa and Eastern Europe, the rise of terrorism and Jihadism, the refugee crisis as well as inequality within the EU fuelled the rise of illiberal, anti-EU and anti-immigrant sentiments, resulting in a security crisis, ruptures between EU member states and subsequently a crisis of the European project and thus the postwar European peace project. It argues that stabilising and protecting the EU overrides all other policy considerations. This priority subsequently also informs EU foreign policy vis-à-vis Turkey.

Key Words

EU External Relations, Migration Diplomacy, EU-Turkey Relations, Refugee Crisis, Security Crisis.

Introduction

This paper explores the key challenges of contemporary EU policies that shape and can contribute to explaining the EU's foreign policy and diplomacy in the field of migration, and notably its international policies in response the 2015/2016 migration and to refugee crisis. These key challenges, I suggest, are the record displacement of around 22 million people in the wider neighbourhood, the underlying manifold ruptures, conflicts ranging from revolutions and counterrevolutions to sectarian conflicts as well as dictatorial governments or other similar problems in the wider neighbourhood of the EU, the threats from Islamist terrorism in the EU and many of its partner countries, the resurgence of nationalism, anti-EU sentiments and extreme politics in the EU, the deepening inequality within and between member states which fuels these radical trends, and finally some international isolation and lack of responsibility sharing with respect to the refugee crisis. This complex set of external and internal challenges

^{*} Assoc. Prof. Dr., University of Oxford, Senior Researcher, Centre on Migration, Policy and Society (COMPAS), United Kingdom. E-mail: franck.duvell@compas.ox.ac.uk

has merged into a crisis of values, unleashed forces of self-destruction, undermined the internal cohesion and subsequently also the external power of the EU, and even affected the postwar European peace order, all of which have subsequently informed its foreign policy.

Complex set of external and internal challenges has merged into a crisis of values, unleashed forces of self-destruction, undermined the internal cohesion and subsequently also the external power of the EU.

The article is based on research, dissemination and subsequent ESRC-funded discussions of the project MedMiG - Unravelling the Mediterranean Migration Crisis, conducted from September 2015 to September 2016.¹ Whilst the actual research focussed on the dynamics of the migrations in 2015 much of the subsequent interests like conference invitations and media queries focussed on the increasingly hostile responses by some parts of the European constituencies and several governments and the EU's struggles to come to terms with and develop an adequate response to the crisis that would be in line with her values.

The Refugee and Migration Crisis and International Relations

By 2015, a record number of people in the neighbourhood of the EU, around 22 million, were displaced; this is around a third of the total number of displaced persons globally, around 65.3 million, and as many as by the end of the Second World War. Of this number, 12.4 million were newly displaced in 2015.² Until late 2017, the submission date of this article, this number has remained stable. Around two thirds of the displaced persons are internally displaced within their own countries whilst a third, about seven million, fled to other countries, like Turkey, Lebanon, Jordan, and Russia. A small proportion, 6 % of those in the EU neighbourhood, fled to the EU. In total, around 1 million people, mostly refugees, arrived by sea in 2015. In addition, in 2015, around 300,000 arrived overland, mostly from the Balkan countries, or by plane. This continued at a lower level in 2016, when by June another 300,000 arrived, and in 2017 by October with the arrival of around 150,000.3 From 2011 to the summer of 2017, the total number of asylum applications in the EU had reached around 4.7 million.⁴ It is important to note that 11.7 million displaced persons are Syrians and another approximately 2.5 million are

Ukrainians, in sum 22 %. In this sense, Russia, by supporting Syria's President Assad and armed separatists in Eastern Ukraine and by intervening and sending troops into fighting, is both directly and indirectly responsible for generating large-scale displacement.

By 2015, a record number of people in the neighbourhood of the EU, around 22 million, were displaced.

However, apart from the facts and in order to move on, the analysis and debate often involve some convenient conceptualisations which need to be critically interrogated. For instance, whilst conventionally we talk about the primary root causes of displacement and migration referring to determinants like violence, persecution or economic hardship in the countries of origin, like Syria, Afghanistan, Eritrea or Ukraine, we find in our project a significant proportion of people from these countries who had already fled to Iran, Turkey, Sudan or Libya, resided there for considerable periods of time but felt compelled to move on. In some cases, people have been even living in two or more different countries, like Iran and Turkey or Burkina Faso and Libya before moving on. The drivers of this type of secondary or - in the

case that people had already resided in a second country- even tertiary conceptualised movements are as secondary root causes. These are described by our respondents as lack of a stable status, lack of access to asylum, lack of economic opportunities and generally unviable living conditions, discrimination or crime. Because these conditions determine migration to Turkey, the EU or other destination countries, they are as powerful as the primary root causes. This in return may complicate foreign and international aid policy with respect to addressing forced displacement: it is no longer sufficient to address only the primary root causes. Instead, the EU recognises that addressing policy deficiencies and sending more aid to the main first countries of reception, such as Turkey, Iran and other countries, are important in order to diminish the various drivers of migration.

The European response was to some extent based on partly orchestrated misperceptions which nevertheless generated a threat perception.

Second, we need to interrogate the scope of the phenomenon of refugee arrivals in the EU. On the one hand,

the EU has received almost 5 million refugees, adding to the several million refugees accepted in previous years and decades and adding to its immigrant population of 54.4 million. This demonstrates that the EU hosts a significant proportion of the global refugee population and suggests that some perceptions held in Turkey with regard to burden-sharing need to be put in perspective. In absolute terms the magnitude of displacements, the large number of arrivals in 2015/16 appears huge and the images of tattered masses arriving at small ports and beaches or sometimes overrunning border controls looked literally overwhelming and this was the perception generated by the media. However, here lies a problem and we need to put things into perspective. The absolute level of displacement is similar to the situation after WWII, however, Europe's population was significantly smaller then, also then Europe lay in ruins whereas now it is the most affluent region of the world. Likewise, there are fewer arrivals than during some previous migrations, such as that of ethnic Germans to Germany (over four million) or resettlement from Indochina (2.5 million), and it is not dissimilar to the refugee influx from the Yugoslavian conflict to Germany (700,000-800,000). Indeed, the actual number of refugee arrivals in 2015/16 is equivalent to only 0.3 % of the EU population. Our research findings also suggest that the arrivals are not tattered masses but rather well-educated urban middle-classes. Up to two thirds of our sample of 500 interviews who took the Aegean route belonged to urban middle-classes. This implies that the European response was to some extent based on partly orchestrated misperceptions which nevertheless generated a threat perception.

Finally, migration not only relates countries to one another but therefore also frequently compels states to talk to one another over migration issues.⁵ Thus, in the case of migration, it is peoples' determination, or in sociological terms human agency, which determines international relations. Migration thereby also impacts on and partly determines the power relations between states.⁶ For instance, in the case of the Mediterranean refugee crisis, one supranational state, the EU, becomes more vulnerable and more dependent on collaboration with other states - in this case Turkey and to a lesser extent Libya but also Macedonia - and thus weaker counterparts, like Turkey and Libya, potentially gain some leverage and thus relative power. Previously, Turkey-EU relations were almost solely shaped by the accession process, which meant that Turkey had to comply with EU standards- though this was also inspired by national interests with respect to reforming legislations and institutions. Meanwhile, the refugee crisis added another element to the list of determinants of the power-balance between Turkey and the EU and subsequently reconfigured relations. This became most apparent over the revival of the EU- Turkey Action Plan in October 2015 and the institutionalist EU-Turkey Statement in March 2016, trading effective controls of sea borders, return of irregular immigrants and organised resettlement to the benefit of the EU for funding and visa liberalisation to the benefit of Turkish citizens.7 Further to this, the role of Russia as a country that contributes to large-scale displacement and the subsequent impact this has on the stability of other countries merits more attention than the issue currently receives.

However, so far the EU-Turkey Statement or 'deal' as often denoted has not been implemented as agreed. Neither has visa liberalisation been granted, mostly for reasons related to the EU's usual conditions, nor were refugees in any significant numbers returned or resettled. Only the allimportant control of migration was intensified, which stopped the flow.8 However, in the meantime, the EU and its member states won valuable time, set up a reception and detention system in Greece, closed the Balkan route that served as a main attraction for people in Turkey, and increased border control capacities in the Aegean Sea.

The Terrorist Threat and Security Crisis

Almost simultaneously to the refugee crisis, we witnessed the emergence of the so-called Islamic State (IS) or Daesh in the Middle East and later North Africa.

Almost simultaneously to the refugee crisis, we witnessed the emergence of the so-called Islamic State (IS) or Daesh in the Middle East and later North Africa, a series of terrorist attacks in Turkey, France and Belgium, as well as some large-scale crimes in Germany which added to the partly real, partly perceived threats to the people of Europe. Notably, the atrocities of IS/ Daesh, like the beheading of captivates from 2014 and the strategic use of 'visual imagery and visual media in contemporary warfare'9 and the enslavement and sexual exploitation of Yezidi women, caught the imaginations of and horrified the European people international the and generally community.¹⁰ Such atrocities and the offensives of IS/Daesh in Mosul in 2014, Ramadi in spring 2015 and in summer 2015 in the region east of Aleppo¹¹ were important factors contributing to the displacement of people and thereby fuelling the European refugee crisis. Finally, a significant number of

foreign jihadi fighters including many from European countries and the dangers associated with their potential return rang the alarm bells.12 The subsequent terrorist attacks in Paris in November 2015, repeatedly in Ankara and İstanbul and later in Brussels in March 2016, and in Berlin in December 2016 not only extended IS/ Daesh terror towards Europe but they were considered 'an evil attack against us all'.13 Some sources including the European Council also related these atrocities to large-scale irregular and largely unrecorded and uncontrolled immigration and suggested security implications.¹⁴ This migration-security nexus was further accelerated by a wave of theft and sexual crimes committed on 2016 New Year's Eve in Cologne, Hamburg and elsewhere.¹⁵

However, these threat perceptions too need to be put into perspective. It is well documented that i) the number of terrorists is actually extremely small, and ii) that until late 2015 terrorists were usually either EU residents and/ or EU-born.¹⁶ This implied that these terrorists had not been radicalised abroad importing their ideas but they were radicalised in the EU. Thus, this type of terrorism, even though it has a transnational dimension because it takes its inspiration and ideology from abroad, still largely is a domestic European problem. However, the November 2015 and December 2016 terrorist attacks also included several attackers who were radicalised and had been trained abroad, and then entered the EU disguised as refugees to commit such attacks.¹⁷ Other similar radicals were arrested in Germany. This added a type of 'imported' terrorist threat to the EU. As a consequence, domestic security became another major challenge for the EU.

The European Council, in its 2014 conclusions, declared one of its key priorities as 'guarantee[ing] a genuine area of security for European citizens [and] putting into force an effective EU counter terrorism policy'.

All of these developments gave rise to perceptions of some loss of control, insecurity and threats related to international migration. This then resulted in exceptional politics such as detaining families and children in closed camps where they were left malnourished, leading to conditions last seen in the 1940s, the erection of fences last seen during the Cold War, and deploying the army and navy against refugees. Exceptional politics are considered a key criterion by securitisation theory;¹⁸ therefore, these politics can be interpreted as further securitisation of international migration. On the policy level, the European Council, in its 2014 conclusions, declared one of its key priorities as 'guarantee[ing] a genuine area of security for European citizens [and] putting into force an effective EU counter terrorism policy'. And because the security of EU citizens is the key priority, this also informs its international relations and diplomacy in the field of migration.¹⁹ Indeed, from the very beginning of common EU home affairs, policies of security and migration have been thought of in conjunction, as demonstrated by the 1976 Trevi group.²⁰

A Neighbourhood in Flames

The refugee crisis as well as the terrorism threat are related to a wider crisis of stability and security. It appears that half the neighbourhood of the EU is in trouble whilst some of the other half fuels or causes trouble. In 2010/11, initially largely pro-democratic revolts coined as the 'Arab spring' hit countries Northern Africa, the Middle in East and the Gulf region. These had very different results21 and either led nowhere, as in Bahrain and Kuwait, resulted in some concessions, as in Algeria and Morocco, forced regime change and some democratisation, as in Tunisia, led to regime change but a

It appears that half the neighbourhood of the EU is in trouble whilst some of the other half fuels or causes trouble.

fall back to authoritarian ruling as in Egypt, or ended in violent conflict as in Syria where the government's backlash turned into civil war²² and in Libya where the collapse of the old regime gave rise to inter-factional violence.23 It also led to a deepening of the sectarian Sunni-Shi'a divide across the entire region.²⁴ From 2013 onwards, the socalled Islamic State (IS) launched large-scale attacks in Iraq and later also expanded its operations into Syria and even to Libya in 2014/2015.25 Several of these developments were further aggravated by the influx of radical Muslims or Jihadists from Europe to other parts of the world.²⁶ Furthermore, the role of the Transatlantic countries is rather critically discussed as with respect to intervention in Libya and lack of intervention in Syria.²⁷ In 2014, we witnessed the EuroMaidan revolt in Ukraine that swept away the old regime, did not result in solid reforms but triggered a counter-revolution and subsequently Russian military intervention.²⁸ And in April 2016, we briefly saw the frozen Armenia/ Azerbaijan conflict turning hot again.

Apart from this, violent conflicts continue in Somalia, Mali and Nigeria, and political oppression is reported from Eritrea, Gambia (which ended in 2016), and elsewhere.²⁹ In addition, ethnic minorities and refugees are discriminated or specifically targeted, like Palestinians in Lebanon, Yezidis by IS/Daesh in Iraq, Tatars in Crimea, Christians in Pakistan, Afghan refugees in Iran and Eritrean refugees in Israel. In Syria, the West decided not to intervene, not to enforce a no-fly zone or send troops, hoping that the conflict would burn out as suggested by the US foreign policy expert Richard Haass.³⁰

Meanwhile, Russia pushed itself onto the international arena once again, fuelling rather than easing troubles. Russia has long backed the Assad regime and when the global north did not intervene in the civil war, Russia seized the emerging opportunity and directly engaged militarily;³¹ thereby re-establishing Russia as a key regional player thanks to 'diplomacy on Syria' and thus taking on the Transatlantic allies.32 In Ukraine too Russia took advantage of the weakening of the Ukrainian pro-Russian state and insurgents, and annexed Crimea, backed militias and deployed its arms and (mostly unmarked) troops in two Eastern provinces. It has occasionally been claimed, by NATO representatives for example, that Russia's diplomacy in support of Assad also aims at creating

refugee flows that would then destabilise the EU.³³ Indeed, whilst it is 'the West' which is conventionally blamed for its interventions, Russia must also be criticized due to her interventions in Afghanistan, Moldova, Chechnya, Georgia, and more recently in Ukraine and Syria, as this is indeed directly or indirectly causing or even contributing significantly to contemporary global displacements. It is further claimed that Russia also intervenes in EU affairs, appeases Greece, threatens the Baltic countries, supports pro-Russian politics in Moldova and Bulgaria, provokes the UK, Sweden and others by violations of airspaces, and funds extreme right and/ or Euro-sceptic political parties.³⁴

Russia has long backed the Assad regime and when the global north did not intervene in the civil war, Russia seized the emerging opportunity and directly engaged militarily.

Other international actors, like Saudi Arabia and Iran, brought themselves into play by exploiting the Sunni-Shia divide and backing opposing forces in Syria and Yemen, which increased geopolitical tensions in the region. From an EU perspective, developments in Turkey have been another cause for concern, like the erosion of human rights and democracy, and the resurgence of violence in South East Anatolia.³⁵ In particular, the backlash to the July 2016 military *coup* attempt, the subsequent state of emergency and the purge of public civilian and military structure caused significant consternation on the side of the EU.³⁶

Within a few years, the short and relatively unstable- as it now turns outpost-Cold War order fell apart and gave way to a rather volatile constellation of a multipolar order, violent modes of interaction and the rise of non-state actors.³⁷ Addressing and containing external such threats not only represents an extensive agenda but is also of outmost importance to the EU. As stated in the Council of EU, '... the neighbourhood is a strategic priority and a *fundamental interest* for the EU... to develop an area of shared stability, security and prosperity'.38 This clearly points out that the EU's migration diplomacy must be analysed from the perspective of these principal aims.

The Resurgence of Nationalism and Right-Wing Extremism

As a response to refugee flows, the initially welcoming response in several countries was successively side-lined by

a more hostile backlash and extreme politics. Denmark and Sweden, and later Austria, Germany and France border controls.39 reintroduced Bulgaria, Hungary, and Macedonia set up fences and barbed wire.40 Various governments sent their armies, NATO vessels were deployed,⁴¹ Macedonia positioned tanks at the border and rubber bullets and tear gas were shot at refugees. In Greece, right-wing mobs attacked refugees, like on Chios, and burned down facilities of humanitarian NGOs whilst occasionally anonymous armed and masked thugs attacked refugee boats out at sea. In Germany, PEGIDA, the movement of patriots against the Islamisation of Europe, mustered cohorts of supporters whilst hundreds of arson attacks on refugee centres were committed. And finally, in Poland a nationalist government was voted into power, as previously in Hungary, in Denmark and Slovakia, support for extreme right-wing political parties gained momentum. Over the past years, in 12 out of 20 European countries the extreme right has made significant gains (Austria, Bulgaria, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Hungary, Poland, Slovakia, Sweden, Switzerland, and UK) whilst in five they lost votes (Italy, Belgium, Greece, Netherlands, and Romania).⁴² Indeed, by May 2015, 46 % of Europeans expressed a lack of trust in the EU whilst 40 % voiced trust.

As a response to refugee flows, the initially welcoming response in several countries was successively side-lined by a more hostile backlash and extreme politics.

Moreover, 38 % said immigration is the main concern for Europe, up from 24 % in 2014 (Germany 55%, Denmark 50%, Sweden 58%, Czech Republic 44%, Italy 43%, Austria 37% and Greece only 27%); this is still a minority, though this was before the refugee crisis.43 Meanwhile, 56 % were (very) negative about immigration from outside the EU (Czech Republic 81%, Greece 78%, Slovakia 77%, Italy and Hungary 70%, Austria 60%, France 58%, Poland 53%). This proportion is highest amongst people identifying themselves as 'working class' (60%) and lowest but still high amongst middle and higher classes.⁴⁴ About a quarter to a third of the population tends to hold authoritarian views,45 these are more likely to be male (notably in the middle aged group) and workers lacking secondary education, as analysis in, for instance, Austria shows.⁴⁶ Even conventional social democrat or Christian conservative governments, like in France, Germany, Austria and elsewhere chose to compromise and moved right. All in all, we saw

the rise of xenophobe and anti-European, inhumane, protectionist and nationalist policies. Freedom House summarises developments as a 'rise of illiberal nationalism in Europe', notably in Eastern Europe.⁴⁷ These processes contain elements that have powers of self-destruction.⁴⁸ Therefore, containing these forces is another key objective for the EU and achieving this will demand compromise on all fronts.

We saw the rise of xenophobe and anti-European, inhumane, protectionist and nationalist policies. Freedom House summarises developments as a 'rise of illiberal nationalism in Europe', notably in Eastern Europe.

The Rise of Inequality

Finally, deepening inequality in Europe underpins the rise of protectionism, nationalism and extremism. Indeed, the EU is a hugely unequal union. In Bulgaria, Romania, Croatia, Latvia, Poland and Hungary, the Actual Individual Consumption per capita (AIC) is only half the level of Germany. Seventeen member states rank below the average AIC, including all southern and eastern member states. Significant social inequality is also found within the member states and since the 1970s this has massively increased. The richest ten % of the households hold 50 % of all wealth; this gap is widest in southern and eastern countries.49 A quarter to a third of the people are stuck in precarious, low-paid jobs mostly in the service sector.⁵⁰ 25 % of the EU population is worried about the economy (40% Greece, 37% Spain, 36% Sweden, 26% Hungary, 20% Poland), 24 % about unemployment (Italy, Spain and Greece 32%, Sweden 27%, Belgium, Denmark and Slovenia 26%) and nine % about inflation (Croatia 15%, Poland 14%).⁵¹ Media footage implies that the call for migration restrictions or anti-EU rhetoric is often justified with concerns over job security and pressure on the welfare state.52 Meanwhile, voting behaviour analysis often finds lower educated middle-aged working men are supposedly affected by precarity, and are holding extreme views.53 Fear for and actually decreasing living standards and thus rising inequality all diminish enthusiasm for and thus loyalty with conventional political parties as well as the European integration project. Meanwhile, conventional social democrat or conservative governments do little to address these root causes. And whilst migration is blamed for the deterioration of peoples' living

Deepening inequality in Europe underpins the rise of protectionism, nationalism and extremism.

conditions, it is rather national governments and their result of neoliberal agendas which create these. In any case, a World Economic Forum publication illustrates that current levels of inequality are nearing the levels of the 1910s and 1930s - which were times of political extremism - and warns that 'inequality is one of the key challenges of our time'.54 Notably the recent rise of right-wing Europhobic political parties (Front National in France, AfD in Germany, and Law and Justice in Poland) turned policies addressing inequalities into another key policy goal;55 for instance, only from September 2015 onwards, a 'European Pillar of Social Right' was invented.

A Discreet Crisis of Diplomacy and Foreign Policy

Finally, another discreet crisis of foreign policy has emerged. The EU-Russia partnership is ruined for the foreseeable future, the European Neighbourhood Policy's (ENP) goal to create a 'ring of friends' partly failed, Russia never did actually join 'this ring of friends'. Instead, Russia suggested a kind of alternative model, a 'Greater Europe' from Brest to Vladivostok, which challenged and in effect would have broken up the historical US-Europe axis.⁵⁶ Even the relations of the EU with the candidate country Turkey turned sour⁵⁷ and other countries largely abandoned the region and contributed little to relieve the refugee crisis.⁵⁸

The international community, with the US leading the way, did not accept much responsibility for the refugee situation, apart from the usual and usually insufficient contributions to the UNHCR. The main exceptions were Brazil, which issued 8,000 humanitarian visa to Syrians by May 2016,⁵⁹ Canada which, from 2015, when a new government was voted into power, began resettling 25,000 only Syrian refugees, and Malaysia which, from the end of 2015 began accepting 3,000.60 But apart from this Turkey, Lebanon, Jordan, Germany and the EU were de facto abandoned by the international community, but it seems also fair to say that the EU did not make sufficient efforts to bring this topic to the attention of the international community. The 2016 UN refugee summit came years too late and did not bring about any concrete agreement for burden sharing.⁶¹ As a consequence, the refugee crisis, even though of historical proportions, had become a regional and European

problem but the EU was overwhelmed and under this stress subsequently got entrenched in internal controversies.

The international community, with the US leading the way, did not accept much responsibility for the refugee situation, apart from the usual and usually insufficient contributions to the UNHCR.

Within the EU, old alliances weakened and new coalitions emerged, often with a distinct illiberal agenda. Most notably, in 2015, Merkel attempted to build a coalition of the willing to address the refugee crisis in a better managed and also more humane fashion. When this initiative stalled, Germany aimed at setting a precedence case by announcing it would not enforce the Dublin II Convention on sending back refugees to the first safe EU country but instead to accept large numbers of refugees, hoping that other member states would follow.⁶² In parallel, the EU commission designed a fairly comprehensive mix of liberal and repressive measures, ranging from addressing root causes, sending support to Turkey to address secondary root causes, deploying NATO and Frontex to improve border controls, establishing

so-called 'Hotspots' to better regulate the influx, and arranging resettlement and relocation to counter irregular movements. However, the change of government in Poland, a key partner in this effort, and the decision of France - in the light of Front National gains - not to accept any significant number of refugees contributed significantly to the failure of both these initiatives. Also the change of government in Denmark under participation of the extreme Danish Peoples Party and then the decision of Sweden to abandon its open border policy further contributed to this. Here, domestic politics changed well-established international relations. German-French and German-Polish relations broke up. Instead, new alliances emerged, Germany and Greece became partners again over the refugee crisis, the Visegrad group resurfaced and an Austrian-led Balkan group emerged. Indeed, small states which would conventionally be considered powerless turned out to have significant power to determine EU policy; this challenges older assumptions held in the International Relations literature.⁶³ Smaller states turned previous power relations upside down so that it was them, not the big states, who dictated policy. Finally, the EU Council under President Tusk in 2016 side-lined the EU Commission and gained initiative in pushing though a tough response to the refugee influx. Generally, these new

coalitions were rather coalitions of the unwilling, consolidating a Euro-sceptic, nationalist and illiberal bloc. This also impacted the shape of EU foreign policy with respect to international migration and refugee policy as well as policy towards Turkey.

The Key Challenge for EU Diplomacy

As a result, we now face a toxic mix of a refugee crisis, the resurgence of tensions between the EU, NATO and Russia, deepening inequality, and rising political extremism. These developments triggered conflicting ideas within and between member states, and between the EU Commission, the EU Parliament (or at least some factions) and the EU Council, on how to best address these challenges, such as over open borders versus fences or over resettlement versus containing the problem in the region. Key values of the EU came under pressure, such as liberalism, human rights, asylum, international internal solidarity, responsibility and joint policies. This subsequently divided the EU member states into more or less liberal camps. Finally, the historical heritage, moral grounding, and with this even the political foundations of the EU were jeopardised. By the end of 2015, the individual crisis of refugees, reception and borders had merged and all

culminated into a crisis of the stability of the EU.⁶⁴ For instance, Roettgen, a senior German foreign policy maker (CDU member and chairman of the Bundestag's Committee on Foreign Affairs), argued that the refugee crisis "has shaken Europe to its foundations" and thus threatens its integrity. He went on to suggest that "either we unite as European, or Europe will be irrelevant on the world stage" expressing concerns over the future of the EU's power in international relations.65 Commissioner suggested Avramopoulos that Schengen, "the backbone [of] what we are as a European Union", has been threatened but must be "save[d]".66 And the EU Commission President Juncker also stated 'when crisis came, it put our very foundation to the test', the refugee crisis, like others, was 'a threat that was systemic' and he argued that this 'situation demands bold measures'.67

We now face a toxic mix of a refugee crisis, the resurgence of tensions between the EU, NATO and Russia, deepening inequality, and rising political extremism.

As one key conclusion of this article, it seems that this perception of urgency and crisis shaped the subsequent EU The crisis of the EU shifted the priorities of policy and diplomacy within and beyond the EU.

policy response. In a liberalist fashion the configuration of interest groups within member states shaped national preferences, which were negotiated in an institutionalist fashion between member states, which brought about the joined EU policy responses.68 My second key conclusion is that the crisis of the EU shifted the priorities of policy and diplomacy within and beyond the EU. The 'bold measures', as Junker calls them- closure of borders, sending refugees back to Turkey, containing refugees in the region, delaying visa free travel and thus preventing potentially more migration from Turkey- were all justified with the higher interest of securing the 'foundations' of the EU. The prime concerns are thus no longer human rights or democracy or good relations with Turkey but maintaining the EU's integrity, power, and even the European peace order. Refugees are not resettled or relocated for the benefit of the respective individuals or other countries against the will of member states to avoid their further alienation, as this would only further undermine the union. Likewise, visa liberalisation for, and thus more mobility or migration from, Turkey

is not pushed through as it would further alienate certain electorates and member states; this is not possible to be implemented against the will of some hostile governments since this might further divide the union. Thus, realist thinking concerned with the survival of the supra-national state prevails over

Refugees are not resettled or relocated for the benefit of the respective individuals or other countries against the will of member states to avoid their further alienation, as this would only further undermine the union. economic considerations, international relations or other goals.

Due to the structure of the EU as a union of sovereign states, the opposition, even if a minority of states, has the power to determine the politics of the EU as a whole⁶⁹ and in a defensive realist fashion, other states do not impose their will on these.⁷⁰ It seems that all policies aimed at addressing the individual crisis turned into means to this end and that diplomacy towards Turkey was undertaken in light of this overarching challenge. In any case, I argue that the EU as a whole cannot be blamed for this policy but rather the individual member states and the respective political parties and electorates.

Endnotes

- 1 Partners are Coventry University (Heaven Crawley, PI), University of Oxford (Franck Düvell), University of Birmingham (Nando Sigona) and international partners are Yaşar University/Turkey, ELIAMEP/Greece, FIERI/Italy and People for Change/Malta, http://www.medmig.info/ (last visited 17 November 2016).
- 2 "Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2015", at http://www.unhcr.org/576408cd7. pdf (last visited 25 September 2016).
- 3 UNHCR, "Refugee/Migrants Emergency Response Mediterranean", Geneva, UNHCR, 31 December 2015; UNHCR, "Mediterranean situation", Geneva, UNHCR, at http://data2.unhcr.org/en/situations/mediterranean?page=1&view=grid&Country% 255B%255D=83 (last visited 31 October 2017).
- 4 Eurostat, "Asylum statistics", at http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index. php/Asylum_statistics#Further_Eurostat_information (last visited 31 October 2017).
- 5 See Franck Düvell, "International Relations and Migration Management: The Case of Turkey", *Insight Turkey* Vol.16, No.1 (2014), pp. 35-44.
- 6 Myron Weiner, "On International Migration and International Relations", *Population and Development Review*, Vol. 11, No. 3 (1985), pp.441-455.
- 7 European Commission: EU-Turkey Agreement: Questions and Answers, Fact Sheet, Brussels, 19 March 2016.
- 8 See European Commission, "Commission Calls for Renewed Efforts in Implementing Solidarity Measures under the European Agenda on Migration", at http://europa.eu/ rapid/press-release_IP-17-348_en.htm (last visited 31 October 2017).
- 9 Simone Molin Friis, "Beyond Anything we have Ever Seen': Beheading Videos and the Visibility of Violence in the War Against ISIS", *International Affairs*, Vol. 91, No. 4 (2015), p. 726.
- 10 Amnesty International, "Iraq: Yezidi Women and Girls Face Harrowing Sexual Violence", at https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2014/12/iraq-yezidi-women-and-girls-face-harrowing-sexual-violence/ (last visited 26 May 2016).
- 11 BBC News, "Islamic State Group: Crisis in Seven Charts", at http://www.bbc.com/ news/world-middle-east-27838034 (last visited 26 May 2016).
- 12 Ibid., also see BBC News, "Powers to stop British Jihadists rReturning to UK PM", at http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-politics-30041923 (last visited 26 May 2016).
- 13 European Council: Statement of the EU heads and EU institutions on attacks in Paris (14/11/2015, Statements and remarks 825/1, Justice, Home Affairs, Foreign affairs & international relations).

- 14 European Council: Conclusions of the Council of the EU and of the Member States meeting within the Council on Counter-Terrorism (20/11/2015, Press release 848/15, Security & defence, Justice, Home Affairs, Foreign affairs & international relations).
- 15 "Übergriffe in Köln, Frankfurt und Stuttgart: Frauen Überfallen Was Bisher Bekannt Ist", *Die Tagesschau*, at https://www.tagesschau.de/inland/uebergriffe-koeln-103.html (last visited 26 May 2017).
- 16 BBC News, "Paris Attacks who were the Attackers", at http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/ world-europe-34832512 (last visited 18 November 2016).
- 17 BBC News, "Paris Attacks Who were the Attackers"
- 18 Ole Waever, Barry Buzan, Morten Kelstrup and Pierre Lemaitre, *Identity, Migration and the New Security Agenda in Europe*, New York, St. Martin's Press, 1993.
- 19 European Council: Conclusions (Brussels, 27 June 2014, EUCO 79/14); also see European Council: Response to foreign terrorist fighters and recent terrorist attacks in Europe, at http://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/policies/fight-against-terrorism/ foreign-fighters/ (last visited 26 May 2016).
- 20 Tony Bunyan, "Trevi, Europol and the European State", in Statewatch, *Statewatching the new Europe*, London, Statewatch, 1993, pp.7-39
- 21 See, for instance, Sheri Berman, "The Promise of the Arab Spring", *Foreign Affairs*, January/February 2013, at https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/syria/2012-12-03/ promise-arab-spring (last visited 24 May 2016).
- 22 Leila Vignal, "Syria: Anatomy of a Revolution", Books & Ideas, at http://www. booksandideas.net/IMG/pdf/201209syria_vignalen.pdf (last visited 10 May 2016).
- 23 For instance, Chris Stephens, "Libya's Arab Spring: The Revolution that Ate its Children", *The Guardian*, 16 February 2015; for an alternative interpretation also see Vijay Prashad, "Arab Spring, Libyan Winter", Oakland, AK Press, 2012.
- 24 Council on Foreign Relations, "The Sunni-Shia Divide", at https://www.cfr.org/ interactives/sunni-shia-divide?cid=otr-marketing_url-sunni_shia_infoguide#!/sunnishia-divide?cid=otr-marketing_url-sunni_shia_infoguide (last visited 31 October 2017).
- 25 Charlie Winter, "Libya: The Strategic Gateway for the Islamic State", at https://www. quilliamfoundation.org/wp/wp-content/uploads/publications/free/libya-the-strategicgateway-for-the-is.pdf (last visited 24 May 2016).
- 26 See, for instance, Soufan Group, "Foreign Fighters in Syria", at http://soufangroup.com/ wp-content/uploads/2014/06/TSG-Foreign-Fighters-in-Syria.pdf (last visited 5 May 2016).

- 27 Shadi Hamid, "Islamism, the Arab Spring, and the Failure of America's Do-Nothing Policy in the Middle East", *The Atlantic*, 9 October 2015; Moulay Hicham Ben Abdallah, "Gone with the Wind? Four Years after the Arab Spring", MENA inaugural conference, Evanston, Northwest University, October 2015.
- 28 Mikhail Minakov, "A Decisive Turn? Risks for Ukrainian Democracy After the Euromaidan", *Carnegie Endowment for International Peace*, at http://carnegieendowment. org/2016/02/03/decisive-turn-risks-for-ukrainian-democracy-after-euromaidan/itf4 (last visited 25 May 2016).
- 29 See Council on Foreign Relations, "Global Conflict Tracker", at http://www.cfr.org/ global/global-conflict-tracker/p32137#!/ (last visited 25 May 2016); Freedom House, "Freedom in the world 2016", at https://freedomhouse.org/report-types/freedom-world (last visited 25 May 2016).
- 30 Richard Haass, "American Foreign Policy in a Turbulent World", Warden's special lecture, Oxford, St Antony's College, 28 April 2015.
- 31 Yury Barmin, "Why does Russia continue to protect Assad in Syria?", *Russia Direct*, 20 April 2016.
- 32 Randa Slim, "Putin's Master Plan for Syria, *Foreign Affairs*, 18 March 2016.
- 33 Lizzy Dearden, "Russia and Syria 'Weaponising' Refugee Crisis to Destabilise Europe, NATO Commander Claims", *The Independent*, 3 March 2016.
- 34 Peter Foster and Matthew Holehouse, "Russia Accused of Clandestine Funding of European Parties as US Conducts Major Review of Vladimir Putin's Strategy. Exclusive: UK Warns of 'New Cold War' as Kremlin Seeks to Divide and Rule in Europe", *The Telegraph*, 16 January 2016.
- 35 For the purpose of this paper, it is not relevant whether or not this is substantiated, all what matters is peoples' perceptions as it is these which drive politics.
- 36 See European Commission, "Turkey 2016 Report. Communication on EU Enlargement Policy (COM(2016) 715 final)", 9 November 2016, (last visited 18 November 2016).
- 37 Richard Haass, "American Foreign Policy in a Turbulent World".
- 38 Council of the European Union: Council conclusions on the Review of the European Neighbourhood Policy (20/04/2015, Press release 188/15, Foreign affairs & international relations) (italics added by Düvell).
- 39 European Commission, "Temporary reintroduction of border controls", at http:// ec.europa.eu/dgs/home-affairs/what-we-do/policies/borders-and-visas/schengen/ reintroduction-border-control/index_en.htm (last visited 17 November 2016).
- 40 Reuters, "Police, migrants clash on Macedonia border; soldiers build fence", at http:// uk.reuters.com/article/uk-europe-migrants-macedonia-idUKKBN0TH07H20151128 (last visited 17 November 2016).

- 41 NATO, "NATO's deployment in the Aegean Sea", at http://www.nato.int/nato_static_fl2014/assets/pdf/pdf_2016_05/20160519_1605-factsheet-aegean-sea.pdf (last visited 17 November 2016).
- 42 Gregor Aisch, Adam Pearce and Bryant Rousseau, "How far Is Europe swinging to the right?", *New York Times*, 22 May 2016.
- 43 European Commission, "Standard Eurobarometer 83, Spring 2015", at http://ec.europa. eu/public_opinion/archives/eb/eb83/eb83_first_en.pdf (last seen 17 November 2016).
- 44 Ibid.
- 45 Peter Hall, "Der Ökonomische Wandel hat die SPD ins Herz Getroffen", *Der Spiegel*, 22 May 2016.
- 46 Gerald Gartner, "Wer wen gewählt hat", Der Standard, 22 May 2016.
- 47 Freedom House, "Transit Nations report 2016", at https://freedomhouse.org/sites/ default/files/FH_NIT2016_Final_FWeb.pdf (last visited 3 March 2017).
- 48 See Sonja Kaufmann, Gunter Rieck Moncayo, Lena Ringleb and Martin Thunert, "Dinner à la carte", in Monika Sus and Franziska Pfeifer (eds.), *European Union in the World 2025. Scenarios for EU Relations with its Neighbours and Strategic Partners*, Berlin, Dahrendorf Forum, 2016, pp.7-9.
- 49 OECD, "Understanding the socio-economic divide in Europe", at https://www.oecd. org/els/soc/cope-divide-europe-2017-background-report.pdf (last visited 31 October 2017).
- 50 Hall, "Der Ökonomische Wandel hat die SPD ins Herz Getroffen".
- 51 European Commission, "Standard Eurobarometer 83, Spring 2015".
- 52 "Migration: Needed not Wanted", The Economist, 1 October 2016.
- 53 Gartner, "Wer wen gewählt hat".
- 54 Amina Mohammed, "Deepening Income Inequality", World Economic Forum, at http://reports.weforum.org/outlook-global-agenda-2015/top-10-trends-of-2015/1-deepening-income-inequality/ (last visited 17 November 2016).
- 55 European Commission, "European Pillar of Social Rights", at http://ec.europa.eu/ malta/news/european-pillar-social-rights-what-progress-has-been-made-towards-itsachievement_en (last visited 18 November 2016).
- 56 See Igor Ivanov, "Russia, Turkey and the vision of Greater Europe", Russian International Affairs Council, at http://russiancouncil.ru/en/inner/?id_4=5055#top-content (last visited 17 November 2016).

- 57 European Commission, "Turkey 2016 Report".
- 58 See, for instance, Oxfam, "Syria Refugee Crisis: Is Your Country Doing Its Fair Share?", at https://www.oxfam.org/en/campaigns/rights-crisis-lebanon-jordan-crisis-syria/ syria-refugee-crisis-your-country-doing-its-fair (last visited 17 November 2016).
- 59 UNHCR, "Syrian refugee carries Olympic torch through Brasilia", at http://www.unhcr. org/news/latest/2016/5/5728cd996/syrian-refugee-carries-olympic-torch-brasilia.html (last visited 24 May 2016).
- 60 BBC News, "Malaysia Accepts first 3,000 Syrian Refugees", at http://www.bbc.co.uk/ news/world-asia-35048291 (last visited 17 November 2016); "Canada Meets Target to Resettle 25,000 Syrian Refugees", *The Guardian*, 1 March 2016.
- 61 United Nations, "Summit for Refugees and Migrants", at http://refugeesmigrants. un.org/summit (last visited 17 November 2016).
- 62 Angela Merkel, "Sommerpressekonferenz: Aktuelle Themen der Innen- und Aussenpolitik", Berlin, Bundesregierung, at https://www.bundesregierung.de/Content/ DE/Mitschrift/Pressekonferenzen/2015/08/2015-08-31-pk-merkel.html (last visited 17 November 2016).
- 63 See Ben Tonra and Thomas Christiansen (eds), *Rethinking European Union Foreign Policy*, Manchester, Manchester University Press, 2004, p.7.
- 64 E.g. Spiegel Online international, "Refugee Crisis Pushes Europe to the Brink", at http://www.spiegel.de/international/europe/border-closures-spell-refugee-back-up-in-greece-a-1080643.html (last visited 17 November 2016).
- 65 Norbert Roettgen, "Europe must Unite or Become Irrelevant", at http://www.dahrendorfforum.eu/dahrendorf-symposium-europe-must-unite-or-become-irrelevant/ (last visited 28 May 2016).
- 66 Dimitris Avramopoulos, "Remarks by Commissioner Avramopoulos to the Committee on Federal and European Affairs of the Bavarian Parliament", at http://europa.eu/rapid/ press-release_SPEECH-16-1588_en.htm (last visited 5 May 2016).
- 67 Jean-Claude Juncker, "Speech by European Commission President Jean-Claude Juncker at the 20th anniversary of the European Policy Centre – 'The road to Rome: from crisis management to governing the EU", at http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_ SPEECH-16-3433_en.htm (last visited 28 May 2016).
- 68 For these categorizations see Anne-Marie Slaughter, "International relations, principle theories", in E. Wolfrum, (ed.) Max Planck Encyclopedia of Public International Law, Oxford, Oxford University Press, 2011, https://www.princeton.edu/~slaughtr/ Articles/722_IntlRelPrincipalTheories_Slaughter_20110509zG.pdf (last visited 30 October 2017).
- 69 Ben Tonra and Thomas Christiansen (eds), Rethinking European Union Foreign Policy.
- 70 See Kenneth Neal Waltz, *Theory of International Politics*, Reading, Addison-Wesley, 1979.

The Limits of an International Burden-sharing Approach: The Syrian Refugee Protection Crisis and Its Consequences on Turkey's Refugee Policy

Başak KALE*

Abstract

This article analyses the consequences of the Syrian refugee protection crisis on the development of an effective international burden-sharing approach. It argues that despite the proven necessity of developing effective burden-sharing mechanisms at the EU and international levels, the Svrian refugee protection crisis has shown that limited progress has been achieved both at the international and the regional levels. This article brings these discussions under a systematic framework to show how the Syrian refugee crisis can provide an opportunity and also a challenge for the development of an effective and durable international burdensharing approach. The primary objective of this research is to review Turkey's experience with the Syrian refugees. The lack of commitment international burden-sharing puts for refugee-receiving countries under immense financial, political and social pressures, which have direct consequences on the humanitarian assistance that refugees can receive. Taking one such refugee hosting country, Turkey, as an example, this research investigates responses given to refugee protection at an international level.

Key Words

Syrian Refugee Protection Crisis, Syrian War, Refugees, Burden-Sharing, Turkey and Refugees, Refugee Policy.

Introduction

This article analyses the consequences of the Syrian refugee protection crisis¹ on the limits of an effective and durable burden-sharing² regime. The 1951 Convention for the Status of Refugees (the 1951 Convention) was developed to protect the individuals applying for refugee status. Under the Convention the right to asylum is considered mainly for individual applications, thus leaving legally binding rules for the signatory states in mass influx situations somewhat unclear. This ambiguity has been a major obstacle in mass movements for the effective protection of refugees in their host countries.

Despite the proven necessity of developing effective burden-sharing mechanisms since the development of the 1951 Convention, the Syrian refugee protection crisis starting

^{*} Assoc. Professor, Middle East Technical University, Department of International Relations, Ankara, Turkey. E-mail: bkale@metu.edu.tr

from 2011 has shown that limited progress has been achieved both at the international and the regional levels. The lack of commitment for burdensharing puts refugee-receiving countries under immense financial, political and social pressures, which have direct consequences on the humanitarian assistance that refugees can receive. One of the receiving countries of such influx refugee movements is Turkey. This article aims to bring these discussions under a systematic analysis and show how the Syrian refugee crisis can provide an opportunity for the development of an effective and durable international burden-sharing regime both at the regional and global level, as well as highlighting the current limitations for developing such an effective system.

The lack of commitment for burden-sharing puts refugeereceiving countries under immense financial, political and social pressures.

In that respect, the primary objective of this article is to review the importance of refugee burden-sharing and refugee protection as an international public good. Looking at the theory of public good, the first section of this article aims to put forward an approach on burden-sharing for refugee protection under international refugee law and the discussion of "public good" theory. The second section provides an overview of the legal developments on the Syrian crisis in Turkey. The final section investigates the limits of burden-sharing, specifically focusing on Syrian refugees and Turkey. Taking the Syrian refugees as the main focus of discussion, this article presents the need to establish effective burdensharing mechanisms within the EU. The Syrian civil war and the refugee protection crisis demonstrates that without the existence of a systematic approach to refugee burden-sharing under a global leadership and a global institutional framework promoting a universal perspective, it will be difficult to achieve effective, long-term and durable solutions. This research assesses whether a comprehensive approach to refugee burden-sharing through financial tools, policy coordination or resettlement mechanisms is possible or not.

Burden-sharing for Refugee Protection under International Refugee Law

The main international legal document that outlines the legal framework regarding the status of refugees and the obligations of the states on refugees is the 1951 UN Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees and the 1967 Additional Protocol. Other international human rights conventions and legal instruments complement the refugee protection provided by these two fundamental legal documents. Although the 1951 Convention formed the main basis of refugee protection, it was not the first international legal instrument to underline the right to seek asylum. After World War II, there was a strong willingness by the international community to support fundamental rights and freedoms universally.

After World War II, there was a strong willingness by the international community to support fundamental rights and freedoms universally.

This willingness was reflected in the adoption of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR).³ The Declaration was proclaimed by the United Nations General Assembly without any geographical or regional specifications in Paris on December 10th, 1948. In addition to the acceptance of international and universal protection of human rights, this milestone declaration has also underlined certain

rights, which would later be focused on or emphasized more specifically in other UN legal documents, convention and declarations. Article 14.1 of the UDHR clarified that "everyone has the right to seek and to enjoy in other countries asylum from persecution." Inclusion of the right of asylum in a declaration with a universal scope set the basis for prospective international legal developments.⁴

Following the UDHR, the 1951 Convention universally described who would be considered as а refugee with a definition provided in Article 1. According to this article "a person owing a well-founded fear of persecution based on his/her race, religion, nationality, and political opinion or membership of a particular social group residing outside the country of his nationality and is unable or, owing to such fear, is unwilling to avail himself of the protection of that country; or who, not having a nationality and being outside the country of his former habitual residence as a result of such events, is unable or, owing to such fear, is unwilling to return to it."⁵ The Convention with this definition did not restrain the application of the refugee definition within a strict geographical or regional setting. Instead, Article 1 tried to provide a definition applicable universally within a specific time frame: "events happening before 1 January 1951." This time limitation was later

recognized as unpractical and was lifted with the 1967 Protocol.

Despite the aim to provide a general refugee definition, the 1951 Convention reflected the characteristics of the already emerging Cold War context.

Despite the aim to provide general refugee definition, the 1951 Convention reflected the characteristics of the already emerging Cold War context. Expecting refugees coming especially from the Communist bloc, the Convention provided the signatory states the preference to accept refugees coming from Europe or outside Europe. This geographical limitation was utilized by some signatory countries such as Turkey, but not by all of them. The underlying justification of such a limitation was clear: the refugees and asylum seekers were expected to flee persecution from countries with the Communist regime. As the Convention was signed in the Cold War context, the justification made by Turkey was considered reasonable. With the end of the Cold War the political instabilities of its neighbourhood proved that Turkey was prone to mass refugee from movements non-European states. The crisis experienced after the

limitation. Without a successful result, the UNHCR, the EU and selected INGOs continue to encourage Turkey to lift it. The crisis experienced after the end of the Cold War, such as Iraq in 1991, motivated Turkev keep this to limitation.

therefore making

The international legal framework established by the 1951 Convention and the 1967 Protocol supported by the international human rights legislation set the basis for a global refugee protection regime. While the rights of the refugees are defined in the Convention, the obligations of the signatory states are also defined clearly. In that respect, the Convention outlined the obligations of the signatory states after granting refugee status. The obligations included providing rights to refugees including non-discrimination based on race, religion or country of origin, continuity of residence, wage-

end of the Cold War, such as Iraq in

1991, motivated Turkey to keep this geographical limitation. As in the case of Iraqi refugees, the international burden-sharing proved to be minimal,

reconsider lifting the geographical

Turkey not to

geographical

earning employment, self-employment, acquisition or movable and immovable property, access to courts, right of association, housing, public education, administrative social security, assistance, freedom of movement, and naturalization. The obligations of the states party to the 1951 Convention are extensive, such as providing rights to the refugees not less than other aliens within their territories. These rights should be almost to the level of citizenship, which meant significant commitment from the contracting states. Acknowledging the difficulty to provide such a high level of commitment from the individual states, the Convention in its Preamble called for cooperation and solidarity among the signatory states.6

The obligations of the states party to the 1951 Convention are extensive, such as providing rights to the refugees not less than other aliens within their territories.

The Convention did not have a specific article explaining the context or extent of the international cooperation and solidarity for refugee burden-sharing among states. However, as a general "good-will" principle, the Convention

set out the importance of burdensharing in its Preamble. The last three paragraphs of the Preamble underline importance of international the cooperation among signatory member states and their coordination with the UNHCR. The Preamble underlined that "considering that the grant of asylum may place unduly heavy burdens on certain countries, and that a satisfactory solution of a problem of which the United Nations has recognized the international scope and nature cannot therefore be achieved without international co-operation."7 It is clear that the states that prepared the Convention recognized that a satisfactory result for the refugee protection would bring burden on certain refugee hosting countries. It was clear that without solidarity and a strong international cooperation among the international community, a "satisfactory solution" would not be possible to achieve. In addition, the Preamble also expressed "the wish that all States, recognizing the social and humanitarian nature of the problem of refugees, will do everything within their power to prevent this problem from becoming a cause of tension between States."8 This paragraph was elaborating that in case of a lack of solidarity or international cooperation, the unbalanced burden on one or more states would create tensions within the international community.

The period following the beginning of the Syrian civil war has proved the foresight of the initial preparatory states' vision on the lack of solidarity bringing tensions on the refugee hosting or receiving states.

The period following the beginning of the Syrian civil war has proved the foresight of the initial preparatory states' vision on the lack of solidarity bringing tensions on the refugee hosting or receiving states. In this case, the lack of solidarity brought tensions especially to the Middle East and Europe. The Convention recognized 1951 the importance of burden-sharing on refugee protection and the possible dangers to international peace and stability of its lack of existence. It will be difficult to assess the exact reasons why a clear provision on burdensharing was not included in the main text of the Convention, but it is possible to assume that after WWII even the acceptance of the 1951 Convention as a liberal text in providing universal rights to refugees was a significant achievement. Therefore, adding obligatory articles into the Convention on burden-sharing might have been difficult. Later on, the UNHCR tried to emphasize the importance of refugee

burden-sharing among states through its various statements, documents and activities. Despite these efforts, there has not been a strong willingness by the international community since 1951 to establish clear-cut rules, norms or principles on burden-sharing, specifically on asylum and refugee issues.

Burden-sharing as a concept was first used in economics and followed by security and military studies. It was utilized for migration and refugee studies by very few scholars until In economics, recently. burdensharing is explained by the "public good" concept. Samuelson defined it stating that collective consumer goods "are goods which all benefit jointly; consumption of these goods by one individual does not reduce the consumption of the other."9 Two main characteristics of public goods have later been distinguished by John Head as "indivisibility" and "non-exclusion."10 In that respect, "public good" is a good that is available without discrimination and individuals within a community cannot be excluded from its usage. Similarly, usage by one individual does not reduce its availability to others.¹¹ In a non-economic sense, "public good" can range from air to street lighting or national security. In that respect, individuals can benefit from the public good without being exposed to certain restrictions of its usage. Similar to individuals, states can also benefit from global public goods or "collective goods"¹² such as international security or stability, if they are members of an international organization.

Burden-sharing as a concept was first used in economics and followed by security and military studies.

The usage of "public good" in military and security studies became apparent with the model presented by Olson and Zeckhauser in their attempt to explain the functioning of NATO and the disproportionate contribution of the USA to this organization. They argue that almost all kinds of organizations provide public or collective goods while an organization can be useful when a group of individuals or states have some common objectives or collective goals. Common objective is accepted as a common good as long as everyone who is a member of this organization can benefit from the achievement of this common goal. According to their model, defense is characterized as a public good as it fulfills two requirements of its definition: nonexcludability and non-rivalry. Since the benefits of any action taken by the organization are common and do not exclude any of the members, the members will be less willing to provide the necessary resources to achieve these goals. Similarly, it is not possible to talk about the diminishing impact on other members just because one of the members benefits from the public good. Even though their model focuses on NATO, it is argued that this model can be applicable to the UN or any other international organization.¹³

Understanding the production of the public good is important in understanding why and how some states will be more willing to contribute to the production of certain public goods. It is assumed that there is a tendency for some "larger" members in an organization to place a higher value on the public good and bear a disproportionate share of the burden. This will be usually not strictly related to moral or political terms but rather based on respective national interests.14 That also explains the "free rider" problem in these kinds of alliances. Free riders are those individuals who benefit from a public good without contributing (or contributing to a lesser extent) to the cost of production of this public good.¹⁵ Mare argues that the bigger the group there will be a greater potential for free riding. If the group is smaller then the identification of the free rider will be easier.¹⁶ This free rider problem is located at the heart of the burdensharing issue. Within NATO the US and other large countries provide more

effort and financial resources and other smaller countries benefit as free riders and can exploit the larger states.¹⁷ This is called "exploitation of the big by the small".¹⁸

Understanding the production of the public good is important in understanding why and how some states will be more willing to contribute to the production of certain public goods.

Free riders have been an important aspect of burden-sharing at different policy areas including economics, environment, security and more recently in refugee studies. With respect to migration studies, the issue of burden-sharing has gained importance initially in 1970s when legal scholars aimed at promoting global sharing to assign refugees worldwide by matching refugee preferences with host countries ranked with an index of wealth and population density.¹⁹ This system could have been operational when asylum applications were small during the Cold War period. However, the end of the Cold War significantly increased the number of refugees after the 1990s. Especially with the ethnic conflicts and internal wars in Yugoslavia, Bosnia, Kosovo and Haiti, mass refuge movements increased and influenced individual state responses.

Mass movements of the 1990s brought worldwide restrictions on asylum, which had reflected on developing tools for refugee burden-sharing among states.

Mass movements of the 1990s brought worldwide restrictions on asylum, which had reflected on developing for refugee burden-sharing tools among states. While burden-sharing mechanisms with collective actions on security and the environment brought positive outcomes for finding enduring solutions to international crisis rather than unilateral actions, in the refugee policy area this success has been very limited.²⁰ Suhrke argues that most states will have to deal with refugee issues at one time. In that respect, it will be in their benefit to develop common responses. Jointly held responses will be due to moral duty as well as an obligation under international law creating certainty, better protection, and assistance.²¹ In other words, organized sharing means more predictable responses, greater international order, and lower transaction costs during a refugee emergency, which can be obtained through organized international order.22 However, the practical implications do not always reflect this straightforward logic, as states occasionally opt for

unilateral action in order to avoid costs and choose restrictions on asylum rather than entering into cooperative arrangements.²³

The complexity of burdensharing on refugee issues comes from the fact that refugees as a social phenomenon have a long-term impact on the host societies.

The complexity of burden-sharing on refugee issues comes from the fact that refugees as a social phenomenon have a long-term impact on the host societies. This might lead to some of the states avoiding taking further responsibility in providing protection and aiming for other states to contribute to the refugee protection scheme at a higher rate. This might lead to unilateral action taking precedence over collective action while benefiting free riders. Overall, the benefits of collective actions in mass influx situations on refugee protection standards or international peace and stability is clear. This makes refugee burden-sharing a net public good at a global scale. States' decisions on choosing collective action over unilateral are usually shaped by their calculation of private costs with the threats resulting from mass influx situations. The next section investigates

the characteristics of the Syrian refugee protection crisis in one of these particular mass influx cases, Turkey.

Turkey, Refugee Protection and the Syrian Refugees

The civil war in Syria has led to the displacement of nearly half of the Syrian population, creating more than 5 million refugees, 6.3 million internally displaced persons, and 13.5 million in need in Syria.²⁴ Most of the Syrian refugees stayed within the region in the neighbouring countries such as Turkey, Lebanon, Jordan, Egypt and Iraq. It is also estimated that around 380,000 people, including civilians, have been killed in this civil war.²⁵ The UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs estimates that half of the Syrian population who remained in the country is in need of humanitarian assistance and protection.²⁶ The scale of the destruction, the number of people affected in this civil war, and the spillover affects make the Syrian civil war a concern of almost every country in the region.

Most of the Syrian refugees stayed within the region in the neighbouring countries such as Turkey, Lebanon, Jordan, Egypt and Iraq.

Since the beginning of the Syrian civil war in 2011, Turkey has adopted an "open door policy" for the Syrian refugees. This was the direct result of Turkey's new neoliberal approach to its foreign policy that utilized foreign policy activism, trade, humanitarian aid, and soft power capabilities. The foreign policy approach of the former Minister of Foreign Affairs, Ahmet Davutoğlu, aimed at enhancing collaboration and cooperation with the neighbouring countries through various mechanisms including utilizing Turkey's soft power capabilities.27 A neo-liberal approach to trade and economic relations promoting a liberal visa policy with Turkey's neighbors aimed at achieving increased economic, political and social interactions. This liberal visa policy, on the other hand, was contradicting with the EU's approach of strict border and the implementation controls of the Schengen negative list by an accession country. However, as Turkey's EU accession was perceived to be a long-term objective, divergence from accession goals on visa policy was seen possible or even dismissible.28 In the short-term, a more pragmatic approach of promoting visa liberalization with neighbouring countries was adopted. Reciprocal visa abolishment with various countries including Syria became a common procedure.

The open door policy was also necessary due to Turkey's international

commitments naturally arising from the 1951 Convention. As stated in the previous section, Turkey has kept a geographical limitation on the application of the 1951 Convention, which means that refugees coming from outside Europe are considered "conditional refugees" according as to Turkey's new Law on Foreigners International Protection and (LFIP).²⁹ Turkey implements the 1951 Convention in a way that non-European refugees' applications are processed, but if refugee status is granted they are resettled to third countries.

Turkey implements the 1951 Convention in a way that non-European refugees' applications are processed, but if refugee status is granted they are resettled to third countries.

The UNHCR and to a certain extent the IOM are involved in the resettlement of non-European refugees. Various partner countries with specific annual quotas accept refugees each year from Turkey. The main refugee accepting countries traditionally have been the USA, Canada, Australia, the UK, Sweden, France, Germany and the Netherlands.³⁰ Since the announcement of the ban for Muslim refugees from seven different countries by the Trump Administration, the refugee resettlement scheme has been put into jeopardy.³¹ The future of the resettlement scheme for non-European refugees will be seriously challenged if the Trump Administration promotes similar courses of action with respect to other countries in the Middle East including Turkey.³²

In the beginning of 2018, the number of Syrians increased to approximately 3.5 million in Turkey.

Although Syrians can be considered as non-European refugees or "conditional refugees" according to the new Turkish law, the Turkish government decided not to open the asylum route for the Syrians. Assuming that the crisis in Syria would be resolved immediately, the Turkish government did not necessarily feel the urge to have a long-term plan on Syrians crossing the Turkish border. The first group of Syrians, who were approximately 250 in number, crossed the Turkish border in 2011.33 The Turkish government declared that they were prepared to host the small groups crossing the borders, thinking that the Assad regime

would fall. As the numbers crossing the borders gradually increased, the first refugee camps were established and their operation was given over to the Disaster and Emergency Management Presidency (AFAD).

In these initial stages of the Syrian conflict the Turkish government did not have a priority to seek for international burden-sharing.34 First of all, Turkey assumed Syrians would be in Turkey temporarily and seeking international assistance and cooperation would not be essential. Secondly, financial or other types of international assistance would require sharing sensitive information or opening camps to international organizations. Taking into consideration these two main reasons, Turkey aimed to respond to this crisis unilaterally.

In the beginning of 2018, the number of Syrians increased to approximately 3.5 million in Turkey. This number includes 3,485,644 Syrians registered by the Turkish Directorate General of Migration Management (DGMM).35 There are also approximately 350,000 non-Syrian asylum seekers and refugees living in Turkey.36 The DGMM declares that there were 66,167 asylum applications in 2016.37 Adding to these numbers, there are also a number of pre-registered Syrians waiting for approval of their registry. Their numbers are not officially declared.

Syrians and non-Syrian refugees added together make up approximately 4 million asylum seekers and refugees in Turkey. This makes Turkey the number one refugee hosting country in the world. When the numbers of Syrians increased dramatically, the numbers of refugee camps - which are referred to as "temporary accommodation centers" by the Turkish government - increased accordingly.³⁸ Despite this increase in the number of camps, only 8% of the Syrians are accommodated in them. The rest of the refugees (92%) are living in cities or urban areas. Camp and urban refugees make up the Syrian population in need of protection in Turkey.³⁹ The needs of the urban refugees are dramatically different than refugees accommodated in the camps.⁴⁰

Turkey's policy towards the Syrian refugees either accommodated in the camps or in the cities is based on Turkey's traditional conceptualization of refugees as "temporary guests."41 This conceptualization resulted in an ambiguous legal status for the Syrians. As explained above, non-European asylum seekers can only be given "conditional refugee" status. In the case of Syrians, Turkey neither allowed them to apply for refugee status nor allowed them the possibility to stay in the country permanently and integrate into Turkish society.42 The Turkish government's expectations on the temporariness of the crisis was reflected in the assumed possible return of the Syrians. On the other hand, soon enough the escalated conflict turned into a civil war with ethnic and religious components that meant the "guest" rhetoric was no longer applicable for the aggravated humanitarian situation.

The Turkish government's expectations on the temporariness of the crisis was reflected in the assumed possible return of the Syrians.

From 2012 onward, without a clear legal basis, Syrians were considered by the Turkish authorities to be under the "temporary protection status". This status was not defined legally, as the Law on Foreigners and International Protection (LFIP) was still in the process of preparation and acceptance by the Turkish Grand National Assembly. The legal specifications of the "temporary protection" status were defined by Article 91 of the LFIP. Article 91 clarified that the application and the particularities of this status would be defined by a specific regulation.⁴³ Temporary protection status was included in the new law due to the influence of the EU acquis. This status was developed by the EU member states in 2001 after the crisis in Bosnia and Kosovo in the 1990s.44 Turkey

also hosted refugees from Bosnia and Kosovo and the temporary protection was utilized to host these refugees both in Turkey and the EU member states. Following these earlier practices, Syrian refugees were also considered to be temporarily protected persons under this status. The legal framework was developed with the acceptance of the Temporary Protection Regulation in 2014.45 Under this status, Syrians are allowed to stay in Turkey and they are not returned back to Syria. However, they are not allowed to apply for asylum. This creates resettlement or voluntary repatriation as the only durable solution options.46

From 2012 onward, without a clear legal basis, Syrians were considered by the Turkish authorities to be under the "temporary protection status".

The escalation of the war in Syria from 2014 onward further increased the number of uprooted populations from Syria. In addition, not being able to work or have a livelihood in the host countries caused Syrians living in the neighbouring countries to search for better opportunities in Western European countries. In the summer of 2015, thousands of Syrians and

also other irregular migrants aimed at crossing the land and sea borders to reach the EU territories. Immediately, Europe became overwhelmed with these mass population movements and irregular borders crossings. According to the EU's border agency FRONTEX, more than 700,000 refugees and irregular migrants crossed the land and sea borders of the EU in 2015.47 The high number of irregular arrivals signified nearly a three-fold increase over the previous year. This caused the member states to react with panic and despair, with some closing their borders and others demanding an end to the free movement of persons in the Schengen system.

During this mass flow, Turkey has been criticized for not managing its borders effectively and becoming a "highway" for transit passage of refugees and irregular migrants to the EU. This claim needs to be assessed very carefully to see whether or not it is a reasonable criticism to specifically pinpoint Turkey for its inability to control its land and sea borders. Essentially, Turkey did not become a "highway" for irregular crossings, but mostly acted as a "dam" that was overburdened, overloaded and flooded towards the EU.48 Without a significant international support or burden-sharing, Turkey was hosting more than 2.5 million Syrians in 2015. Without having an established longterm asylum and refugee policy, it was

complicated and challenging for Turkey to develop a structured and institutional approach to handle the needs of the refugees while safeguarding their rights and livelihoods. Although the new law was developed with the influence of the EU accession process with a surprisingly open-minded and liberal approach since 2008, the arrival of more than 2 million refugees in the course of less than 3 years had a direct influence on the development of Turkey's migration, refugee and integration policies.49 It is safe to assume that the Syrian war and the mass arrival of Syrian refugees have transformed the development of Turkey's refugee and migration policies. It is not an easy task for any country to handle a mass influx situation in such a limited time frame. The next section looks at the impact of international burden-sharing on Turkey's asylum and refugee policies.

It is not an easy task for any country to handle a mass influx situation in such a limited time frame.

The Limits of an International Burden-sharing Approach

Turkey's initial approach to international burden-sharing was rather critical and

distant. The escalation of the Syrian conflict brought complicated political, social and security challenges to Turkey. In addition to these challenges, the financial impact of hosting refugees was also mounting. After realizing that the promoted "no fly zone" would not be established by the international Turkey community, gradually recognized the need for international support.⁵⁰ Turkey's former experience in mass influx situations, especially with Iraq, was misleading, because in the Iraqi case, hundreds of thousands of Iraqi Kurdish refugees were able to return to their country after the establishment of a no-fly zone. This was also observed in the case of Kosovar refugees in the 1990s. Not being able to get the international support for a no-fly zone, the Turkish government developed an uneasy relationship with the international community.⁵¹

The implications of the Syrian civil war on international security and stability became more visible for the international community especially after 2015. The world was able to see the consequences of instability and insurgence in Syria through the rise of fundamentalist movements, escalated ethnic divisions, and mass human displacements.⁵² The spillover effect of ISIS activities intensified the international security concerns while hundreds and thousands of people were uplifted from their homelands.
The international community's late response to the Syrian civil war resulted in the spread of ISIS and other fundamentalist movements around Syria and Iraq. Without the existence of a comprehensive solution to the civil war or having an effective containment towards fundamentalist policy organizations, the forced displacement of the Syrians continued both within and outside Syria. The mass movement of Syrians in the region and in the neighbouring counties developed into a refugee protection crisis.

The implications of the Syrian civil war on international security and stability became more visible for the international community especially after 2015.

While the civil war was intensifying, more Syrians were crossing international borders. Syrians who were already living in the neighbouring countries had two important sources of frustration: (i) seeing that the civil war in Syria was deepening and a prospective return to their home country would not be possible in the near future; (ii) the rights provided in the host countries were not sufficient enough to provide an expected livelihood. Two countries hosting the highest number of Syrian refugees other than Turkey, Jordan and Lebanon, are not even signatories to the 1951 Convention. As explained in the previous section, while Turkey is a signatory state to the said Convention, the geographic limitation does not provide the necessary legal conditions for settling in the country and receiving the refugee status. Despite the advocacy of the UNHCR for durable solutions for refugees in the long-term, which can be listed as integration, return, and voluntary repatriation, the first two options of return and integration did not look viable for the Syrian refugees in Jordan, Lebanon or Turkey. Therefore, resettlement appeared to be the only option available for the Syrian refugees. However, the resettlement numbers are usually very low globally. When compared to the magnitude of the resettlement needs from the region, the resettlement numbers cannot be regarded as sufficient. In 2015, 52,583 Syrians were resettled in total from the region with the support of the UNHCR.53 Although this number is relatively high compared to the previous years, it is still representing a small fraction of the total refugees hosted in the region.

Lebanon, Jordan, Turkey, Egypt and Iraq are providing a "public good" for the international community by hosting the majority of Syrian refugees. This public good entails providing

safety and shelter for approximately 5 million registered Syrians.54 If Syria's neighbors did not host these refugees, then they would have to flee further distances, causing global and international consequences. In the Syrian refugee case, the common public good, which is supporting international peace, stability and security, provided by these host countries is an important contribution to the international community. A public good approach in security studies highlights that large countries provide more effort and financial resources while other smaller countries benefit as free riders and exploit the larger states ("exploitation of the big by the small").55 The Syrian case, however, specifically shows the opposite. Syria's neighbouring countries, especially Jordan and Lebanon, have limited resources to host these refugees on such a large scale. As the civil war escalated the refugee crisis worsened, and deepened the social, economic, and political problems of the host countries.⁵⁶ When the refugee camps became inadequate and the numbers outside camps increased, "the lack of adequate assistance policies towards them aggravated a range of social problems...the initially generous welcome has worn thin, public opinion toward refugees is becoming increasingly negative."57 Especially in the urban areas, the sudden increase in the population generated a competition

over public services both by the locals and the refugees.58 Considering the serious challenges faced by the host communities, the UN's Regional Refugee and Resilience Plan for 2015-2016 recognized that local communities also deserve assistance. However, so far the UN's pledges under different programs has fallen seriously under the desired amount.⁵⁹ In this case, it is clear that Syria's neighbouring countries are carrying the financial, political, social and economic burden while most of the international community has been acting as the free-riders.

Lebanon, Jordan, Turkey, Egypt and Iraq are providing a "public good" for the international community by hosting the majority of Syrian refugees.

In the host countries, the lack of longterm durable solutions or productive refugee livelihoods, limited financial resources, the challenges brought to the host countries' economic, political, social policies or administrative structures, mounting infrastructure problems, and rising security concerns have brought difficulties not only to the host countries but also to the refugees themselves. This lack of prospective long-term solutions opened the way for the Syrian refugees to look for alternative options including leaving their host countries to reach the EU member states.⁶⁰ The summer of 2015 was specifically critical for the mass number of irregular arrivals to Europe.⁶¹ The majority of the arrivals were Syrians, followed by other nationalities such as Afghanis, Somalis, Iraqis, and nationals from sub-Saharan African countries.⁶²

The number of the mixed migrants was the main challenge for most of the EU member states. The European states labeled this increased number of arrivals as a "refugee crisis," calling out for strengthening border patrolling and better responses to humanitarian needs. It was clear that until 2015 the European states did not recognize the scope and consequences of the humanitarian crisis resulting from the Syrian civil war. After 2015, the EU member states specifically felt threatened and frightened by security concerns. They were, however, too late to produce an efficient, rapid and effective response to this humanitarian crisis. Soon afterwards, the humanitarian crisis evolved into a political crisis deeply affecting the foundations of the European integration.63

The EU has been trying to develop over the decades a system of refugee and asylum policies that would support

an even burden-sharing mechanism among the member states. This was a need which became apparent especially after the launch of the common market and the abolishment of internal borders.⁶⁴ The 1990s brought events showing that the EU had to develop common responses to common international crisis on foreign policy, security as well as internal security matters - including migration and refugee policies. The Balkan crisis in the 1990s demonstrated that the European continent is no longer immune from a mass arrival of refugees. Although the Schengen Agreement and the Dublin Convention of the 1990s did not aim at the harmonization of migration and asylum policies within the Union, they constituted the basis of an intergovernmental cooperation leading towards gradual externalization of certain aspect of these policies.

It was clear that until 2015 the European states did not recognize the scope and consequences of the humanitarian crisis resulting from the Syrian civil war.

Intergovernmental cooperation on migration and asylum issues over the years turned into a cooperation

promoted within the Union. From the Maastricht Treaty to the Amsterdam Treaty, in a couple of years, the need for stronger cooperation became evident. The Amsterdam Treaty aimed simplifying certain procedures falling under the Justice and Home Affairs (IHA) area and communitarization of some of its parts. In 1999 the EU started working on the creation of a Common European Asylum System (CEAS) to improve the legislative framework on protection matters. There were a couple of critical points in the development of a common asylum system including development of legislative measures to harmonize common minimum standards for asylum,65 strengthening of financial solidarity, and finding a common EU response to mass influx of displaced persons, which set the basic principles of a common policy. In order to coordinate financial solidarity, the European Refugee Fund (ERF) was established in 2000. The ERF was designed with the aim of facilitating the sharing of financial costs for the reception, integration, and voluntary repatriation of refugees amongst the member states. Following the development of the ERF, other types of fiscal redistribution mechanisms were later developed, such as the European Integration Fund and the European Return Fund, which were all replaced by the Asylum, Migration and Integration Fund (AMIF) in 2014. All

these funds and fiscal mechanisms were aiming at an equal fiscal redistribution of the financial burden in order to give some relief to the member states, which need to host unequal numbers of asylum seekers and refugees within the Union.

Looking at the developments at the EU level starting from the 1990s, it was possible to observe within the EU (i) policy harmonization tools with the development of the legislative framework, (ii) financial tools for fiscal redistribution and (iii) physical burden-sharing with the redistribution of asylum seekers and refugees. These burden-sharing tools and mechanisms were created primarily to respond to the needs of member states followed by the needs of refugees. At the core of the burden-sharing of the EU lies the issue of solidarity among the member states. This solidarity has to be achieved with the redistribution of the burden and responsibility among members with relation to their GDP, population and size of territory. In that respect, if the public goods theory was applied to EU's burden-sharing principles, one would have to expect that the bigger, the richer and more populous member states would host more refugees. In reality, this was not the case and the practice of the EU proved that the smaller countries bear more responsibility than the larger countries. Thielemann and Dewan presented

in their study that a disproportionate asylum and refugee burden is borne by smaller states.⁶⁶ The data on "average accepted refugee protection burden" shows that countries such as Denmark, the Netherlands or Sweden shoulder relatively more burden than France, Germany, the UK or Italy.⁶⁷

This problem of the EU's burdensharing presented itself very clearly in the summer of 2015 when refugees and irregular migrants started to arrive in mass numbers. The member states clearly demonstrated a lack of solidarity and could not come up with an effective response to the mass movement. The southern and eastern member states with land and sea borders exposed to the movement were overwhelmed with the arrivals. Human smuggling and deaths at sea also became an everyday fact.68 While the EU had difficulty in coming together to act in solidarity, German Chancellor Angela Merkel took the initiative and decided to tackle the issue at its transit route, which was Turkey.

Chancellor Merkel visited Turkey on 16 October 2015 just before the 1 November general elections to offer an Action Plan to limit the irregular border crossings in exchange for visa liberalization to Turks. The Plan also aimed at a revitalization of Turkey-EU relations by promising to open several accession negotiation chapters

that had been previously blocked. This was a strategic and pragmatic EU approach embraced enthusiastically by the Turkish government. The proposed Action Plan aimed to contribute initially 1 billion Euros, later increased to 3 billion Euros under different funding schemes to support Turkey's efforts. It was later mentioned that the financial support would be increased another 3 billion Euros. In August, before Merkel's visit, a new unit under the coordination of the Prime Ministry was established to advise then Prime Minister Davutoğlu on issues regarding migration and humanitarian aid.69 The details of this collaboration and cooperation were clarified on 18 March 2016 with the EU-Turkey Statement (EU-Turkey Deal).70

The Deal was criticized immediately for being too pragmatic, unethical, and overly strategic. This was mainly because there were concerns about the moral and legal basis of the agreement. Thus, it has been argued that the deal be put into practice with a "genuine spirit of cooperation whereby the welfare of the refugees comes first".71 Another discussion point was on the issue of burden-sharing. It was not clear if the EU was putting forward effective burden-sharing mechanisms that would not simply shift further burden on countries that were already handling more than their share in this crisis. It later became clear that

burden shifting would make refugees pay the price, with overburdened states not being able to provide necessary services to refugees.⁷² Although the Plan called for the coordination of responses with "solidarity, togetherness and efficiency",⁷³ it was critical that its application should not undermine the current status of Turkey-EU relations, changing it into a strategic partnership⁷⁴ or simply making Turkey a migrant buffer zone or a border guard of the EU.⁷⁵

Those in favor of this arrangement argued that this deal was a sincere effort by the EU to provide financial and other sorts of assistance to countries handling the needs of the refugees burdendisproportionately. The sharing mechanisms between Turkey and the EU were to be as follows: Providing financial support (sharing money), resettlement through a 1 to 1 approach (sharing people), and policy harmonization (visa liberalization and revitalizing EU accession negotiations). The Deal proposed different "benefits" for Turkey in return for its cooperation.76 In return for financial support and visa liberalization for Turkish citizens, the Deal targeted Turkey to accept the return of irregular migrants from Greece. The timing of the Deal coincided with the agenda when the Cyprus negotiations were being reopened, which could have potentially revitalized the stalemate

of Turkey-EU relations. With several issues requiring common solutions both for the EU and Turkey, it was possible to argue that the cooperation on border controls to manage irregular migration and assistance to refugees could have led to a win-win situation for both sides at the negotiation table.⁷⁷ Despite criticisms on the essence of this statement, during this period both Turkey and EU were able to advance on a fruitful dialog to manage a functional area (asylum policy) and it was possible to see EU-Turkey cooperation at an advanced technical level.⁷⁸

While keeping moral and ethical issues at the core, the EU could have pushed for higher protection standards for refugees with an altruistic approach.

While keeping moral and ethical issues at the core, the EU could have pushed for higher protection standards for refugees with an altruistic approach. Instead, a more pragmatic approach and a security-based burden-sharing was put forward in this agreement. In order to reduce the security costs for the EU member states, a security oriented protection policy, which aims to contain the flow of refugees and irregular migrants outside the borders of the EU, was adopted. In addition to the concerns about the number of arriving irregular migrants, the public opinion in most of the member states were turning negative toward mass arrivals. These concerns were aggravated when the war intensified and clashes between different actors caused more security concerns and forced displacements. The clashes between ISIS and PYD forces made more refugees flee the conflict, and Russia's intervention complicated the political and security situation in the region even further.79 The spillover effects of the Syrian civil war were clearly visible in and around the region. This risk of spillover proved to be a real threat demonstrated by the terrorist incidents that occurred both around the region and in the EU in 2016. Looking at the developments in 2015, it would not be wrong to conclude that containing the civil war in Syria could have had positive consequences for the international community. Especially the developments in the summer of 2015 demonstrated how critical it was to provide an effective protection policy in order to maintain international peace, stability and security. Regional stability has been a very clear public good provided to the international community by the host countries. The challenges faced by the host counties, the rise of fundamentalist movements, and the increased safety concerns of the refugees caused secondary sudden

flights. It was clear that if the host countries were not able to provide safety, rights and livelihoods for the refugees, then these refugees under serious threats would continue to search for better conditions within or around the region.

The spillover effects of the Syrian civil war were clearly visible in and around the region.

When the Syrian case is examined, it is possible to observe that the biggest shortcoming that the EU faced in terms of developing a comprehensive burden-sharing policy was not including "legitimacy" into its public good approach. Legitimacy with an altruistic stance meant the EU with its commitment of promotion of human rights, fundamental freedoms and democracy could have pushed for durable solutions for the Syrian crisis and offered protection to most of the refugees. Setting an example to the world and taking its share of refugee protection could have enhanced the intra-EU burden-sharing mechanisms. This would have strengthened the EU's commitment to the values of democracy, protection and promotion of human rights while setting an

It was clear that if the host countries were not able to provide safety, rights and livelihoods for the refugees, then these refugees under serious threats would continue to search for better conditions within or around the region.

example for effective global burdensharing practices. A more ethical and altruistic approach would be beneficial in various ways. First of all, the EU can overcome the criticisms for its externalization of migration and asylum policies. Secondly, addressing the root causes would tackle the likelihood of the spillover effects of ethnic and religious conflicts. Finally, in this way, solidarity within regional or international organizations could be accomplished. Instead the international community and particularly the EU have been hesitant in developing a burden-sharing approach with elements tackling all these points covered above. The EU within itself tried to create a redistribution mechanism for sharing the refugees with quotas.⁸⁰ Previously, the quota trading for refugees has been criticized for commoditizing refugee protection.⁸¹ The Syrian refugee protection crisis highlighted that the EU's decades-long efforts to establish a burden-sharing mechanism within

itself have their weaknesses and ethical problems.

The Syrian refugee protection crisis highlighted that the EU's decades-long efforts to establish a burden-sharing mechanism within itself have their weaknesses and ethical problems.

Conclusion

The Syrian civil war and the refugee protection crisis demonstrate that without the existence of a systematic universalistic approach to refugee burden-sharing, such as one operating through global leadership within a global institutional framework, it will be difficult to achieve effective, longterm and durable solutions. Currently, a comprehensive approach to refugee burden-sharing through financial tools, policy coordination or resettlement mechanisms⁸² with a global solidarity spirit both at the global and regional levels is almost non-existent. This comprehensive framework can only be established with an enhanced mechanism of burden-sharing and addressing the root causes of refugee movements through the establishment of durable solutions for safe return.⁸³ In that respect, burden-sharing requires countries to address the causes that made the refugees flee in the first place, assisting the countries who are hosting the refugees with financial and technical aid mechanisms, regulating an effective distribution of humanitarian aid sharing responsibilities by resettling refugees, and addressing the causes of insecurity such as the fight against fundamentalist and terrorist activities while supporting durable solutions. Otherwise, without a provider of a "public good", the movements of the refugees will continue with a high risk of instability spillover in and around the region.

This article aimed at analyzing the burdenimportance refugee of sharing and refugee protection as an international public good. Looking at the theory of public good, the first part of this article analyzed the development of this concept in relation to migration and refugee studies. Taking the Syrian refugees as the main focus of discussion, this article presented the need to effective establish burden-sharing mechanisms within the EU. There have been long-term efforts by the Union and its member states to establish an effective and efficient burden-sharing policy that will equip itself to respond effectively to mass refugee movement situations. However, the events of 2015 proved that there are still very serious

obstacles to the achievement of this goal. The increased number of arrivals to the borders of the Union has even challenged the EU's solidarity.

The response given by the EU to the mass movements of refugees and irregular migrants was the development of the EU-Turkey Deal, which was clearly not perfect.

The response given by the EU to the mass movements of refugees and irregular migrants was the development of the EU-Turkey Deal, which was clearly not perfect. These challenges highlighted once more the importance of developing a global system for refugee burden-sharing based on moral, ethical and altruistic principles in order to achieve and maintain international peace, stability and security. The Syrian civil war showed that Syria's neighbouring countries that host the majority of the Syrian refugees contributing to are international peace, security and stability from the perspective of a public good approach. In this specific case, by focusing on the Syrian refugees, the larger and richer countries have acted as free riders benefiting from the provided "public good" by the refugee hosting countries.

In the last couple of years, Turkey has been acting as a provider of public good without any significant contribution from the EU or elsewhere. So far, financial and physical burden-sharing offered by the international community or by the EU has been quite limited. This absence has supported a negative public opinion in Turkey towards the EU and its member states. The lack of solidarity between the international community and Turkey has also limited the standards of protection that could have been offered to the Syrian refugees hosted by the Turkish state. Hence, a more equitable, effective and efficient refugee burden-sharing is absolutely necessary and critical not only to safeguard international stability and security but also to provide an effective and efficient refugee protection. This article presented these discussions on the establishment of an effective burden-sharing on refugee protection. Looking at the steps that have been taken by the EU and the possible steps that could have been taken, it is important to keep in mind that at the core of refugee protection lays the concept of the protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms. Discussions on refugee protection should be based on this fundamental principle in order to be efficient, effective and durable.

In the last couple of years, Turkey has been acting as a provider of public good without any significant contribution from the EU or elsewhere.

Endnotes

- 1 This article does not utilize the common usage of the term the "Syrian refugee crisis". Asylum seekers or refugees themselves did not cause the crisis in 2015. I argue that the crisis was a direct result of the inability or ineffectiveness of the states to provide international protection to persons in need of protection. This research therefore adopts the term "refugee protection crisis".
- 2 In some literature, the concept "responsibility sharing" is used instead of "burdensharing". UNHCR is also adopting the usage of "responsibility sharing." However, the 1951 Geneva Convention frames this concept as "burden-sharing" and this article utilizes the original form of this concept adopted from the 1951 Convention.
- 3 UN, *Universal Declaration of Human Rights*, UN General Assembly Resolution, 217(III), 1948, at http://www.un-documents.net/a3r217a.htm (last visited 24 January 2017).
- 4 Ibid., Article 14.1.
- 5 UNHCR, Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees, July 28 1951, Article 1 (A).
- 6 UNHCR, Convention and Protocol Relating to The Status of Refugees, 28 July 1951, Preamble.
- 7 Ibid.
- 8 Ibid.
- 9 Paul A. Samuelson, "The Pure Theory of Public Expenditure", *Review of Economics and Statistics*, Vol. 36, No. 4 (November 1954), p. 387.
- 10 John G. Head, "Public goods and Public Policy", *Public Finance*, No. 3 (1962), p. 197-221.
- 11 For more information see also Hal R. Varian, *Microeconomic Analysis*, New York, Norton Publishing Co., 1992; Andreu Mas-Colell, Michael D. Whinston, and Jerry R. Green, *Microeconomic Theory*, New York, Oxford University Press, 1995; or Hugh Gravelle and Ray Rees, *Microeconomics*, New York, Pears Education, 2004.
- 12 Mancur Olson and Richard Zeckhauser, "An Economic Theory of Alliances", *The Review* of Economics and Statistics, Vol. 48, No. 3, (1996), p. 3.
- 13 Ibid., p. 1.
- 14 Ibid., p. 6.
- 15 David N. Hyman, Public Finance, Chicago, Dryden Press, 1983.
- 16 Mauro Mare, "Public Goods, Free Riding and NATO Defence Burden Sharing", The International Spectator: Italian Journal of International Affairs, Vol. 23, No. 1 (1988), p. 7-15.

- 17 Eiko Thielemann and Torun Dewan, "The Myth of Free-riding: Refugee Protection and Implicit Burden-sharing", *West European Politics*, Vol.29, No.2, (2006), p.351.
- 18 Ibid., p.352.
- 19 Astri Suhrke, "Burden-sharing during Refugee Emergencies: The Logic of Collective Versus National Action", *Journal of Refugee Studies*, Vol.11, No.4 (1998), p. 397.
- 20 Ibid., p. 396.
- 21 Ibid., p. 398.
- 22 Marc A. Levy, Oran Y. Young, and Michael Zürn, "The Study of International Regimes", *European Journal of International Relations*, Vol.1, No.3 (1995), p. 267-330.
- 23 Suhrke, Burden-sharing during Refugee Emergencies, p. 399.
- 24 UNCHR, Syrian Emergency, at http://www.unhcr.org/syria-emergency.html, (last visited 8 October 2017)
- 25 "Syrian refugee crisis FAQ: What you need to know", World Vision, at https://www. worldvision.org/refugees-news-stories/syria-refugee-crisis-faq-war-affecting-children (last visited 22 January 2017).
- 26 "Humanitarian Response to Syria", at https://www.humanitarianresponse.info/en/ node/117522 (last visited 7 February 2017).
- 27 Ahmet Davutoğlu, Stratejik Derinlik, İstanbul, Küre Yayınları, 2001.
- 28 Başak Kale, "Turkey's Transforming Visa Policy: Integration or Divergence with the EU?", Barcelona, CIDOB Publications, at http://www.eu4seas.eu/index.php?option=com_con tent&task=view&id=75&Itemid=23 (last visited 3 February 2017).
- 29 "Law on Foreigners and International Protection", at http://www.goc.gov.tr/files/files/ eng_minikanun_5_son.pdf (last visited 7 February 2017).
- 30 Interview, UNHCR Ankara Office, 7 February 2017.
- 31 Michael D. Shear and Helene Cooper, "Trump Bars Refugees and Citizens of 7 Muslim Countries", *The New York Times*, 27 January 2017.
- 32 The US judicial authorities filed cases with respect to the legality and constitutionality of the President Trump's so-called the "Muslim ban." See also http://www.express.co.uk/ news/world/767006/US-Judge-Brinkema-grants-injunction-to-stop-Trump-muslimban-Virginia-Democrat-Herring (last visited 15 February 2017). A new version of the "Muslim ban" has been accepted due to the court rulings against the ban. See http:// www.cnn.com/2017/06/29/politics/revised-travel-ban-thursday/index.html (last visited 8 October 2017). A new ban is introduced for visa applications from Turkey by the US

Department of State in October 2017, which can also have repercussions for the refugee resettlement processes from Turkey, at http://t24.com.tr/haber/abd-turkiyeden-yapilan-vize-basvurularini-askiya-aldi,460018 (last visited 8 October 2017)

- 33 "250 Suriyeli sınırı geçerek Türkiye'den sığınma istedi", at http://t24.com.tr/haber/250suriyeli-siniri-gecerek-turkiyeden-siginma-is,142095 (last visited 2 January 2017).
- 34 "Türkiye, Suriyelilere BM yardımını hiçbir zaman kabul etmedi", Interview with Metin Çörabatır, at http://t24.com.tr/haber/turkiye-suriyelilere-bm-yardimini-hicbir-zamankabul-etmedi,243322 (last visited 6 January 2017).
- 35 "Geçici Korumamız Altındaki Suriyeliler", at http://www.goc.gov.tr/icerik6/temporaryprotection_915_1024_4748_icerik (last visited 8 February 2018).
- 36 Interview, UNHCR Ankara Office, 7 February 2017.
- 37 The data for 2016 or 2017 are not disclosed, at http://www.goc.gov.tr/icerik6/ international-protection_915_1024_4747_icerik (last visited 8 February 2018).
- 38 Türkiye'de çadır ve konteynerlardan oluşan mülteci kampları "barınma merkezi" adı altında anılmaktadır. Toplam 10 ilde 14 çadırkent ve 9 konteyner kent bulunmaktadır. For more information see: "Barınma Merkezlerinde Son Durum", at https://www.afad. gov.tr/tr/2374/Barinma-Merkezlerinde-Son-Durum (last visited 2 January 2017)
- 39 For more information see: "Türkiye'deki Suriyeli Sığınmacılar 2013 Saha Araştırması Raporu", at https://www.afad.gov.tr/upload/Node/2376/files/60-2013123015491syrian-refugees-in-turkey-2013_baski_30_12_2013_tr.pdf (last visited 4 January 2017)
- 40 Murat Erdoğan, Türkiye'deki Suriyeliler: Toplumsal Kabul ve Uyum, İstanbul, Bilgi University Press, 2015.
- 41 "PM Erdoğan: We are hosting around two hundred Syrian brothers as guests", at http://t24.com.tr/haber/erdogan-200-bine-yakin-suriyeli-kardesimizi-misafir-ediyoruz,218698 (last visited 10 November 2016)
- 42 President Erdoğan declared that approximately 10,000 high-skilled Syrians under temporary protection will be given citizenship in Turkey before the end of April 2016, "Erdoğan'dan Suriyeliler için Vatandaşlık Açıklaması", at http://www.dw.com/tr/ erdo%C4%9Fandan-suriyeliler-i%C3%A7in-vatanda%C5%9Fl%C4%B1k-a%C3%A7 %C4%B1klamas%C4%B1/a-37043731 (last visited 20 January 2017)
- 43 "Geçici Koruma Yönetmeliği (Temporary Protection Regulation)", 22 October 2014, at http://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2014/10/20141022-15-1.pdf (last visited 20 January 2017).
- 44 Council Directive, 2001/55/EC, 20 July 2001, Temporary Protection Directive in Mass Influx Situations, at http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:200 1:212:0012:0023:EN:PDF (last visited 2 January 2017)

- 45 "Geçici Koruma Yönetmeliği" (Temporary Protection Regulation), 22 October 2014, at http://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2014/10/20141022-15-1.pdf (last visited 15 January 2017)
- 46 Elizabeth Ferris and Kemal Kirişçi, "Consequences of Chaos", Washington D.C.: Bookings Institution Press, (2016), p.35.
- 47 "Eastern Mediterranean Route", at http://frontex.europa.eu/trends-and-routes/easternmediterranean-route/ (last visited 11 November 2016).
- 48 Başak Kale, "EU-Turkey Action Plan Imperfect Also Pragmatic", On Turkey Series, German Marshall Fund of the US, Washington D.C., at http://www.gmfus.org/ publications/eu-turkey-action-plan-imperfect-also-pragmatic (last visited 15 January 2017).
- 49 Başak Kale, "Asylum Policy and the Future of Turkey-EU Relations: Between Cooperation and Conflict," FEUTURE Online papers, March 2018, at www.feuture.eu (last visited 20 December 2017).
- 50 "Turkey PM: Syria no-fly zone needed", at http://www.bbc.com/news/worldeurope-33868627 (last visited 5 November 2016); "U.S. official: Turkey air base pact has 'nearly the same effect' as a no-fly zone", at http://edition.cnn.com/2015/07/27/world/ turkey-isis-us/ (last visited 10 December 2016).
- 51 Ferris and Kirişçi, "Consequences of Chaos", p. 49.
- 52 "Islamic State and the crisis in Iraq and Syria in maps", at http://www.bbc.com/ news/world-middle-east-27838034 (last visited 20 January 2017); "How ISIS Spread in the Middle East", The Atlantic, 29 October 2015, https://www.theatlantic.com/ international/archive/2015/10/how-isis-started-syria-iraq/412042/__(last visited 20 January 2017).
- 53 "Resettlement Fact Sheet 2015", at http://www.unhcr.org/524c31a09 (last visited 10 December 2016).
- 54 UNHCR, Syria Regional Refugee Response: Inter-Agency Information Sharing Portal, at http://data.unhcr.org/syrianrefugees/regional.php (last visited 22 January 2017).
- 55 Eiko Thielemann and Torun Dewan, "The Myth of Free-riding", p. 351.
- 56 Ferris and Kirişçi, "Consequences of Chaos", p. 39.
- 57 Ibid.
- 58 For more details on general conditions see Ferris and Kirişçi, op. cit., 2016, pp.33-70; For services given by municipalities see also Murat Erdoğan, "Kopuş"tan "Uyum"a Kent Mültecileri: Suriyeli Mülteciler ve Belediyelerin Süreç Yönetimi, 2017, İstanbul, Marmara Belediyeler Birliği.

- 59 See funding requirements section UNHCR, Syria Regional Refugee Response: Inter-Agency Information Sharing Portal, at http://data.unhcr.org/syrianrefugees/regional. php (last visited 22 January 2017).
- 60 Başak Kale, Bir Gün, "Suriyeli Mültecilerin Umuda Yolculuğu", at http://www.birgun. net/haber-detay/suriyeli-multecilerin-umuda-yolculugu-99572.html (last visited 15 October 2016).
- 61 "710.000 Migrants Entered EU in the First Nine Months of 2015", at http://frontex. europa.eu/news/710-000-migrants-entered-eu-in-first-nine-months-of-2015-NUiBkk (last visited 10 January 2017).
- 62 "Eastern Mediterranean Route", at http://frontex.europa.eu/trends-and-routes/easternmediterranean-route/ (last visited 15 January 2017).
- 63 Başak Kale, "Geri göndermeler Avrupa bütünleşmesinin sonu olabilir", at, http:// www.birgun.net/haber-detay/geri-gondermeler-avrupa-butunlesmesinin-sonuolabilir-108656.html_(last visited 15 October 2016).
- 64 Sandra Lavenex, "Passing the Buck': European Union Refugee Policies towards Central and Eastern Europe", *Journal of Refugee Studies*, Vol. 11, No. 2 (1998), p. 128.
- 65 Council Directive 2003/9/EC, 27 January 2003.
- 66 Eiko Thielemann and Torun Dewan, "The Myth of Free-riding", p. 352.
- 67 Ibid.
- 68 IOM, Migrant Fatalities in Mediterranean in 2015, at http://www.iom.int/news/iomcounts-3771-migrant-fatalities-mediterranean-2015 (last visited 15 January 2017).
- 69 This unit was later dissolved in May 2016 when PM Davutoğlu resigned from his position, "Davutoğlunu'nun İstifası: Şimdi Ne Olacak?", at http://www.bbc.com/turkce/haberler/2016/05/160505_davutoglu_analiz_arslan (last visited 15 January 2017).
- 70 Council Statement on Turkey-EU, 18.03.2016, at http://www.consilium.europa.eu/ press-releases-pdf/2016/3/40802210113_en.pdf (last visited 20 January 2017).
- 71 Kemal Kirişçi, "How the EU and Turkey can work together on refugees", Brookings Institute, 3 December 2015, http://www.brookings.edu/blogs/order-from-chaos/ posts/2015/12/03-turkey-eu-deal-on-syrian-refugees-kirisci (last visited 22 January 2017).
- 72 Menekşe Tokyay, "Refugees to Pay High Price for the Turkey-EU Deal", *Al Arabiya*, at http://english.alarabiya.net/en/perspective/analysis/2015/12/03/EU-Turkey-migrant-deal-brings-some-doubts.html (last visited 6 January 2017).
- 73 Council Statement on Turkey-EU, at http://www.consilium.europa.eu/press-releases-pdf/2016/3/40802210113_en.pdf (last visited 20 January 2017).

83

- 74 Özgehan Şenyuva and Çiğdem Üstün, "A New Episode in Turkey-EU Relations: Why so much Bitterness?", On Turkey Series, at http://www.gmfus.org/publications/newepisode-eu-turkish-relations-why-so-much-bitterness (last visited 15 January 2017).
- 75 Emiliano Alessandri, The Fallacies of Treating Turkey as Europe's Gatekeeper, On Turkey Series, at http://www.gmfus.org/publications/fallacies-treating-turkey-europesgatekeeper#sthash.twSwjItk.dpuf_(last visited 15 January 2017).
- 76 Başak Kale, "The EU-Turkey Action Plan is Imperfect, But Also Pragmatic and Even Strategic", On Turkey Series, at http://www.gmfus.org/publications/eu-turkey-actionplan-imperfect-also-pragmatic (last visited 8 October 2017).
- 77 Ibid.
- 78 Başak Kale, Angeliki Dimitriadi, Elena Sanchez-Montijano, and Elif Süm. (2018), "Asylum Policy and the Future of Turkey-EU Relations: Between Cooperation and Conflict", FEUTURE Paper Series No.18, at http://www.feuture.uni-koeln.de/sites/ feuture/pdf/FEUTURE_Online_Paper_No._18_Asylum_Policy.pdf (last visited 30 April 2018).
- 79 Ferris and Kirişçi, "Consequences of Chaos", p. 39.
- 80 "Central European Countries Ressit New EU Refugee Quota Proposal", *Washington Post*, 4 May 2016.
- 81 Mollie Gerver, "Refugee Quota Trading within the context of EU-ENP Cooperation: Rational, Bounded Rational and Ethical Critiques", *Journal of Contemporary European Research*, Vol. 9, No. 1 (2013), pp. 60-77.
- 82 "Only 1% of Refugees are Resettled Why are we so Threatened by them?", *The Guardian*, 18 February 2017.
- 83 Başak Kale, "Türkiye'de Bulunan Suriyeli Mülteciler ve Uluslararası Toplumun Koruma Sağlamadaki Etkisizliği" [Syrian Refugees in Turkey and Ineffectiveness of International Community on Providing Protection], in Murat Erdoğan (ed.), *Şehir ve Toplum*, No. 6 (January 2016), pp. 85-102.

84

Migration in International Relations: Towards a Rights-Based Approach with Global Compact?

O. Can ÜNVER^{*}

Abstract

International migration has climbed up to the top of the global political agenda recently. Globalization and the changing international political climate have given rise to increased migration movements in almost every part of the world. The new migration and refugee patterns now urge all nation-states - sending, transit and receiving countries - to get more involved in global migration management processes. Yet, their primary concern has always been preserving national sovereignty in controlling migration movements to their territories. Although the ratification process is progressing slowly, the International Convention for the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and the Members of their Families from 1990 (IRCMW) is the most comprehensive and rights-based legal instrument that relaunched norms and standards for safeguarding the human rights of all migrant workers, both regular and undocumented. The recently launched process of the Global Compact for Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration could enhance global concerted action for a rights-based resolution for current problems of international migration.

E-mail: canunver54@gmail.com

Key Words

International Migration, ICRMW, Global Compact, Migration Management, Rights-Based Approach.

International Migration-A Pivotal Issue

Until recently, the literature in International Relations ignored the current increase and dynamics of migratory movements in almost every part of the world. These movements have significant consequences on the foreign policies of the participating states, whether they are receiving, transit and sending countries. The foreign policies of nation-states are increasingly being influenced by the current dynamics of migration and they have to reconsider their political positions in line with international developments.

Moving individuals and groups of human beings, who are often perceived as plights for nation-states, is now, more than ever, of concern to governments. Currently, almost all states tend to

^{*} Assoc. Prof. Dr., İstanbul Ayvansaray University, Vice-Chair of the UN Committee on Migrant Workers (CMW). His opinions in this article do not necessarily reflect the Committee's standpoints.

adopt conservative policies regarding the free circulation of people, and use almost every means to keep migrants away from their territories. This type of old-fashioned but extensively practised political behaviour forces the governments of migrant receiving and transit countries to use constraint in legal and administrative policies towards migrants.1 In this respect, the fundamental human rights of migrants are insufficiently taken into consideration. In fact, they are even deliberately ignored.

Currently, almost all states tend to adopt conservative policies regarding the free circulation of people.

Although international migration is considered as one of the pivotal issues in contemporary international relations, nation-states still act as if concerns related with migration issues are solely matters of domestic politics and security.² Regardless of perspective, discussions on international migration developments have a growing influence on nation-states' policy determinations. The mass influx of migrants and asylum-seekers; the economic impacts of such influxes; security matters and recently also the humanitarian aspects of migration; all play a significant role in the architecture of international

migration-affected relations in countries. Irregular or clandestine migration is arguably the most problematic issue in this regard. It is now widely accepted that cross-border migration has turned into a global problem over the past decades that cannot be adequately addressed only by national policies. From the perspective of the destination countries, especially those with aging populations, labour migration is recognized as necessary, but in many cases, it is still rejected and often made difficult, at least for semiskilled and unskilled migrants.

Nation-states still act as if concerns related with migration issues are solely matters of domestic politics and security.

However, nation-states' tendency is still to make decisions regarding migration affairs in their own capacity; to try and tackle by themselves the various types of migration and migrant-related problems, including inclusion and integration. This attitude is nonetheless understandable, since nation-states are ardent on the sustainability of their territorial and societal integrity. Foreigners are generally perceived as a danger to the material and moral assets of the receiving countries. In order to come up with a global approach in migration management, international legal instruments by international organizations are being formulated and even ratified. However, the ego-centric behaviour of the states with regard to migration management still prevails in the world. On one hand, states do not want to abandon their sovereignty in this area, like in many other areas of state affairs. On the other hand, they depend today more than ever on the global decision-making criteria in migration affairs. One of the current fundamental problems seems to be the reduced capacity and willpower of the states to sustain their traditional style of migration policies without the recognition and wide acceptance of the global governance instruments.

Foreigners are generally perceived as a danger to the material and moral assets of the receiving countries.

In this article, the main issues of migration with a view to multilateral relations are discussed. Furthermore, migration global patterns of governance and how their future attributes could contribute to the solution of migration problems will be explored. International organizations are becoming increasingly active actors with regard to global migration governance. However, their capacity and

assertive power in achieving solutions is quite limited. One of the crucial international legal instruments of the United Nations is the "International Convention for the Protection of the Rights of Migrants Workers and the Members of their Families" (ICRMW) from 1990.³ This UN Convention addressing the rights of migrant workers and their families was the most comprehensive migration-related treaty in international human rights law, but no major Western immigration state has ratified it yet. In this article, the reasons behind states' reluctance towards ratification of the Convention are also reflected. Obviously, nationstates are sensitive about preserving their legitimacy to stay as the determining body regarding human flows into their national territories. As Stephen Castles justifiably states, this competence is indisputable and it is considered as the profound power of national sovereignty.4 The changing environment, both in global affairs and the inter-state parameters in sending, transit and receiving countries, would anyway influence nation-states' political positions in the medium term. Observers hope that the Global Compact on Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration, the global migration management process since 2016, will be the key element on the way to a resolution of world migration problems.5

Observers hope that the Global Compact on Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration, the global migration management process since 2016, will be the key element on the way to a resolution of world migration problems.

The perspectives for a universally applicable migration management strategy are still far from realization. Nevertheless. the international community realizes the fact that such a binding strategy is today more than necessary, because population movements, be they regular or irregular, voluntary or forced, will exist as a pressing subject similarly in the future as they do today. In the following pages, what part the ICRMW could play in this context, is discussed at length. Finally, the perspectives of the Global Compact on Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration will be presented as a new approach to find viable solutions to tackle global migration problems.

Current Issues of International Migration

As mentioned earlier, the consequences of developments in the size and structure of international migration have increasingly made this issue a major concern to governments everywhere. The perception of sovereignty is the most significant factor within the context of international migration of the nation-states. State borders serve as hindrances to stop 'illegitimate' foreigners from entering state territories and enjoying the same rights as citizens. Non-citizens are excluded from certain liberties and even human rights, which are ingrained in the national laws. Moreover, although one can argue that once relatively tight border controls have been eroded due to human smuggling and trafficking networks, the new wave of terrorism has forced immigration countries to apply even more restrictive measures than ever before. This state-centric standpoint is in most cases the main obstacle to global governance in common issues of the international Climate community.6 matters. environmental issues and international migration all belong to the realm of global concerns, which need concerted action at the international level. Among these subjects, international migration has taken an important place. The globalization process that has in fact neglected human circulation by and large might well represent the needs and demands towards a new migration governance strategy that should incorporate all types of international migration.

Climate matters, environmental issues and international migration all belong to the realm of global concerns, which need concerted action at the international level.

With the progress of globalization, despite restriction policies in the field of migration, the world is experiencing a blurring in the distinction between external and internal security matters. Terrorist attacks in various countries receiving migrants has raised the sensitivity against almost all foreigners, mainly new-comers, who are suspected as potential dangers to security. This intensifies consequently the securitization of migration and prevents a plausible approach to global management of migration, especially with the limited legal instruments that are used with abundant experience and expertise by international organizations. Another subject within the context of international migration is the increase in xenophobic sentiments and racist violence against the members of the immigrant communities of the receiving countries. Economic crisis as well as the changing neo-liberal structures of production foster social rivalries and hostilities between the existing working population and migrants, making the latter scapegoats

Migration in International Relations

in an increasingly tense social climate.⁷ Mainstream political parties in the involved democratic countries are primarily interested in gaining more votes in elections to consolidate their political positions and they even resort to the populist political discourses. This, in return, lead to failure in the struggle against populism and racism in those countries. Consequently, the governments show generally little willpower to combat racist attitudes on their territories.⁸ This fact definitely embodies the security matters in the receiving countries: It is not only a matter of threat or security against the society and state in the destination countries, but also a big concern for the interests of all migrants and members of transnational communities residing there, and has an immediate impact on their everyday lives. For the source countries, their citizens abroad are also a matter of concern, and such practices may have negative impacts on their bilateral relations with the receiving countries.

The permanent settlement of transnational communities in the immigration countries generates new grounds for policies and administrative measures.

Apart from these facts, the permanent settlement of transnational communities in the immigration countries generates new grounds for policies and administrative measures, and diasporas in the immigration countries have opened up new perspectives in international relations. Diaspora or transnational community policies of both sending and receiving countries are of concern to governments today in their relations with each other, and transnationalism presents new and complex connections between the actors within the migration phenomenon.9 These connections are mainly of a social, cultural and economic nature with a strong influence on the interstate relations between the sending and receiving countries.

Undocumented or irregular migration has become the common issue for all receiving countries in recent decades.

Integration and naturalization of the immigrants is another matter of discussion that is highly debated in the receiving countries. Integration is widely understood as a cultural process, which presupposes the immigrant to partly relinquish his own cultural identity and accept the imposed

cultural and social lifestyle, values and norms of the host society.10 To be integrated, the migrant however should enjoy equal opportunities and chances that are presented to every individual in the society.¹¹ In most cases, this requirement is either ignored or placed not at the top of the social agenda. This approach makes immigration the societies rather vulnerable, because social cohesion is an unreasonable objective without having granted equal rights, and when the sending and receiving countries may be pursuing conflictual trajectories their relations. Controversial in positions in the perceptions of the migration phenomenon in both groups of countries and among the migrants and host societies make the situation complex and almost unmanageable. In this respect, establishing common and widely accepted standards could be the best way to create a climate for enhancing integration. These standards should be treated and implemented within the global criteria of human rights.12

Undocumented or irregular migration has become the common issue for all receiving countries in recent decades. The climate of restriction or closeddoor policies to regular migration, especially of the unskilled, encourages migratory flows of undocumented migrants to some countries, where they hope for better living conditions for themselves and their family members. Internal disputes, safety concerns, climate change and especially economic problems are the push factors for the unskilled to move from their home countries. The world witnesses almost every day victims of human trafficking in the Mediterranean Sea, overfilled boats and drowned people from Sub-Saharan Africa and the Middle East.

The increasing influx of asylum-seekers and difficulties or unwillingness to tackle with the regional crisis that generate new migratory flows, have become major concerns.

On the economic side, in the age of globalization, the markets dictate migration policies and state behaviours to a great extent. The host countries are obviously interested in the economic benefits that immigrants can bring. Labour migrants, especially skilled ones, are most welcome whereas asylum seekers are generally seen as a burden regardless of their skills. Today, the differentiation of migrants, the global increase in the number of asylum seekers, the new group of professional managers from various countries in the global companies, and the new group of trans-migrants, have

all had a major impact on migration policies. As the migration structures are changing rapidly, the responses to these complicated problems need global attention more than before, since volatility and diversification in migration patterns are the major realities today.

The increasing influx of asylum-seekers and difficulties or unwillingness to tackle with the regional crisis that generate new migratory flows, have become major concerns. Generally, receiving countries feel threatened by the asylum-seekers' influx because of the high burdens associated with them and due to security concerns. Current terror acts in almost every part of the world, in which migrant involvement is often presumed, add fuel to the flames. In particular, the ongoing debate on the refugee influx from Africa and the Middle East to Europe has not only raised the question of critical concerns in the asylum and refugee policies in the European Union, it has also highlighted the foreign policy dimension of migration. The conflictual content of the political interrelations between the countries that are inevitably affected by the movement of thousands of refugees do not facilitate any easy solution that is in conformity with the human rights of the migrants. The receiving countries are highly concerned about the burden that the asylum-seekers may cause but concerns about the migrants' human

rights are not prominent on their list of priorities.

The main actors on migration issues are primarily states, and the migrants or refugees themselves do not play a decisive part even in their own personal destiny.

We see the same attitude in the language used on migration affairs, which is generally conflict oriented. States' security concerns generally dictate migration policies and these policies very seldom aim at solidary cooperation between the actors. The governments of sending and receiving countries have different standpoints in this respect. The sending countries, i.e. the migrant source countries, are profoundly interested in economic gains from the migration phenomenon. Migrants' remittances play a significant role for most of these developing countries and are seen as an opportunity for economic progress, if not a factor in meeting their ever-problematic balance of payments.

The main actors on migration issues are primarily states, and the migrants or refugees themselves do not play a decisive part even in their own personal destiny. As a result, the migrants' human rights are often neglected and instead, biased national interests such as security, cultural homogeneity and market priorities in the destination countries take precedence in migration policies. Consequently, the long-term desired and propagated idea of a global governance of migration seems to be a distant goal. The Migrant Workers Convention is heavily impacted by this political and almost sacred position. The relatively low number of ratifications of the Convention (51 as of 2017) confirms this state. However, a binding multilateral legal instrument has always proved to be the most appropriate means by which to establish common norms and standards for the protection of migrant populations throughout the whole process of migration. This approach urgently requires, beyond all objections by the state-focused political decisionmakers, the global establishment of a migration framework. One such tool is the ICRMW and the other is Global Compact, which will be analysed in the following sections.

The Influence of International Legal Instruments on Migration: The Case of the ICRMW

While migration has always been perceived as a global issue, the

diligence of nation-states to protect their sovereignty in discussing and implementing responses to global migration issues has usually prevented them from engaging dynamically international concerted in action. Nevertheless. international and intergovernmental organizations (United Nations, United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, International Organization for Migration, Council of Europe, and others) have managed to realize a series of legal instruments that have achieved in one way or another a positive international response. The "Universal Declaration of Human Rights" (1948), the International Labour Organization No. Conventions 97 concerning "Migration for Employment" (1949) and No 143, concerning "Migration in Abusive Conditions and the Promotion of Equality of Opportunity and Treatment of Migrant Workers" are among the international efforts to create global migration governance tools. Furthermore, the "International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights", the "International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights", the "International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination", the "Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women" and the "Convention on the Rights of the Child" all deal with human rights, including migrants'rights. Nevertheless, these legal instruments, beyond their unchallenged moral power, present limited competence and applicability since the sanctions in case of violating the rules herein are very limited. State sovereignty as a power parameter remains largely inviolable. Therefore, despite the quality of international legal instruments, the state parties may make reservations or even abstain from consistent implementation of the conventions that they have already ratified.

Relevant treaties accomplished by the United Nations and International Labour Office on migration are indeed appropriate tools to tackle with migration problems globally. However, their appliance cannot be imposed by compulsory means. Sovereignty rights, which influence the politics and societies in the host countries, do not pave the path for a global management of migration, by which national interests could suffer. This is the unaffected political position of the developed receiving countries of migrants today, notwithstanding the fact that, with globalization, many contrary achievements have been already realized. International legal instruments, treaties, conventions. recommendations and protocols as well as the judiciary options and political relations worldwide have had some positive impacts on the route to global management of migration and asylum. The difficulty at this point is the inception of a rights-based approach instead of the market and nationalistic policies that are dictating (negative)responses to the existing problems.¹³

Relevant treaties accomplished by the United Nations and International Labour Office on migration are indeed appropriate tools to tackle with migration problems globally.

The 1990 UN "Convention for the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and the Members of Their Families (ICRMW)", which ultimately came into force in 2000, is the most comprehensive international legal instrument for migrant workers of both regular or irregular status. This treaty created a worldwide standard in terms of access to fundamental human rights for migrant workers.14 The Raison d'être of the IRCMW is fundamentally to protect the human rights of all migrant workers, whether they are regular or irregular. It reflects, however, the migration perceptions of the 1990s and its most critical provision is the coverage of all migrant workers and their families, i.e. including the migrants. This provision irregular might be, among others, the reason

for the low number of ratifications and especially the reluctance of the important receiving countries to ratify. The Convention consists of nine parts.¹⁵ The introductory part (Part I, Scope and Definitions) is followed by Part II, a general non-discrimination clause; Part III, a catalogue of all rights; Part IV, rights for regular migrant workers; and Part V, specific categories of rights are depicted. In Parts VII, VIII and IX the provisions of application of the Convention (see the Preamble of the Convention in the appendix) are contained. The specified human rights in Part III of the Convention are the following:

The right to life (Article 9);

The right to not be subjected to inhuman or degrading treatment such as torture (Article 10);

The right to freedom of thought, conscience and religion, as well as the right to freedom of opinion and expression (Articles 12–13)

The right to not be deprived of property (Article 15)

The right to equality with nationals before the courts and tribunals, which implies, among other things, that migrant workers are subject to correct judicial procedures, have access to interpreting services and to the assistance of their consulate, and have the right to not be sentenced to *disproportionate penalties (Articles* 16–20, 23–24)

The prohibition of the confiscation of identity documents (Article 21)

The right to not be subject to collective expulsion and for any individual expulsions to be subject to lawful and correct procedures (Article 22)

The right to equality with nationals with respect to remunerations, working conditions and social security (Articles 25, 27)

The right to take part in trade unions (Article 26)

The right to emergency medical care (Article 28)

The right to education for migrants' children (Article 30)

The right to be respected for cultural identity (Article 31)

The right to transfer earnings (Article 32)

The right to have access to information on their rights (Article 33).

In Part IV further and more fundamental rights for the documented migrants are stipulated. These rights are in terms of access to information (Article 37), membership in trade unions (Article 40, equality of treatment (Articles 43, 45-54-55) the transfer of remittances to home country (Article 47) and expulsion procedures (Article 56).

Migrant workers may be temporarily absent from the country of employment (Article 38), they enjoy the right of freedom of movement, residence and access to employment (Articles 39, 51-53) and shall be enabled to take part at the public life in the country of employment (Article 41). The right to family reunification is also covered in the Article 44 of the Convention. However, this right is highly contradictive like the entitlement of human rights as described in the Convention to the migrant workers. These irregular points, in particular, seem to be the main obstacles to ratification by traditional receiving countries. As of November 2017, 51 state parties have ratified the Convention and 15 states are signatories to the Convention.¹⁶

Articles 76 and 77 require the constitution of a Committee of 14 independent international experts: "The Committee on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families (CMW), is the body of independent experts that monitors implementation of the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families by its State parties."17 CMW as a treaty body functions under the auspices of the Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR of the UN) and meets twice a year to review the reports of the state parties to the Convention.

Migration patterns and dynamics have, over the course of the last decades, undergone some essential changes, mostly as a result of neo-liberal globalisation.

The obstacles for ratification, as already mentioned above, mainly the inclusion of the irregular migrant workers under the umbrella of human rights, originate from the fact that the drafting epoch of the Convention (1985-1990) was the pre-globalization period. Migration patterns and dynamics have, over the course of the last decades, undergone some essential changes, mostly as a result of neo-liberal globalisation. The rights-based approach was bound to lose grounds to two main parameters: i) the market-based political positions; ii) the escalation in the number of asylum seekers and refugees.¹⁸ However, the global standards of human rights for migrants, as already underlined in the said Convention cannot be ignored and they constitute the main objectives to fulfil the requirements of a global human rights regime for all migrants.¹⁹ Notwithstanding the fact that the migration perceptions and worldwide applications have other priorities, human rights should not be discussed in a manner as if they were *a necessary* evil. The quality of the norms and standards that are set in the Convention

need to be assumed today as more future-oriented than a perspective of yesterday. The rights-based political position is and will remain a current issue for all migrants, including their family members, asylum-seekers and all other relevant groups of international migrants worldwide.

The Future of Migration Governance: *Global Compact* on Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration

On 19 September 2017 a high level meeting was organized with the Heads of States and Governments at the United Nations Headquarters in New York. The world leaders showed their awareness of the urgent measures that needed to be taken for an appropriate migration management regime. The emerging problems, especially with the presence of asylum-seekers in almost every part of the world, as well as the increasing international mobility of persons due to climate change and economic crisis, were the main starting points to launch an international high level meeting to discuss the problems.

In the declaration made after the meeting, modalities for the intergovernmental negotiations of the global compact for safe, orderly and

97

regular migration were formulated. In the "New York Declaration for Refugees and Migrants", the General Assembly of the United Nations requested to launch "a process of intergovernmental negotiations leading to the adoption of a global compact for safe, orderly and regular migration at an intergovernmental conference to be held in 2018, as well as its decision to work towards the adoption in 2018 of a global compact on refugees, and noting that the two processes are separate, distinct and independent". Furthermore, the General Assembly stated that "the global compact would set out a range of principles, commitments and understandings among Member States regarding international migration in all its dimensions; make an important contribution to global governance and enhance coordination on international framework migration; present а for comprehensive international cooperation on migrants and human mobility; deal with all aspects of international migration, including humanitarian, developmental, human rights-related and other aspects of migration, (...)". As a result, a Special Representative of the Secretary-General for International Migration was suggested to be established. The Resolution was adopted by the General Assembly on 19 September 2016.²⁰

The unprecedented level of human mobility with all its positive and negative aspects will only be mastered by a concerted action with the involvement of all member states.

As a matter of fact, the attempt by the United Nations was able to present new hopes for a global governance of international migration with all its dimensions and aspects. The adoption of the Declaration by 193 member states is a positive indication of support for the obligation to back a human rights-based governance program for migrants and refugees. Again, it is necessary to emphasize that the unprecedented level of human mobility with all its positive and negative aspects will only be mastered by a concerted action with the involvement of all member states.

Conclusion

The IRCMW, the Migrant Workers Convention, which is the most comprehensive rights-based legal instrument until now, can reinforce the global governance of migration together with the wide-reaching concept of the Global Compact. As a more binding treaty, there is a higher chance that the latter could be ratified by more State parties. We could positively estimate that the Global Compact, when it is accomplished in 2018, could enhance the ratifications of the IRCMW. Migration has always been subsistent since humankind has arisen. We tend to forget most of the time that human civilization owes its economic, cultural and social development to this mobility. Migrants throughout history have contributed to the building of nations, their cultures, and economic development. Ironically, nation-states do not appreciate enough the overwhelming positive impacts of migration and migrants. Their human rights are neglected; even their lives are endangered and they are viewed as unwanted foreigners in many countries. The United Nations, the ILO and, as a UN-related agency, the International Organization for Migration (IOM), are trying to establish appropriate conceptions for migration governance. It is now likely that the Global Compact on Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration will presumably contribute, together with all stakeholders, to a better management of migration, and guide nation-states for a concerted action on a rights-based approach in international migration.

The IRCMW, the Migrant Workers Convention, which is the most comprehensive rights-based legal instrument until now. Appendix: International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families

Adopted by General Assembly resolution 45/158 of 18 December 1990

Preamble

The States Parties to the present Convention,

Taking into account the principles embodied in the basic instruments of the United Nations concerning human rights, in particular the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women and the Convention on the Rights of the Child,

Taking into account also the principles and standards set forth in the relevant instruments elaborated within the framework of the International Labour Organisation, especially the Convention concerning Migration for Employment (No. 97), the Convention concerning Migrations in Abusive Conditions and the Promotion of Equality of Opportunity and Treatment of Migrant Workers (No.143), Recommendation the concerning Migration for Employment (No. 86), the Recommendation concerning Workers (No.151), Migrant the Convention concerning Forced or Compulsory Labour (No. 29) and the Convention concerning Abolition of Forced Labour (No. 105), Reaffirming the importance of the principles contained in the Convention against Discrimination in Education of the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization,

Recalling the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, the Declaration of the Fourth United Nations Congress on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders, the Code of Conduct for Law Enforcement Officials, and the Slavery Conventions,

Recalling that one of the objectives of the International Labour Organisation, as stated in its Constitution, is the protection of the interests of workers when employed in countries other than their own, and bearing in mind the expertise and experience of that organization in matters related to migrant workers and members of their families,

Recognizing the importance of the work done in connection with migrant

workers and members of their families in various organs of the United Nations, in particular in the Commission on Human Rights and the Commission for Social Development, and in the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization and the World Health Organization, as well as in other international organizations,

Recognizing also the progress made by certain States on a regional or bilateral basis towards the protection of the rights of migrant workers and members of their families, as well as the importance and usefulness of bilateral and multilateral agreements in this field,

Realizing the importance and extent of the migration phenomenon, which involves millions of people and affects a large number of States in the international community,

Aware of the impact of the flows of migrant workers on States and people concerned, and desiring to establish norms which may contribute to the harmonization of the attitudes of States through the acceptance of basic principles concerning the treatment of migrant workers and members of their families,

Considering the situation of vulnerability in which migrant

workers and members of their families frequently-find themselves owing, among other things, to their absence from their State of origin and to the difficulties they may encounter arising from their presence in the State of employment,

Convinced that the rights of migrant workers and members of their families have not been sufficiently recognized everywhere and therefore require appropriate international protection,

Taking into account the fact that migration is often the cause of serious problems for the members of the families of migrant workers as well as for the workers themselves, in particular because of the scattering of the family,

Bearing in mind that the human problems involved in migration are even more serious in the case of irregular migration and convinced therefore that appropriate action should be encouraged in order to prevent and eliminate clandestine movements and trafficking in migrant workers, while at the same time assuring the protection of their fundamental human rights,

Considering that workers who are nondocumented or in an irregular situation are frequently employed under less favourable conditions of work than other workers and that certain employers find this an inducement to seek such labour in order to reap the benefits of unfair competition,

Considering also that recourse to the employment of migrant workers who are in an irregular situation will be discouraged if the fundamental human rights of all migrant workers are more widely recognized and, moreover, that granting certain additional rights to migrant workers and members of their families in a regular situation will encourage all migrants and employers to respect and comply with the laws and procedures established by the States concerned,

Convinced, therefore, of the need to bring about the international protection of the rights of all migrant workers and members of their families, reaffirming and establishing basic norms in a comprehensive convention which could be applied universally,

Have agreed as follows: (...)

Source: http://www.ohchr.org/EN/Professional Interest/Pages/CMW.aspx) (last visited 15 May 2017).

100

Endnotes

- 1 Reginald Appleyard, "International Migration Policies: 1950-2000", *International Migration Quarterly Review*, Vol.39, No. 6 (2001), Special Issue: International Migration Policies, pp.7-20.
- 2 Rey Koslowski, "International Migration and the Globalization of Domestic Politics: A Conceptual Framework", in Rey Koslowski (ed.), *International Migration and the Globalization of Domestic Politics*, London and New York, Routledge, 2005, pp.5-32.
- 3 OHCHR Report, "International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families", at http://www.ohchr.org/ Documents/ProfessionalInterest/cmw.pdf (last visited 15 December 2017); Esen Akıntürk, "Birleşmiş Milletlerin Göçmen İşçilere İlişkin Sözleşmesi", *Dokuz Eylül* Üniversitesi *Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi*, Vol. 9, No. 2 (2007), pp.1-25.
- 4 Stephen Castles, "Foreword", The Whitehead Journal of Diplomacy and International Relations, Vol. 11, No. 1 (2010), p. 11; Andrew Geddes, "International Migration and State Sovereignty in an Integrating Europe", International Migration Quarterly Review, Vol. 39, No. 6 (2001), Special Issue: International Migration Policies, pp. 21-42.
- 5 UN Report, "Global Compact for Safe Orderly and Regular Migration", at http:// www.un.org/pga/71/wp-content/uploads/sites/40/2015/08/Global-compact-for-safeorderly-and-regular-migration-1.pdf (last visited 15 December 2017).
- 6 Antoine Pécoud, *Depoliticising Migration. Global Governance and International Migration Narratives.* London: Palgrave Pivot, 2015.
- 7 Jerome S. Legge, Jews, Turks and Other Strangers. The Roots of Prejudice in Modern Germany, Madison: The University of Wisconsin Press, 2003; O. Can Ünver, Alman Kışı: Neo-Liberal Çağın Almanya'sında Irkçılığın Hedefindeki Göçmenler, Ankara, Nika, 2015.
- 8 Ünver, Alman Kışı.
- 9 Martyna Tomiczek, "Diaspora Diplomacy About a New Dimension of Diplomacy: The Example of a New Emigration Non-Governmental Organisation", *Journal of Education Culture and Society*, No. 2 (2011), pp.105-123.
- 10 Wolf-Dietrich Bukow, Urbanes Zusammenleben. Zum Umgang mit Migration und Mobilität in europäischen Stadtgesellschaften, Wiesbaden, VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften, 2010.
- 11 Upendra Baxi, "Afterword. The Struggle for sSans-Papier Human Rights", in Marie Bénédicte Dembour and Tobias Kelly (eds.), *Are Human Rights for Migrants? Critical Reflections on the Status of Irregular Migrants in Europe and the United States*, New York, Routledge, 2011, pp.222-232.
- 12 Isabelle Slinckx, "Migrants' Rights in UN Human Rights Conventions", in Richard Cholewinski, Paul de Guchteneire and Antoine Pecoud (eds.), *Migration and Human Rights. The United Nations Convention on Migrant Workers' Rights*, New York, Cambridge University Press, 2009, pp.122-149.
- 13 Ryszard Cholewinski, Protection of the Human Rights of Migrant Workers and Members of their Families under the UN Migrant Workers Convention as a Tool to Enhance Development

in the Country of Employment, at www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cmw/docs/ cholewinski.doc (last visited 18 April 2017); Paul de Guchteneire and Antoine Pécoud, "Introduction: The UN Convention on Migrant Workers' Rights", in Cholewinski, de Guchteneire and Pécoud (eds.), Migration and Human Rights. pp.1-46.

- 14 International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families, at http://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/ CMW.aspx (last visited 13 May 2017).
- 15 Ibid; OHCHR, at http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/HRBodies/CMW/ StatRatCMW.pdf. (last visited 13 May 2017). The State-parties to the Convention are the following: Albania, Algeria, Argentina, Azerbaijan, Bangladesh, Belize, Bolivia, Bosnia-Herzegovina, Burkina Faso, Cabo Verde, Chile, Colombia, Congo, Ecuador, Egypt, El Salvador, Ghana, Guatemala, Guinea, Guyana, Honduras, Indonesia, Jamaica, Kyrgyzstan, Lesotho, Libya, Madagascar, Mali, Mauritania, Mexico, Morocco, Mozambique, Nicaragua, Niger, Nigeria, Paraguay, Peru, Philippines, Rwanda, Sao Tome and Principe, Senegal, Seychelles, Sri Lanka, St. Vincent and the Grenadines, Syrian Arab Republic, Tajikistan, Timor Leste, Turkey, Uganda, Uruguay, Venezuela. Some State parties declared reservations to various articles of the Convention. For example, Turkey's declarations and reservations upon accession are the following:
 - A) The declaration regarding Article 15: The restrictions by the related Turkish laws regarding acquisition of immovable property by the foreigners are preserved.
 - B) The reservation regarding Article 40: The Turkish Law on Trade Unions allows only the Turkish citizens to form trade unions in Turkey."
 - C) The declaration regarding Article 45: The stipulations of the paragraphs 2, 3 and 4 of the Article 45 will be implemented in accordance with the provisions of the Turkish Constitution and the related Laws.
 - D) The declaration regarding Article 46: The implementation of the Article 46 will be made in accordance with the national laws.
 - E) The declaration regarding Articles 76 and 77: Turkey will recognize the competence of the Committee on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families at a later time.
- 16 OHCHR, at http://www.ohchr.org/EN/HRBodies/CMW/Pages/Membership.aspx (last visited 13 May 2017)
- 17 Ibid.
- 18 Ryszard Cholewinski, Protection of the Human Rights of Migrant Workers and Members of their Families under the UN Migrant Workers Convention as a Tool to Enhance Development in the Country of Employment, at www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cmw/docs/cholewinski. doc. (last visited 18 April 2017); Patrick Taran, "The Need for a Rights-based Approach to Migration in the Age of Globalization", in Cholewinski, de Guchteneire and Pecoud (eds.), Migration and Human Rights, pp.1-46.
- 19 United Nations General Assembly. Seventy-first session. A/res/71/1 Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 19 September 2016. 71/1. New York Declaration for Refugees and Migrants.
- 20 Ibid.

The Comtemporary Lens in International Relations: Migration and Foreign Policy Nexus in Turkey

Yelda DEVLET KARAPINAR*

Abstract

Immigration has gradually become one of the main subjects of high policy debate in Turkey. Such a tendency has manifested itself initially through Turkey- EU relations, where immigration policy making has become one of the key issues of accession talks. The Syrian crisis and a massive influx of Syrians have also acted as a catalyst for consideration of immigration policy as a "hot topic" of the agendas of both foreign and domestic policy. This article aims to uncover the interrelations between immigration policy and Turkish foreign policy and to identify major trends and reorientations in immigration policy making.

Key Words

International Migration, Turkish Foreign Policy, Turkey-European Union Relations, Syrian Crisis.

Introduction

There is a considerable amount of literature written on different forms of migration into and out of Turkey. Throughout history, diverse waves and forms of migratory movements have always affected Turkey. The Iranian revolution, political turmoil in the Middle East, the end of the Cold War, the Gulf War, and more recently the Arab uprising and Syrian crisis have all resulted in a large number of people finding refuge in neighbouring countries, including Turkey. This is coupled with Turkey's geo-political position and geo-strategic importance as a transit zone between the East and the West, and ultimately has contributed to Turkey's becoming a de facto country of first asylum as well as a destination. Turkey is positioned at a significant juncture within the international migration flows between Asia, Africa and Europe. This connectivity to numerous emigration and immigration countries makes Turkey highly vulnerable to changing trends of migration and requires Turkey to streamline its policy responses accordingly. Given Turkey's vision of becoming a regional power as well as an international actor, this paper aims to address the major trends and reorientations in contemporary Turkish

^{*} Dr., International Organization for Migration Mission to Turkey, National Project Officer, Birlik Mah. Şehit Kurbani Akboğa Sk., No:24, Çankaya, Ankara, Turkey. E-mail: devlety@gmail.com

immigration policy making and its relation to Turkish foreign policy.

The politics Turkish of immigration policy has gradually been debated around main two contemporary drivers, namely the EU accession process and the migratory impact of the Syrian crisis.

The politics of Turkish immigration policy has gradually been debated around two main contemporary drivers, namely the EU accession process and the migratory impact of the Syrian crisis. Modernization in Turkey, political reforms driven by the EU accession process, adoption of the Acquis, and humanitarian assistance provided for Syrians arriving in Turkey, as well as the recent debate on the co-existence of a humanitarian and development nexus due to the prolonged nature of the Syrian crisis's migratory impact are all valid points; however, I would argue that this would not be enough in explaining Turkey's current re-structuring of its immigration policy. Turkey's engagement with regional consultative processes, international platforms and international organizations working on diverse dimensions of migration

have also contributed to Turkey's involvement in global discussions related to migration and encouraged the country to become an actor of the international migration governance.

The gradually evolving nature of migration studies in the Turkish context makes the field an important area of research also for the discipline of International Relations. This paper therefore aims to uncover the politics of immigration policy making in Turkey via putting the spotlight on the period after the 2000s. Furthermore, I also adopt an outlook in an attempt to underline the multi-policy level structuration of Turkish immigration policy by identifying patterns for contemporary migration trends. Building on Giddens' "concept of structuration",1 this paper employs a constructivist perspective in the light of the concept of multi-policy level structuration of Turkish immigration policy, which refers to the development, implementation adjustment and of policies in diverse fields such external affairs, development, as security, international cooperation, humanitarian assistance as well as economy- all of which have a direct or indirect impact on immigration policy making in Turkey. Such a perspective also has the potential to carry the contemporary migration management discourse to a further level, which is the governance of migration that
aims to enhance security, economy and rights.² The paper is divided into five sections. The first section briefly summarizes the migration and foreign policy nexus in general, followed by the Turkish context in section two. The third section elaborates on the impact of emerging foreign policy concepts on Turkish migration policies after the 2000s, and the fourth section identifies major trends and reorientations in foreign policy in line with the changes in migration policies. The final section concludes by bringing together the main ideas put forward in the paper.

The Missing Lens of International Relations: The Migration and Foreign Policy Nexus

Over the years, the issue of international migration has gradually emerged on the international landscape due to a growing number of persons living outside their countries of origin. This continuing increase has also triggered interest in the social sciences towards diverse thematic areas related to international migration, which was formerly limited across disciplines. Massey and his colleagues further elaborate on this point:

"Social scientists do not approach the study of immigration from a shared paradigm, but from a variety of competing theoretical viewpoints fragmented across disciplines, regions, and ideologies. As a result, research on the subject narrow, often tends to be inefficient, and characterized by duplication, miscommunication, reinvention and bickering about fundamentals. Only when researchers accept common theories, concept tools, and standards, will knowledge begin to accumulate."3

Over the years, the issue of international migration has gradually emerged on the international landscape due to a growing number of persons living outside their countries of origin.

Moreover, as underlined by Brettell and Hollifield, a considerable gap exists between the "social scientists who take a top-down "macro" approach, focusing on immigration policy or market forces from those whose approach is bottom- up "micro", emphasizing the experiences of the individual migrant or the immigrant family".⁴ This limited coverage of international

migration with its linkages to diverse disciplines is also reflected in the study of international relations. The issue itself has been marginalized in international relations with, as Weiner points out, certain questions often being overlooked:5 How do states' actions shape population movements? Under which circumstances do such movements lead to conflict and/or to cooperation? What do governments do in their domestic policies to adjust, influence and control such population flows? Building on these questions, it is legitimate to investigate the root causes for the limited coverage of migration studies by the discipline of international relations. The most common explanation of this marginalization lies behind the recent acknowledgement of international migration moving from the realm of low politics to high politics. Although the political science literature related to migration and international relations is quite limited, there are a number of scholars who have been directing their research interests to this emerging field of study.6

Hollifield⁷ puts forward three lines of inquiry for scholars of immigration within political science. Those include the role of the nation-state in controlling migration and borders; the impact of migration on international relations including institutions, sovereignty and national security; and finally incorporation, which calls for identity, citizenship, ethical as well as normative issues. Mitchell⁸ explains the late coverage of the study of international migration by political science and international relations scholarship based on three main relationships. The first revolves around the assumption that international relations help to shape international migration with the potential importance of state action to the dynamic process of migration policy making. The second asserts that migration may influence and serve the goals of national foreign policies, which would carry this transnational phenomenon from its traditional sector of low politics to the realm of high politics. And the third emphasizes that "domestic" immigration laws and policies may have an unavoidable international political projection.

The realist paradigm being the dominant approach during the Cold War period avoided having the topic of migration become mainstreamed due to the limited effect of migration on balance of power.

In other words, the realist paradigm being the dominant approach during the Cold War period avoided having

topic of migration become the mainstreamed due to the limited effect of migration on balance of power, the East-West struggle or the structure of the international system other than the refugees themselves.9 Yet, it is important to mention the growing importance of migration in international politics particularly considering the securitization of migration following the terrorist attacks of 11 September 2001 as well as externalization of the issue via EU level migration policy making. The next section represents an effort to contribute to bridging the gap between international relations and migration studies from the global to the Turkish context.

The Foreign Policy and Migration Nexus in the Turkish Context

Building on the conceptual discussions related to interrelations among foreign policy, security, power and migration, Turkey, with its multi-faceted migratory flows offers a valuable environment for observing the political implications of those conceptual frameworks. Tolay proposes understanding Turkey's impact in the region through different flows of capital, goods, people and ideas. Tolay further asserts that "the more dense, multiform, and multidirectional those flows are, the more central and indispensable Turkey becomes in its neighbourhood." 10

Today, migration and its impact on Turkey's foreign relations hold a multiactor nature. Non-state actors such as international organizations, nongovernmental organizations and even the private sector are also gradually engaged in foreign policy implications of immigration policies in Turkey. Moreover, Turkey considers migration as an important foreign policy issue where both migration and foreign policy concerns have become converged.11 The last two decades, especially after the 2000s, are crucial in reading the essentials of contemporary Turkish foreign policy given the increasing role played by diverse thematic areas such as economics, trade, security, and human rights, as well as the movement of people in Turkey's international relations. We also witness the rising of cultural and Islamic values coupled with humane and democratic ones. It is important to assess the impact of this new rising trend on migration policy making in Turkey. Within this framework, it becomes crucial to ask a couple of questions, such as: What is the meaning of migration policy in Turkey?

Today, migration and its impact on Turkey's foreign relations hold a multi-actor nature. What are the contemporary drivers and the dynamics behind contemporary immigration policy making in Turkey? What role does migration play within the framework of foreign policy making? Where does immigration policy stand in Turkish foreign policy today? The following section will try to answer these questions in detail.

Evolution of the Turkish Foreign Policy and Migration Nexus in the Post Cold War Era

Distribution of power is considered to be the main defining feature of international relations in the realist way of thinking. Such a distribution with its major consequences manifested itself as the "bipolarity"12 during the Cold War between the United States and the Soviet Union. The dissolution of the Soviet Union and communist order accelerated the spreading of capitalism all over the globe and the transformation of the world order into a unipolar one. As Markina states, there were no clearly defined enemies anymore.¹³ With the end of the Cold War, there has been an increasing attention on developmental differences. Globalization is а contemporary phenomenon gradually experienced all around the world. However, countries experience different levels

of globalization due to their different levels of development. The conjectural dynamics of the post Cold War era, the 9/11 terrorist attacks, and recently the conflict and fragility experienced in diverse regional contexts have all called for re-visiting the concept of polarity in the contemporary structure of the international system.

Contemporary polarity discussions following the dissolution of the Soviet Union have played an active role in the evolution of Turkish Foreign Policy as of the 1990s. Turkey, with its strategic geopolitical position, had to reassess its geostrategic role in the post-Cold War era. Following the demise of the USSR, Turkish foreign policy preserved its traditional security-oriented nature, which had been developed since the early Republican era as well as throughout the Cold War period, building on its threat perceptions. As underlined by Tür and Han, those threat perceptions included a mistrust of Western allies. Even though Turkey has positioned herself with the Western bloc, the foreign policy anxiety driven by suspicions about the division of Turkish territory by the West as well as the threat perception of being surrounded by enemies have all contributed in a mainstreaming of security issues within Turkish foreign policy making processes.¹⁴ Moreover, they emphasize that, although the Soviet demise was the sign of an end

to the perception of a threat from the Soviet Union, it was immediately filled in by "new" actors of Iraq, Iran and Syria as well as by instabilities in the Balkans, the Caucasus and the Middle East as the considered threats to Turkey's national security.¹⁵ All these events have also resulted in not only a questioning of Turkey by its Western partners from a security point of view, but have also securitized Turkey's relations with the West.¹⁶ When we recall the regional dynamics of that era, we see historical changes including the invasion of Kuwait by Iraq in 1990, the First Gulf War in 1991, and the oppression and atrocities targeted by the Saddam regime towards Iraqi Kurds. These all acted as catalysts for Turkey's "new" threat perceptions that revolved around Kurdish separatism and empowerment of the PKK by the above mentioned new threat actors during the 1990s.17

Contemporary polarity discussions following the dissolution of the Soviet Union have played an active role in the evolution of Turkish Foreign Policy as of the 1990s.

As Rubin underlined, Turkey has become a more visible and active

international player after the 1990s.¹⁸ In 1991, the Gulf War allowed Turkey to play a central role in the Middle East. Crisis in the Balkans, particularly Bosnia and Kosovo, made Turkey an influential actor in the Balkans and South-eastern Europe. Furthermore, the emergence of the newly independent states of Turkic origin brought up some potential for foreign policy making outside the scope of its traditional practices in the Caucasus and Central Asia. Developmental differences and ethnic conflicts among the newly independent states required Turkey to adjust its traditional foreign policy in line with the new challenges as well as opportunities. Traditional Turkish foreign policy had revolved around mainstream issues such as European Union membership, Turkish-Greek relations, and Cyprus.¹⁹ However, this new foreign policy adjustment also brought up a debate among policymakers and the Turkish public related to a new strategy, identity and set of goals.

Turkey has become a more visible and active international player after the 1990s.

Having mentioned Turkey's gradually emerging foreign policy adjustments around the issues of mainstream identity, strategy, as well as a new set of goals, it was Turgut Özal's approach of an assertive foreign policy as of 1989, which acted as a catalyst for structuration of the "new foreign policy".²⁰ Within this scope, that vision of the era with its open market economy and international cooperation driven nature was in need of new areas for self-assertion. The collapse of the Soviet Union followed by the establishment of the independent Turkic states in Central Asia called for a potential role to be played by Turkey in terms of its common cultural heritage, which was streamlined around the mainstream identity of "Turkishness". Within the same time period, Turkey's self identification as a Eurasian country was also applauded by its Western allies, given their hesitations about a filling of the "power gap" in Central Asia by Iran. Therefore, Turkey's emergence as a potential actor in Central Asia and its close engagement with the West had a relieving impact on her transatlantic partners, who promoted the idea of "Turkey as a new model," fuelled by its "secular and democratic political structure and its free market economy".21

Besides the economy driven early migratory flows, the Ahıska Turks made a request to then Prime Minister Süleyman Demirel during his visit to the Central Asian Turkic Republics and Azerbaijan in 1967, that they be accepted by Turkey.²² Upon the enactment of the Law for the Acceptance into Turkey and Resettlement of Ahıska Turks, No. 3835 in 1992,²³ in total 500 families, 150 in 1992 and 350 in 1993, were accepted by Turkey. The majority of these came from Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, the Russian Federation, Uzbekistan and Azerbaijan.²⁴ The common identity of *Turkishness* could be seen as the motivating factor for immediate acceptance of the Ahıska Turks by Turkey in 1992 coupled with a legislative framework on settlement.

Having mentioned Turkey's gradually emerging foreign policy adjustments around the issues of mainstream identity, strategy, as well as a new set of goals, it was Turgut Özal's approach of an assertive foreign policy as of 1989, which acted as a catalyst for structuration of the "new foreign policy".

During the 1990s, Turkey also opened its borders to 467,489 Iraqi people and provided humanitarian assistance to them after the Gulf Crisis.²⁵ Turkey, having previously accepted 51,542²⁶ Iraqi people after the Halabja chemical attack in Northern Iraq in 1988 as well as a mass inflow of people of Turkish decent from Bulgaria as of 1989,²⁷ had started to question how to respond to the emerging new influx from Iraq. Building on these challenges, President Turgut Özal proposed the establishing of a security zone within the territory of Iraq under international guarantorship, where the Iraqi people could be accommodated. Upon agreement by the US and a majority of the Western states, a no-fly zone, located at the Northern Iraq and Turkish border, was established to protect humanitarian operations and settlement of Kurdish refugees.²⁸

While it took some time for Turkey to adjust her position within the conjuncture of the post-Cold War period, the end of the 1990s brought forth an historical shift in terms of mainstream threat perceptions.

Within this scope, the 1990s were mainly the period for Turkey to witness an escalation of conflicts and wars in neighbouring countries, with a direct impact on mass migratory movements towards Turkey, initially from Iraq and then from Bosnia, from which there were 20,000 Bosnians between 1992-1995 and 17,746 Kosovars in 1999 who sought asylum in Turkey.²⁹ Given this migratory snapshot, one can say that the 1990s acted as the baseline for the contemporary nexus between migration and Turkish foreign policy from Central Asia to the Balkans as well as the Middle East. Concepts such as "activism" and "multi-dimensionalism," which were employed in Turkish foreign policy during the 1990s, have also prepared a legitimate platform for the structuration of the parameters of the Turkish foreign policy and migration nexus of the 2000s.³⁰

While it took some time for Turkey to adjust her position within the conjuncture of the post-Cold War period, the end of the 1990s brought forth an historical shift in terms of mainstream threat perceptions. Those perceptions also called for a de-securitization of Turkish foreign policy.³¹ The traditional Turkish foreign policy was structured on two main building blocks: while the status quo aimed at preserving the established order within the existing borders, westernization focused on Western oriented foreign policy structuration.³² The traditional actors of foreign policy making were in particular considered to be the products of a higher structure with an isolated nature from all other political areas.³³ As of the 1990s, however, a streamlining of Turkish foreign policy at the international and regional levels has constituted its main axis. It has also been a period with increasing number an and diversity of actors affecting the world order; developments in information and communication technologies; as well as systemic changes that have all contributed to self-adjustments of Turkish foreign policy. The concept of regional power has also gradually been used with reference to Turkish foreign policy. Kut underscores the existence of confusion over Turkey's role in the post- Cold War at the time, exciting but blurred debates among politicians and the public in terms of whether Turkey could fulfil its newly emerging roles.³⁴

There have been many discussions and studies on assessing Turkey's soft power and regional power potential, and many of them seem to agree that Turkey's ambition and intention is in becoming a regional power.

The first decade of the post-Cold War period could be divided into two clusters: The first half focused on discussions that revolved around uncertainties, objectives, threats and opportunities. It was a period in which the role of NATO was questioned at both national and international scales. Furthermore, the impact on Turkey of a potential degradation in NATO's importance at the global scale was also debated. The second half of this first decade acted as an era where differences between Turkey's foreign policy rhetoric and practice became visible. The early 2000s witnessed the establishment of the Justice and Development Party (AKP). Under the AKP, Turkey, with its geopolitical stance, economic growth, population and military power has begun to explore its potential to transform those strengths into different foreign policy instruments in several thematic areas, from security to migration. There have been many discussions and studies on assessing Turkey's soft power and regional power potential,³⁵ and many of them seem to agree that Turkey's ambition and intention is in becoming a regional power.

As mentioned above, as of the 2000s, an important phase in Turkish foreign policy has been witnessed, particularly following the establishment of the AKP in 2001, and coupled with the development and enhancement of concepts in Turkish foreign policy making such as pro-active diplomacy, multi-dimensional foreign policy, and Turkey's power as being soft, smart and regional.³⁶ These contemporary changes in Turkish foreign policy actually have their roots from the early 1980s with President Turgut Özal, who tried to embrace Turkey's Ottoman heritage into an active diplomacy and foreign policy strategy with its neighbours. The late President Özal, with his vision to reassess and segregate domestic and foreign policy decisions, took radical steps forward in his era.³⁷ Some of these radical steps included "economic reform plans, European community membership initiatives, his definition of "trade" in return for American aid, relations with Greece, immediate recognition of the post-Soviet Republics, and his opening for cultural freedom for Kurds".³⁸

Given these transformations in Turkey between the 1980s and 1990s, it can be argued that they prepared the legitimate platform for the structuration of the parameters of the Turkish foreign policy in the 2000s. After coming to power in 2002, the AKP acted as a catalyst for an amalgamation of previously developed concepts to offer contemporary new frameworks of Turkish foreign policy. Walker asserts that "as a result of its Islamic roots and Muslim outlook, the AKP has focused on the unifying character of the Ottoman Empire and the Muslim values inherited by the Turkish Republic".³⁹ Such a vision sought for opportunities to enhance Turkey's multi-lateral and multisectoral affairs with its neighbours. Here, it is critical to emphasize the mainstream identity perception and discourse adopted during the 2000s by the AKP, which has revolved around the

notion of Muslimhood in conjunction with Turkishness.

It was only after the 2000s that the Middle East re-emerged on Turkey's horizon as a region where concepts of foreign policy, such as soft power, trading state, and role model, could be exercised. Within this scope, the "strategic depth" theoretical framework developed by Ahmet Davutoğlu, former Prime Minister of the 62nd Government of the Turkish Republic, became one of the key building blocks for Turkish foreign policy in the early 2000s. In his book entitled Strategic Depth: Turkey's International Position, published in 2001, Davutoğlu suggests that geostrategic location and historical depth act as determining factors in assessing the significance of a nation at the international level and asserts that Turkey will become a "central power" via integrating its historical and strategic depth within its geography.⁴⁰ Moreover, Turkey's active engagement with the EU via alignment to the acquis, the reform process, and a membership perspective, were key defining factors of the "Europeanizing" of foreign policy over this first decade of the 2000s.41 As underlined by Tür and Han, the utilization of foreign policy tools experienced a considerable change through this Europeanizing of foreign policy, as diplomacy, dialogue, multilateralism and institutionalization gradually replaced the mainstream

foreign policy discourse that was dominated by actual or potential use of force.⁴² It was also emphasized that Turkey's changing foreign policy conceptions towards the Middle East from 2002 to 2011 could best be understood through a "role theory analysis",⁴³ which was described as follows:

"Role theory analyses the cultural/ideational, geostrategic, political and economical determinants of a country's foreign policy, through eliciting state elites' cognitive filters and perceptions. Many studies analyse Turkish foreign policy with reference to state identity, culture, geographic location, economic material factors and strategic/military considerations, as well as state elites' political preferences, but only a limited number of these studies implicitly refer to role theory."44

Turkey's active engagement with the EU via alignment to the acquis, the reform process, and a membership perspective, were key defining factors of the "Europeanizing" of foreign policy over this first decade of the 2000s. In their study, Özdamar and colleagues employ role theory analyses and identify eleven Turkish foreign policy conceptions, six of which were considered to be more prominent before the Arab uprisings. Those conceptions included; "mediator", "defender of regional peace and stability", "regional collaborator", subsystem "good neighbour", "bridge across civilizations" and "trading state". However, the authors underscore their observation of a solid decline in some of those concepts, particularly "mediator", "defender of regional peace and stability", "regional subsystem collaborator", and "good neighbour," observing that those were gradually replaced by new conceptions such as "central/pivotal country", "active independent country", "developer" (i.e. assisting developing countries), "protector of the oppressed" and "model/example country".45

Turkey's efficiency in dealing with the economic crisis, considerable growth in international trade, reaching an agreement with the EU on a date for negotiations in 2004, acknowledgement of the PKK as a terrorist organization by the EU⁴⁶ and the US,⁴⁷ were some of the events and developments that marked this period. However, we may consider 2010 as a turning point at which the baseline of Turkish foreign policy started to move in a different direction. Walker puts forth the argument of Turkey's new location as

being at the core rather than in the periphery:

This new strategic outlook is not merely national but regional, and it shifts Turkey's self-perception of being on the periphery to an understanding that the country is at the very centre of important historical developments.⁴⁸

Building on its new vision in foreign policy making as well as the contemporary developments at both the global and regional scales, Turkey would need to follow a multi-directional foreign policy while situating itself in the core and producing its own foreign policy tools for different thematic areas.

Building on its new vision in foreign policy making as well as the contemporary developments at both the global and regional scales, Turkey would need to follow a multi-directional foreign policy while situating itself in the core and producing its own foreign policy tools for different thematic areas. So, what is the essence of this snapshot of Turkish foreign policy as of the 2000s in terms of the country's migration policymaking processes? Can we draw a solid framework of analysis in terms of the foreign policy and migration nexus in the light of those emerging conceptions? If so, what would be the actual and potential implications of those diverse and dynamic foreign policy conceptions on Turkish migration policy of the 21st century? These questions provide the basis of the following section.

The Impact of the Emerging Foreign Policy Concepts of the 2000s on Turkish Migration Policy

Turkey is one of those countries that have been affected by diverse forms of migratory movements throughout its history. The Turkish migration policy context has witnessed a gradual shift from a nation building process to an era of migration management and governance. The diversity in migratory movements has also required the country to develop diverse policy responses to the emerging needs of the national agenda. Since the establishment of the Turkish Republic, the period until the 1950s could be categorized as Turkey's nation building process. The 1960s' development agenda was dominated by the emigration of Turkish nationals as "guest workers" to Western Europe, particularly to Germany. Emigration of Turkey is one of those countries that have been affected by diverse forms of migratory movements throughout its history.

Turkish nationals as migrant workers to Europe was considered to be a crucial tool for development in terms of remittances, experience sharing, and skills development. The "temporary recruitment" of Turkish nationals in Europe, however, went beyond its temporary scope, with approximately six million Turkish nationals eventually living abroad. In line with the shift in Turkey's foreign policy paradigms, those nationals have been gradually considered as the agents of Turkey's soft power in the international community rather than being just agents of economic development. Turkish nationals abroad have gradually come to be considered as an important factor of Turkish foreign policy making processes due to their human capital in terms of diaspora networks and lobbying efforts as active agents of soft power. The establishment of the Prime Ministry Presidency for Turks Abroad and Related Communities in 2010 has also acted as an important catalyst for organization of the Turkish diaspora. Besides the traditional migratory flows, diverse forms of immigration have also begun to be debated in the Turkish

national agenda as of the 1980s. Turkey, as a traditional country of emigration as well as a transit country, also became a key destination country following the collapse of the Soviet Union and the conflicts in Middle East.

According to United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees statistics, by the end of 2016, 65.3 million individuals were forcibly displaced by conflict and violence, out of which 22 million persons were refugees.

A wide variety of issues, including the EU accession process; the foreign policy and migration policy nexus; international cooperation on migration management; national security and border management; the Syrian crisis causing more than 3.4 million Syrians seeking temporary protection in the country; national identity; citizenship; labour market needs; unemployment; social cohesion; protection of vulnerable groups and rights of migrants, have all contributed to the contemporary debate on migration policies in Turkey. This gradual increase and diversity in the migratory movements affecting the country has also become an issue of high political consideration for many

European countries, as many of the migrants transiting Turkey carry the ambition to reach the borders of the European Union.

This contemporary change has also witnessed one of the most severe humanitarian crisis fuelled by the mixed migratory flows particularly in the Mediterranean and beyond since the Second World War. According to United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) statistics, by the end of 2016,65.3 million individuals were forcibly displaced by conflict and violence, out of which 22 million persons were refugees.49 Moreover, the last couple of years have been recorded as the deadliest years, with more than 5,600 migrants dying or going missing during migration in 2015, and 7,559 migrant deaths recorded worldwide in 2016.⁵⁰ This situation has increased Turkey's strategic importance for its European partners and prepared the basis for foreign policy cooperation in the areas of managing migration. Turkey, building on its efforts to align its normative and operational framework with the EU acquis, has been experiencing a historical reform process, with the aim of transforming the normative and institutional framework with a particular focus on human rights and a comprehensive approach to migration management. The drafting of the primary and secondary legislation on migration

and asylum and restructuring the normative and institutional framework on Turkey's asylum and immigration systems have been among the main endeavours of the Turkish authorities.

Within this framework, Turkey has enacted the Law on Foreigners and International Protection (No: 6458) published in the Official Gazette on 11 April 2013, No: 28615 and has fully come into force as of 11 April 2014, as the Directorate General on Migration Management (DGMM) took over the relevant roles and responsibilities from the Directorate General of Security.⁵¹ This Law marks a milestone in Turkish migration history. Being a first of its kind primary legislation on migration, it makes substantial changes in the Turkish immigration and asylum system, as well as outlawing the Law on Residence and Travels of Foreigners (No: 5683) in Turkey.

With the enactment of the Law on Foreigners and International Protection in 2013, Turkey witnessed a landmark achievement for the Turkish migration management system through the establishment of the *Directorate General* on Migration Management under the Ministry of the Interior, which then became the leading actor of Turkish migration policy. There were several motivating factors preparing the basis for drafting the Law on Foreigners and International Protection. These include: With the enactment of the Law on Foreigners and International Protection in 2013, Turkey witnessed a landmark achievement for the Turkish migration management system through the establishment of the *Directorate General on Migration Management*.

of "Increasing recognition Turkey's economic power and immigration projections connected to it, growing belief in the ability to control migration and the benefits of such control, lessons learned from EU experiences pertaining to migration management, conditionalities stemming from the EU accession process, increasing awareness on the international human rights standards through the advocacy roles of INGOs and NGOs and finally European Court of Human Rights (ECHR) decisions, which has criticized Turkey for lack of a legislative protect system migrants' to rights."52

It is also crucial to mention the current national efforts towards regulating the administrative and legislative policies on migration management. While establishing legislation with a view to harmonise with EU norms, it is important that Turkey not only fulfils its obligations arising from international law concerning asylum and migration but also identifies its objectives and principles, taking into account Turkey's circumstances. Three subjective important developments took place in Turkey's decision-making processes, especially on issues of migration and foreign policy, including "a change in foreign policy outlook, a change in the distribution of power within the Turkish bureaucracy and government, and an increase in the role played by non-state actors".53

Another dimension of migration in terms of its usage as a foreign policy tool lies in the increasing number of qualified foreigners, especially international students. Nye elaborates that foreign students affect a state's reputation in addition to enhancing its soft power.⁵⁴ Within this scope, it is complementary to highlight the significant number of university students particularly from the Middle East, North Africa and Central Asia studying in Turkey. The country, besides having foreign university students as the agents for enhancement of its soft power, also has the potential to carry Turkish influence beyond its territories through the Yunus Emre Institute and its branches in nearly 60 countries. Additionally, the Turkish Cooperation and Development Agency has also been actively engaged in the execution of "new" foreign policy concepts. particularly in Middle East, North Africa and Central Asia.

Another dimension of migration in terms of its usage as a foreign policy tool lies in the increasing number of qualified foreigners, especially international students.

Today, we are able to speak about emerging migration policy paradigms Turkey. Migration policy is in gradually becoming a foreign policy tool for strengthening Turkey's power position in its region as well as in the international arena, due to its political, financial and cultural dimensions. Migration policy has also gradually become an area of public policy, with its new actors including the Ministry of Interior, the Directorate General on Migration Management and the Prime Ministry, Disaster and Emergency Management Authority in line with their migration management and humanitarian assistance efforts in the country. The Turkish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Prime Ministry Office of Public Diplomacy, Prime Ministry Presidency of Turks Living

Abroad and Relative Communities, the Prime Ministry Cooperation and Coordination Agency and the Yunus Emre Institute have also been getting engaged in migration policy debates both at the national and international levels. As a result of this multi-sectorial approach to migration policy, coupled with the migratory impact of the Syrian crisis, Turkish public policy making processes have also been witnessing the establishment of migration-related new directorate generals, departments or units under diverse ministeries, such as the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Ministry of Labour and Social Security, the Ministry of Health, the Ministry of Family and Social Policies, and the Ministry of National Education, so as to offer better services to migrants with diverse status.

Moreover, the contemporary migration policy provides the basis for multidirectional change as it calls for Turkey's participation, membership and socialization both at national, regional and global levels. Within this scope, the rise of migration through Turkey's open border policy, the EU accession process, as well as mass migratory movements of people due to conflict and fragile states in the Middle East since 2010, all call for multi-policy level structuration of contemporary Turkish immigration policy in terms of international economic relations, humanitarian assistance, diplomatic

relations as well as border and human security. International migration has the potential to be one of the key determinants of the foreign policy agenda from local to global scales. As such, Turkish migration policy has gradually become more politically debated and visible within the scope of two main contemporary drivers that the country has been engaged in, namely *the EU accession process* and *the Syrian crisis*.

The contemporary migration policy provides the basis for multidirectional change as it calls for Turkey's participation, membership and socialization both at national, regional and global levels.

Turkey's modernization, political reforms driven by the EU accession process, EU requests of Turkey to adopt the *Acquis*, and humanitarian assistance provided for Syrians arriving in Turkey might all be considered as valid points in explaining Turkey's positioning over the current structuration of its immigration policy, however they would not be enough. In migration politics, it has become clear that the Turkish authorities have realized that beyond the interest in adopting the

EU Acquis, there is also a more actual national interest to modernize Turkey and to reform migration related normative, administrative as well as operational frameworks. This can be considered as a very endogenous factor, which is generally not touched upon by mainstream scholars. So, in addition to the motivations driven by the EU accession process, Turkey has also its own vision and strategic priorities in terms of diverse fields including foreign policy, economy, development, trade and so on. Therefore, this endogenous domestic driver of all recent developments in the migration realm is critical to bear in mind when unpacking the politics of Turkey- EU relations pertaining to migration.

The EU accession process has been a catalyst on migration issues as well as being one of the defining and central issues of Turkey-EU relations in the 2000s. Given the contemporary changes in global politics, international migration has gradually become a structural issue on the global political agenda. Similarly, the migration and foreign policy nexus has shifted from the periphery to the core in Turkey's EU accession talks, in line with recent developments in the EU migration and asylum agenda in the aftermath of the Stockholm Program, that culminated in the EU-Turkey Statement on 18 March 2016. The overall framework the EU-Turkey deal focused of

The EU accession process has been a catalyst on migration issues as well as being one of the defining and central issues of Turkey-EU relations in the 2000s.

on countering migrant smuggling particularly across the Aegean Sea by returning "all new irregular migrants" crossing from Turkey to the Greek islands after 20 March 2016 back to Turkey.55 The Directorate General of Migration Management reported a year later that 915 irregular migrants had been readmitted by Turkey since 4 April 2016, the majority of whom were from Pakistan and Syria.56 The increasing of resettlement of Syrians from Turkey, the acceleration of the visa liberalization process for Turkish nationals, and the securing of financial support for Turkey in terms of sharing the burden were also complementary elements of the EU-Turkey deal. Within this scope, Turkish migration policy has become a highly political area of interest with its potential impact on the EU's security, economy, and external relations as well as domestic politics, coupled with increasing numbers of people on the move. Having said this, the future of Turkey's migration policy will naturally be impacted by relations between the EU and Turkey, given the inter-connectedness between migration diplomacy and membership diplomacy.⁵⁷

In addition to the EU accession process of the 2000s, the migratory consequences on Turkey of the Syrian crisis have had a direct impact on Turkish migration policy. There is no doubt that the massive influx of Syrians to Turkey has made Turkish migration policy more visible and more debated both at the national and international levels. However, such an increasing visibility of migration issues just around the Syrian crisis carries the possibility of limiting, deepening and politicizing the scope of the migration policy discussion, which could disrupt Turkey's vision of a comprehensive approach to migration management.

In addition to the EU accession process of the 2000s, the migratory consequences on Turkey of the Syrian crisis have had a direct impact on Turkish migration policy.

The volume and political context of the Syrian crisis has triggered consideration of migration issues at a political level. Syrians' mobility has captured public attention for several

reasons: i) the volume is very high (the highest volume of asylum influx in the world since World War II); ii) it happened at a time when Turkey was trying to redefine its role in the Middle East; iii) internationally the issue is also becoming more visible via Turkey's active role in response, which has been reflected in EU progress reports and UN documents such as regional response and resilience plans; and iv) the EU and the international community are pressuring Turkey to both ensure that refugee crisis from Syria is better governed and that border protection is better managed to curb irregular flows targeting the EU.

While considering the Syrian crisis and migration nexus, it would be beneficial to approach the issue according to two time periods. The first would cover the period up until the Arab uprisings in the Middle East Region, a time that witnessed Turkey's rising power in the region through articulation of its soft power. The second would cover the period of the Arab uprisings and afterwards, during which Turkey tried to revitalize its significance in the region through the Syrian crisis. Building on a series of interviews conducted with representatives of key governmental, non-governmental and international institutions as well as academics, a common vision underlying Turkey's limited foresight in terms of predicting the scope of Syrian crisis can be seen. It was particularly mentioned that Turkey's foreign policy towards Syria gave birth to an outcome that has had a huge impact at home, resulting in almost 3.5 million Syrians living in Turkey. Therefore, the massive influx of Syrians to Turkey due to the "open border policy" has acted as a laboratory for the recently enacted Law on Foreigners and International Protection No.6458 that came into force on 11 April 2013. Turkey's post-2010 Syria policy also has had a direct influence on the evolution of its migration policy. The following section will summarize some recent trends in Turkey's immigration policy.

Contemporary Trends in Turkish Immigration Policy of the Early 21st Century

Turkey has been affected by diverse forms of migration originating from conflict and fragility happening in different regional settings. Traditionally, those migratory flows of diverse profiles prepared the basis for Turkey's reactive and periodic immigration policies to be enforced. However, when we elaborate on Turkey's contemporary immigration policy vision, we see a proactive, holistic and a multi-policy level structure trying to keep the balance between security and human rights as well as between national interests and the level of international engagements. Turkey's immigration policy today, therefore, is one that is having gradually more significance in public policy discourse, international relations, as well as foreign policy making processes. The genuine nature of the 2000s is also crucial to bear in mind given the fact that immigration is becoming one of the main subjects of high policy debates. Such a tendency has manifested itself initially through Turkey-EU relations where immigration policy making has become one of the key issues of accession negotiations in line with Chapter 24: Justice, Freedom and Security, and has become more articulated around the discussions pertaining to the Turkey-EU Readmission Agreement and visa liberalization dialogue. The Syrian crisis and subsequent massive influx of Syrians have also acted as a catalyst for high policy level consideration of immigration policy, a "hot topic" on the agendas of both foreign and domestic policy. However, such an increasing visibility of immigration issues just around the Syrian crisis has also called for the possibility of limiting, deepening and politicizing the scope of immigration policy discussion, which would interrupt Turkey's declared vision of a comprehensive approach to migration management.

Within this scope, this section aims to unpack the politics of immigration policy making in Turkey via analysing migration policy changes particularly after 2000s. By doing so, it attempts to uncover the interrelation between immigration policy making and Turkish foreign policy in an effort to identify major trends and reorientations. The multi-policy level structuration of Turkish immigration policy as the core pattern also provided the legitimate basis for identification of nine contemporary trends of immigration policy making in Turkey after 2000s. Those include humanitarianization, developmentalization, politicization, diplomatization, regionalization, economization. securitization. externalization and projectization.

Turkey has been affected by diverse forms of migration originating from conflict and fragility happening in different regional settings.

The trends of *humanitarianization* builds its discourse on the traditional approach of Turkey being the "protector of oppressed".⁵⁸ The Syrian crisis and its huge impact in terms of mass migration to Turkey have prepared the legitimate basis for the deepening of such a trend in line with the enhanced operational and inter-institutional capacity on migration management in humanitarian emergencies. This

trend has also manifested itself in mainstreaming a human rights approach throughout the primary and secondary legislations on immigration in Turkey.

The trends of *humanitarianization* builds its discourse on the traditional approach of Turkey being the "protector of oppressed".

Developmentalization has shaped the discourse on Turkey's contemporary efforts in mainstreaming immigration into development planning. For sure, diverse migratory flows coupled with the massive influx of Syrians with their prolonged stay in the country have all resulted in pushing authorities to structure the required basis to include a migration component into development planning efforts. Consideration of migration as a tool for development is not a new phenomenon for Turkey since it dates back to the 1960s when Turkey, after becoming an emigration country, started to consider Turkish nationals abroad as agents of national development who could contribute to Turkey's social, economic and cultural development. It is also crucial to mention the efforts of the Turkish Cooperation and Coordination Agency (TİKA) in terms of development

assistance, particularly in Africa and Central Asia, which is an indirect manner of contributing to migration management via supporting the livelihoods of potential immigrants in their countries of origin. As elaborated through the study, Turkey has also been one of the countries where national consultations for identifying priorities for the Post 2015 Development Agenda take place. The country report for Turkey has had a considerable focus on the very cross cutting nature of immigration in development planning with diverse sectors such as health, education, employment, conflict and fragility, etc. To complement such a vision, the UN Development Cooperation Strategy 2016- 2020 for Turkey for the first time has had a dedicated pillar addressing migration and international protection, with well defined outcomes to be monitored over the next five years. Within this scope, ownership over the issue of migration by diverse actors such as the UN, NGOs, INGOs, academics as well as the private sector is on the rise. Turkey has also started to take a more active role in international platforms. To give an example, Turkey has been chairing the Global Forum on Migration and Development and, in 2015, the G20, where the nexus of migration and development has been one of the core agenda issues. Last but not least, migration in terms of emigration,

immigration, and internal migration have been mainstreamed into the 10th National Five Year Development Plan for 2014- 2018, which has acted as a catalyst for multi-policy level structuration of immigration policy in Turkey.

The trend of *politicization* reveals that Turkish immigration policy has even become a cross-cutting area where domestic and foreign policy converge. One concrete proof of such a claim justified itself in the public discourses of the political parties that were adopted for their general election campaigns of 2015. The politicization of Turkish immigration policy is not limited to the Syrian crisis. Another level of politicization manifested itself in the opposing views of the ruling AKP and opposition CHP related to the EU-Turkey Readmission Agreement. While the AKP put the spotlight on visa liberalisation dialogue with the EU in their public rhetoric, the CHP focused on the responsibilities and burden that Turkey accepted to undertake by signing the Readmission Agreement. There are recent debates on how the externalization of the EU migration policy is restructured so as to include a wider neighbourhood policy and thus readmission agreements are the main tools of such an approach by the EU. One can say that while the EU tries to externalize its migration policies readmission through agreements,

in the Turkish context Turkish immigration policy gets politicised through externalization of the EU migration policy. This is also another area where domestic and foreign policy converge in Turkey. Moreover, the EU-Turkey Statement has also witnessed increasingly politicised perceptions and application of migration policies as a bargaining tool between parties.

The trend of *politicization* reveals that Turkish immigration policy has even become a cross-cutting area where domestic and foreign policy converge.

Diplomatization is also a very recent trend, which manifests itself particularly in Turkey's relations with the EU, where migration lies at the core of the negotiations. With ratification of the EU-Turkey Readmission Agreement, migration-driven diplomatic relations getting visible are more and immigration is gradually becoming a subject of high policy debate. In line with Article 110 (1) of the Law on Foreigners and International Protection, the Directorate General Migration Management is on authorised to establish overseas organisations pursuant to the Decree

Law on the Overseas Organisations of Public Institutions and Agencies No: 189 of 13/12/1983. Within this scope, appointment of migration counsellors and migration attachés is foreseen in the main countries of origin for Turkey. Such a vision calls for the diplomatization tendency to be mainstreamed gradually in the medium term. Finally, the EU through the recently announced European Agenda on Migration foresees to assign migration liaison officers to EU Delegations in neighbouring as well as third countries. Such an attempt by the EU would catalyse diplomatic relations pertaining to migration, which would have a direct impact on the deepening of *diplomatization* in Turkey-EU relations.

With ratification of the EU-Turkey Readmission Agreement, migration-driven diplomatic relations are getting more visible and immigration is gradually becoming a subject of high policy debate.

The tendency of *regionalization* is valid for a reading of Turkish immigration policy in line with Turkish interests to be a regional power driven by its cultural and ethnic heritage. Turkey's

efforts at enhancing its power position in its region is an indicator for more emphasis on this trend not only in Turkish foreign policy but also in the Turkish economic context, as well as, in a latent way, in the migration and development context. At a time of power shift in several regions in which Turkey both tries to influence and is itself influenced by many actors, the trend of regionalisation of Turkish immigration policy is complementary to understanding the whole foreign policy debate, which in turn has a direct or indirect impact on the international migration debate.

The tendency of *regionalization* is valid for a reading of Turkish immigration policy in line with Turkish interests to be a regional power driven by its cultural and ethnic heritage.

Discussions over Turkey's economic development have a direct link to the evolution of immigration policy trends in line with the trend of *economization*. Turkey's commercial relations with diverse countries call for enhanced levels of interaction with those countries pertaining to facilitation of transnational mobility to contribute to the development of further economic relations. Turkey, in addition to its effort for alignment with the EU *Acquis*, also continues to follow a genuine visa policy via lifting of visa requirements with many countries, with a vision of enhancing its economic relations.

Turkey's commercial relations with diverse countries call for enhanced levels of interaction with those countries pertaining to facilitation of transnational mobility to contribute to the development of further economic relations.

Securitization has always been one of the core pillars of Turkish immigration policy alongside human rights and mutual interests. Furthermore, this mainstream trend of securitization finds its contemporary justifications in Turkey's efforts for better management of its borders and in the institutionalization of an integrated approach border management in line with that of the EU. Moreover, the crime prevention dimension of the issue with a particular focus on combating migrant smuggling and human trafficking also calls for an increased level of security to be one of the core defining factors in Turkey's immigration policy. The requirements EU-Turkey Readmission of the

Agreement are also other elements which prepare the legitimate basis for further securitization of immigration policy. As the last point, the effects of the Syrian crisis and the issue of foreign fighters attempting to transit through Turkey require still more attention on the security dimension of migration management.

In line with the increased level of importance dedicated to external dimensions of EU migration policy, Turkey has also been paying more attention to the external dimension of its immigration policy. The requirements of the EU-Turkey Readmission Agreement also put Turkey in a position to negotiate readmission agreements with the countries of origin for the irregular migrants, which directly offers another level of analysis for externalization of Turkish immigration policy. There is a genuine interest in understanding the way that European migration policy has been affecting Turkey via its instruments of externalization including the readmission agreement, visa liberalisation dialogue, and integrated border management support. Moreover, Turkey's efforts to convince its Western partners to establish a safe haven in Northern Syria as a response to Syrians' massive influx may also be considered as an attempt at externalization or management via externalization.

The requirements of the EU-Turkey Readmission Agreement also put Turkey in a position to negotiate readmission agreements with the countries of origin for the irregular migrants, which directly offers another level of analysis for *externalization* of Turkish immigration policy.

A final trend of *projectization* is a critical one given the increasing number and volume of projects developed in the area of migration management by numerous including international actors. organizations, international and local non-governmental organizations, universities, think thanks and even the private sector. As migration is becoming a "hot topic", the tendency of projectization of immigration policy making is also becoming more visible. Such a trend also calls for diverse costs and benefits for immigration policy making in the Turkish context. On one hand, one can mention the costs of this trend, which include the short-term nature of projects and risk of instrumentalizing the topic of migration via production of a "migration projects industry". On the other hand, the benefits of such a trend could be summarized as a proactive multi-stakeholder approach and

with effective inter-institutional cooperation, result-based planning and implementation, exchange of norms and practices, and enhanced level of international socialization among the parties involved.

Conclusion

This paper aimed to uncover the politics of immigration policy making in Turkey by putting the spotlight particularly on the last two decades. Its attempt to uncover the interrelations between immigration policy making and Turkish foreign policy and to identify major trends and reorientations in immigration policy making aimed to contribute to its originality. This study tried not only to unpack the essence of the mainstreaming of migration into the discipline of international relations, but also to mark the complementary dimension of the politics of immigration policy making in Turkey given the rising importance and acknowledgement of the issue with its cross-cutting nature of diverse disciplines. Moreover, its efforts to understand the migration and foreign policy nexus through the lens of international relations helped to reveal the emerging concepts of contemporary foreign policy and their potential as well as actual impacts on immigration policy making. Without mentioning the historical milestones and key developments pertaining to

the evolution of immigration policy making in Turkey, this study would not have a coherent approach. Therefore, an effort was made to reflect the main highlights through Turkey's history of immigration policy making, which included the impacts of mainstream identity consideration, perceptions of self and other, and their changing nature across time and space. Turkey-EU relations with a particular focus on the impact of the external dimension of EU migration policy on Turkey and the migratory impact of the Syrian crisis served as the two main subjects of analysis.

The multi-policy level Turkish structuration of immigration policy as the core pattern also provided legitimate basis for the identification of nine trends of contemporary immigration policy making in Turkey over the 2000s.

The multi-policy level structuration of Turkish immigration policy was unpacked through research the as the core pattern providing the baseline for development, adjustment and implementation of policies of diverse fields such as external affairs, development, security, international cooperation, humanitarian assistance as well as economy. The multipolicy level structuration of Turkish immigration policy as the core pattern also provided the legitimate basis for identification of nine contemporary immigration policy trends of making in Turkey over the 2000s. Those include humanitarianization, developmentalization, politicization, diplomatization, regionalization, economization, securitization, externalization and projectization. Given the evolving nature of immigration policy making, particularly from humanitarian assistance to development aspects fuelled by the need for synergizing diverse thematic areas, there is a certain added value for underlining the essence of each of the identified trends to contribute to the migration debate in the Turkish context.

129

Endnotes

- 1 Anthony Giddens, *Constitution of Society: Outline of the Theory of Structuration*, Cambridge, Polity Press, 1984.
- 2 Alexander Betts, "Migration Governance: Alternative Futures", *Background Paper for IOMs World Migration Report*, IOM, Geneva (2010), pp.5-20.
- 3 Douglas S. Massey, Joaquín Arango, Graeme Hugo, Ali Kovaouci, Adela Pellegrino and J. Edward Taylor, "An Evaluation of International Migration Theory: The North American Case", *Population and Development Review*, Vol. 20, No.4 (1994), pp.699-751.
- 4 Caroline Brettell and James Hollifield (ed.), *Migration Theory: Talking Across Disciplines*, New York, Routledge, 2008.
- 5 Myron Weiner, "On International Migration and International Relations", *Population and Development Review*, Vol. 11, No.3 (1985), pp.441-455.
- 6 James F. Hollifield, "Migration, Trade and the Nation-State: The Myth of Globalization", UCLA Journal of International Law and Foreign Affairs, Vol.3, No.2 (1998), pp.595-636; Peter Andreas, "The Escalation of US Immigration Control in the Post-NAFTA Era", Political Science Quarterly, Vol.113, No. 4 (1998), pp.591-615; Peter Andreas and Timothy Snyder (eds.), The Wall Around the West: State Borders and Immigration Controls in North America and Europe, Rowman&Littlefield, 2000; Eytan Meyers, International Immigration Policy: A Theoretical and Comparative Analysis, New York, Palgrave Macmillan, 2004; Myron Weiner, The Global Migration Crisis: Challenge to States and to Human Rights, New York, Harper Collins College Publishers, 1995.
- 7 James Hollifield, "The Politics of International Migration: How Can We Bring the State Back In?", in Caroline Brettell and James Hollifield (eds.) *Migration Theory: Talking Across Disciplines*, New York, Routledge, 2008.
- 8 Christopher Mitchell, "International Migration, International Relations and Foreign Policy", *International Migration Review*, Vol.23, No.3 (1989), pp.681-708.
- 9 James Hollifield, "The Politics of International Migration: How Can We Bring the State Back In?", in Brettell and Hollifield (eds.) *Migration Theory*, p.183.
- 10 Juliette Tolay, "Coming and Going: Migration and Changes in Turkish Foreign Policy", in Ronald H. Linden (et al.), *Turkey and Its Neighbors, Foreign Relations and Transition*, London, Lynne Reinner Publishers, 2012, pp.119-143.
- 11 Ibid.
- 12 Kenneth N. Waltz, *The Theory of International Politics*, Menlo Park, Mass Addison-Wesley Pub. Co., 1979.

- 13 Anna Markina, "Representation of Organized Crime in Estonian Printed Media", in Sami Nevala and Kauko Aromaa (eds.), Organized Crime, Trafficking, Drugs: Selected Papers Presented at the Annual Conference of the European Society of Criminology, European Institute for Crime Prevention and Control, Helsinki, Finland Publication Series No. 42, 2004, pp.157-173.
- 14 Özlem Tür and Ahmet K. Han, "A Framework for Understanding the Changing Turkish Foreign Policy of 2000s", in Özden Zeynep Oktav (ed.), *Turkey in the 21st Century Quest* for a New Foreign Policy, England, Ashgate, 2011, pp.7-30.
- 15 Ibid.
- 16 Tarık Oğuzlu, "Soft Power in Turkish Foreign Policy", *Australian Journal of International Affairs*, Vol. 61, No. 1 (2007), pp.81-97.
- 17 Tür and Han, "A Framework for Understanding the Changing Turkish Foreign Policy of 2000s", pp. 10- 15.
- 18 Barry Rubin, "Turkey: A Transformed International Role in Turkey", in Barry Rubin and Kemal Kirişçi (eds.), World Politics, An Emerging Multiregional Power, London, Lynne Reinner Publishers, 2001, pp.1-4.
- 19 Şule Kut, "The Contours of Turkish Foreign Policy in the 1990s in Turkey" in Rubin and Kirişçi (eds.), *World Politics*, pp.5-12.
- 20 Sedat Laçiner, "Turgut Özal Period in Turkish Foreign Policy: Özalism", USAK Yearbook of International Politics and Law, Vol.2 (2009), pp.153-205.
- 21 Bülent Aras, "Turkish Policy Towards Central Asia", *Foundation for Political, Economic* and Social Research (SETA) Policy Brief, No.12 (2008).
- 22 Bozkurt Zakir Avşar and Zafer S. Tunçalp, *Sürgünde 50. Yıl: Ahıska Türkleri*, Ankara, TBMM Kültür, Sanat veYayın Kurulu Yayınları, No.73, 1995, p. 49.
- 23 'The Law for the Acceptance into Turkey and Resettlement of AhiskaTurks', Law No: 3835, the legislation date: July 2, 1992, publication in the Official Gazette, 11 July 1992, Issue: 21281, Ankara.
- 24 Ibid.
- 25 Directorate General on Migration Management, at http://www.goc.gov.tr/icerik3/ kitlesel-akinlar_409_558_559 (last visited 26 April 2015).
- 26 Directorate General on Migration Management, Retrieved on http://www.goc.gov.tr/ icerik3/kitlesel-akinlar_409_558_559 (last visited 26 April 2017).
- 27 Filiz Doğanay, "Türkiye'ye Göçmen Olarak Gelenlerin Yerleşimi" Ankara, DPT, YBM, 1996, at ftp://ftp.dpt.gov.tr/pub/ekutup96 (last visited 26 April 2015).

131

- 28 Ibid.
- 29 Directorate General on Migration Management, at http://www.goc.gov.tr/icerik3/ kitlesel-akinlar_409_558_559 (last visited 26 April 2017).
- 30 Şaban H. Çalış, "Ulus Devlet ve Kimlik Labirentinde Türk Dış Politikası", in Şaban H. Çalış, İhsan D. Dağı ve Ramazan Gözen (eds.), Türkiye'nin Dış Politika Gündemi, Ankara, Liberte Yayınları, 2001, p.7.
- 31 Özlem Tür and Ahmet K. Han, "A Framework for Understanding the Changing Turkish Foreign Policy of 2000s", in Özden Zeynep Oktav (ed.), *Turkey in the 21st Century Quest for a New Foreign Policy*, Burlington, Ashgate, 2011, p.7.
- 32 Baskın Oran, "Türk Dış Politikasının Teori ve Pratiği", in Baskın Oran (ed.) *Türk Dış Politikası: Kurtuluş Savaşı'ndan Bugüne Olgular, Belgeler, Yorumlar*, Twelfth Edition, Vol.1, İstanbul, İletişim Yayınları, 2005, pp.46-49.
- 33 Information gathered from a roundtable on Turkish foreign policy followed Chatham House Rule on 5-8 March 2015.
- 34 Şule Kut, "The Contours of Turkish Foreign Policy in the 1990s in Turkey", in Rubin and Kirişçi (eds.), *World Politics*, p.8.
- 35 Osman Bahadır Dinçer and Mustafa Kutlay, "Türkiye'nin Ortadoğu'daki Bölgesel Güç Potansiyeline İlişkin Ampirik Bir İnceleme", *Akademik Ortadoğu*, Vol. 6, No. 2 (2012), pp.61-97; E. Fuat Keyman and Onur Sazak, "Turkish Foreign Policy in the Transatlantic Context: From Soft Power to Smart Power", Strategic Research Center of the Turkish Foreign Ministry, (2012): http://ipc.sabanciuniv.edu/en/publication/ turkish-foreign-policy-in-the-transatlantic-context-from-soft-power-to-smartpower/#sthash.QUdETWYO.dpuf (last visited 16 March 2017); Oğuzlu, "Soft Power in Turkish Foreign Policy", pp. 81-97.
- 36 Ahmet Davutoğlu, *Stratejik Derinlik: Türkiye'nin Uluslararası Konumu*, İstanbul, Küre Yayınları, 2001.
- 37 Joshua W. Walker, "Turkey's Imperial Legacy: Understanding Contemporary Turkey through its Ottoman Past", in Jerry Harris (ed.) *The Nation on the Global Era: Conflict and the Transformation*, Leiden, *Brill*, 2009, p.394.
- 38 Cameron S. Brown, "Turkey in the Gulf Wars of 1991 and 2003", *Turkish Studies*, Vol. 8, No.1 (2007), p.93.
- 39 Walker, "Turkey's Imperial Legacy", p.394.
- 40 Ahmet Davutoğlu, Stratejik Derinlik, p.563.
- 41 Tarık Oğuzlu, "Turkey and the Europeanization of Foreign Policy?", *Political Science Quarterly*, Vol. 125, No.4 (2010), pp. 657-683.

- 42 Özlem Tür, and Ahmet K. Han, "A Framework for Understanding the Changing Turkish Foreign Policy of 2000s" in Özden Zeynep Oktav (ed.), *Turkey in the 21st Century Quest for a New Foreign Policy*, Burlington, Ashgate, 2011, p. 20.
- 43 For role theory and Turkish foreign policy nexus, see, Bülent Aras, *The New Geopolitics of Eurasia and Turkey's Position*, London, Frank Cass, 2002; Bülent Aras and Aylin Görener, "National Role Conceptionsand Foreign Policy Orientation: The Ideational Bases of the Justice and Development Party's Foreign Policy Activism in the Middle East", *Journal of Balkan and Near Eastern Studies*, Vol. 12, No. 1 (2010), pp.73-93.
- 44 Özgür Özdamar, B. Toygar Halistoprak and İ. Erkam Sula, "From Good Neighbor to Model: Turkey's Changing Roles in the Middle East in the Aftermath of the Arab Spring", *Uluslararası* İlişkiler, Vol. 11, No. 42 (Summer 2014), p. 98.
- 45 Ibid., pp. 93- 113.
- 46 Council Decision (CFSP) 2015/521 of 26 March 2015 updating and amending the list of persons, groups and entities subject to Articles 2, 3 and 4 of Common Position 2001/931/CFSP on the application of specific measures to combat terrorism, and repealing Decision 2014/483/CFSP, at http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ TXT/PDF/?uri=OJ:JOL_2015_082_R_0009&from=EN (last visited 01 June 2017).
- 47 U.S. Department of State, Designated Foreign Terrorist Organizations, at http://www. state.gov/j/ct/rls/other/des/123085.htm (last visited 1 June 2017).
- 48 Walker, "Turkey's Imperial Legacy", p.395.
- 49 UNHCR Global Trends, at http://www.unhcr.org/576408cd7.pdf (last visited 15 March 2016).
- 50 IOM, Retrieved on http://missingmigrants.iom.int (last visited 15 March 2016).
- 51 *2016 Türkiye Göç Raporu*, Ankara, İçişleri Bakanlığı Göç İdaresi Genel Müdürlüğü Yayınları, No.40, Nisan 2017, p. 25.
- 52 Meral Açıkgöz and Hakkı O. Arıner, "Turkey's New Law on Foreigners and International Protection: An Introduction", Turkish Migration Studies Group at University of Oxford, TurkMis, Centre on Migration, Policy and Society, Briefing Paper 2, at https://www. compas.ox.ac.uk/fileadmin/files/Publications/Briefings/TurkMiS/Brief_2_Ariner_ Acikgoz_2014.pdf (last visited 06 February 2015).
- 53 Juliette Tolay, "Coming and Going: Migration and Changes in Turkish Foreign Policy", in Ronald H. Linden (et al.), *Turkey and Its Neighbors, Foreign Relations and Transition*, London, Lynne Reinner Publishers, 2012, p. 133.
- 54 Joseph S. Nye Jr., *Soft Power: The Means to Success in World Politics*, United States, Public Affairs, 2004.

133

- 55 European Council, at http://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/pressreleases/2016/03/18-eu-turkey-statement/(last visited 15 March 2017).
- 56 Directorate General on Migration Management, at http://www.goc.gov.tr/icerik6/ return-statistics_915_1024_10104_icerik (last visited 15 March 2017). UNHCR, Retrieved on http://www.unhcr.org/576408cd7.pdf (last visited 15 March 2016).
- 57 Ahmet İçduygu and Damla B. Aksel, "Two-to-Tango in Migration Diplomacy: Negotiating Readmission Agreement between the EU and Turkey", *European Journal of Migration and Law*, Vol. 16, No. 3, (October 2014), pp.337-363.
- 58 Özdamar, Halistoprak and Sula, "From Good Neighbor to Model", pp. 93-113.

Public Diplomacy through Diaspora Engagement: The Case of Turkey

Şebnem KÖŞER AKÇAPAR^{*} and Damla BAYRAKTAR AKSEL^{**}

Abstract

After more than 50 years of migration history, the recognition of Turkish migrant immigrants as "diaspora" took place only recently, illustrating the changes in the Turkish state's strategies towards embracing these populations. In the early 2000s, the government needed the Turkish diaspora to refurbish the image of Turkey and boost the stale EU membership agenda, and realized that the diaspora could be used as a tool for public diplomacy to exert "soft power". In this article, we argue that the new Turkish diaspora policy was shaped by the recognition of an emerging transnational Turkish diaspora and the re-orientation of Turkish foreign policy after 2002 when the AKP (Justice and Development Party) came to power. We also argue that

the institutionalization process targeting the diaspora went hand in hand with a shift in ideology and political atmosphere as well as other relational factors.

Key Words

Public Diplomacy, State-Led Transnationalism, Migrant Organizations, Diaspora, Turkey.

Introduction

Over the last decade, the concept of diaspora has appeared in the policy making discourse of Turkey, marking the adoption of a new perspective towards almost 6 million Turkish emigrants living in different continents. As the classical global usages of the term attributed a victimized character of migrant populations, it was for some time rather controversial to juxtapose the word 'Turkish' with the concept of 'diaspora' in foreign policy and decision-making circles. Moreover, the term has been previously used in public parlance and academia to signify other ethnic and religious groups (including Armenians, Greeks, Jews, Assyrians, Kurds and even Alevis

^{*} Associate Professor, Director of Asia Center at Koç University (KUASIA), MiReKoc Executive Board Member, Koç University, Sociology Department, Rumelifeneri Yolu, Sarıyer, 34450, İstanbul, Turkey.

E-mail: sakcapar@ku.edu.tr

^{**} PhD, Postdoctoral Research Fellow (MiReKoc), Koç University, Rumelifeneri Yolu, Sarıyer, 34450, İstanbul, Turkey. E-mail: dabayraktar@ku.edu.tr

who migrated from Turkey), rather than Sunni Turks, which according to Kirişçi1 have represented the main determinant ethnic and religious identity by the Turkish state since the early Republican period, despite the official definition of citizenship. However, since the term "diaspora" has undergone major transformations in history, the reluctance of connoting the term diaspora with Turkish immigrants gradually disappeared. has also Etymologically, diaspora was derived from the third century BCE Greek translations of the Torah and used for the first time specially referring to the uprooting and scattering of Jews to denote those archetypal groups maintaining an intact identity despite traumatic dispersion into distant lands.² From the 1960s onwards, the classical meaning of "victim" diasporas extended in such a way to include the dispersion of Africans and even the Irish. After the 1980s, diaspora was deployed as a metaphoric designation to describe different categories of international migrants- expatriates, forced migrants, voluntary migrants, ethnic and racial minorities.³ Other typologies, such as labour, trade and imperial diasporas, were later added to the original prototypical victim diaspora.⁴ Between the 1990s and early 2000s, the term was usually discussed within the framework of globalization and accepted as an expression of identity in flux.⁵ Although

there is still an ongoing discussion about what constitutes a diaspora, the common characteristics of diaspora in the 21st century are described as follows: voluntary or involuntary dispersion of a group of people into two or more locations, sharing a collective memory of their original homeland, displaying general commitment to the wellbeing and restoration of the original homeland through dense linkages, and maintaining either group boundary over time or some form of cultural hybridity.⁶

As transnationals *par excellence*, nation-states and diasporas are also in constant negotiation with each other.

This new understanding of diaspora that has taken over from the older concepts of the term as victims who were forced to move from their homeland and still holding onto a 'myth of return', paved the way for better insights into diaspora engagement through concepts such as "transnationalism from below" and "transnationalism from above".⁷ The former refers to the migrant organizations established in the country of residence and the latter underlines the state-centered approaches on diaspora. As transnationals *par excellence*, nationstates and diasporas are also in constant negotiation with each other.8 On one hand, diaspora institutions represent "state-led transnationalism"9 or "longdistance nationalism",¹⁰ since they project domestic policies beyond their borders into diasporas as well as to those who stay at home. On the other hand, diaspora institutions also include migrant organizations which demand higher recognition by nation-states and even stipulate changes in the practices of the home country. The modus operandi of such institutions has been re-defined as a result of globalization and de-territorialization, which now extends beyond the reach of any particular nation-state. Consequently, diaspora institutions can be regarded "as an expression of post-national, supranational, or transnational membership".¹¹

Today, diaspora(s) have the ability to mobilize a collective identity not only in the receiving country and in the "imagined homeland", but within the social and even virtual space in solidarity with other co-ethnic members living in different countries. Typical diasporas are in constant contact and able to create and re-create their "transnational social spaces".12 They propagate political mobilization in a host country through unifying factors, such as ethnicity and religion. They join forces around a common goal by using political opportunity structures available to them, i.e.

citizenship and lobbying.13 They instil intergenerational cultural transmission in order to sustain the continuity of their values within the diaspora and thus prevent incoming generations from becoming 'de-traditionalised' and culturally disconnected from the homeland. They get involved with home country political structures by sending remittances, facilitating investments, philanthropic donations, making establishing professional networks for technology transfer, lobbying for security and foreign policy interests of home countries, and participating in out-of-country voting. Therefore, rather than fixed social groups, diasporas are now recognized as constituencybuilding projects mobilized by political and social entrepreneurs, including policy makers.14 Similarly, the old notion of seeing a diaspora as an outflow of human resources, or an exodus of skilled people and part of

Today, diaspora(s) have the ability to mobilize a collective identity not only in the receiving country and in the "imagined homeland", but within the social and even virtual space in solidarity with other co-ethnic members living in different countries. a brain-drain, was replaced with the idea that diasporas can indeed act as a bridge between countries of residence and origin.¹⁵

The old notion of seeing a diaspora as an outflow of human resources, or an exodus of skilled people and part of a brain-drain, was replaced with the idea that diasporas can indeed act as a bridge between countries of residence and origin.

Despite an earlier reluctance to use the term diaspora as attributed to Turkish immigrants living abroad, the turn in "state-led transnationalism" and pursuing a policy of active engagement with diasporas explains the increasing popularity of the term not only in the Turkish media but also in academic, business, and bureaucratic circles. Departing from the former perspectives of classifying Turkish skilled migrants as a total loss for the homeland and labour migrants as machines for remittances, Turkey finally realized the potential of its diaspora with strong connections to homeland. This is certainly related with the increasing economic power of the diaspora and the intensifying transnationalism with return migrants, migrants, upcoming circular and

generations who are more versed and politically mobilized. It is also related with the rising global trend in which migrant populations are increasingly being re-labelled as diasporas and in which there is growing interest on behalf of nation-states to engage with their diasporas.

After more than 50 years of migration history, the recognition of Turkish migrant populations as diaspora took place only recently, illustrating the changes in the Turkish state's strategies towards embracing these populations. Back in the 1990s, there were already efforts in place to mobilize migrant populations, the Turkish but these endeavours were usually not very successful partly because of the diversity and sharp divisions and partly because of the lack of systematic programs targeting diasporic members. Nevertheless, in the early 2000s, the AKP (Justice and Development Party) government needed a Turkish diaspora to refurbish the image of Turkey and to boost the stale EU membership agenda. It realized that the diaspora could be used in both ways: as a tool for "soft power" and as an instrument to support the government's agenda. In this article, we argue that the new Turkish diaspora policy was shaped by the recognition of an emerging transnational Turkish diaspora in Western Europe and the United States and the re-orientation of Turkish foreign policy after 2002,

when the AKP came to power. The establishment of a new state elite and shift in power has eventually led to the implementation of a new official discourse on modernity and Muslim national identity in Turkey. As a result of this political transition, either new diasporic organizations supporting the government were established in major European cities making certain others obsolete, or new leadership was selected for the long-running migrant organizations and federations. This era, ushering in more diaspora engagement by the state, also represents the process of institutionalization in Turkey in order to coordinate activities with the new migrant organizations. The institutionalization process not only paved the way for Turkey to help out ethnic kin as well as those in need in different parts of the world but also coincided with the new driving force in Turkish foreign policy - the move from being a country in the periphery to being a core country.16 The new outlook in Turkish foreign policy also allows us to gain a perspective on Turkey's new interest to play a role in extending humanitarian assistance in a vast geography extending from Africa to Asia as one of the most important global players in the international arena and in becoming a champion for the rights of the oppressed Muslims around the world as in the case of the Rohingyas and Palestinians.

The institutionalization process not only paved the way for Turkey to help out ethnic kin as well as those in need in different parts of the world but also coincided with the new driving force in Turkish foreign policy – the move from being a country in the periphery to being a core country.

The next section will evaluate diaspora engagement by the Turkish state and state-led transnationalism in detail. We argue that an institutionalization process aiming to engage diaspora with the home country went hand in hand with the shift in ideology and political atmosphere as well as other relational factors.

Diaspora Engagement as a Tool for Public Diplomacy

Diplomacy in a traditionalist view is characterized by "official communication between governments, usually behind closed doors"17 and depicted "as a game where the roles and responsibilities of actors in international relations are clearly delineated".18 However, this definition remains inadequate in describing the current state of affairs where there is a

"fuzzy world of postmodern traditional relations",19 involving many actors outside of the institutional limitations of diplomatic activity. These activities go hand in hand with the states' interest in using what is now called as "public diplomacy", in which the states attempt to disseminate references to the nation and their image. In fact, although such efforts to remodel international public relations existed even in the age of monarchies in Europe, the emergence professional image cultivation of across national borders first took place following the First World War. During this period, states started to search for strategies to use "power over opinion", which was "not less essential for political purposes than military and economic power".²⁰ Today, many countries are in search of effective usages of that tool. Now referred to as "public diplomacy", it aims to shift the activity of diplomacy from an intergovernmental to "government-topeople" relationship, while at the same time incorporating non-state actors into the game.²¹ "Public diplomacy" has become a buzzword especially thanks to the accelerated development of information technologies - the new grounds for governments to "win the war on hearts and minds" of their constituencies and of other populations.²²

Within the past decade, public diplomacy and other related objectives

such as "nation branding" were also introduced and used systematically by the Turkish Ministry of Foreign Affairs and other government offices. According to İbrahim Kalın, the Chief Advisor to the President in Turkey, the use of public diplomacy "as a platform for the implementation of soft power" began mainly with the launching of the Office of Public Diplomacy within the Turkish Prime Ministry in 2010. In a previous article appearing in Perceptions, Kalın outlined the main objective of the use of public diplomacy in Turkey as reshaping the pre-existing negative images of Turkey in the international realm and replacing them with a new "Turkish story".23 This new "Turkish story" reflects the image that the AKP governments have attempted to create since the early 2000s, of Turkey as a "strong country" that could perform as a bridge between "civilizations" in the international platform.²⁴ This neoliberal "national branding"25 was epitomized by a number of overlapping framings by AKP representatives from the early 2000s to early 2010s, which shifted from the Kemalist "western" orientation to a more assertively "eastern" and "southern".26 It was represented by new frames of reference, such as the Turkish state's undertaking of a central position in the Middle East/West Asia (MEWA) region as an illustration of "moderate Islam", its assuming of a coalescing role between the countries
that held the heritage of the Ottoman Empire, or an emphasis on its ability to respond to the pressures and demands of the "western world". Kalın described the cornerstones of the new diplomacy tool as reflecting the transformations in international relations and in the domestic context in relation to a number of aspects: (i) fusing traditional Islamic-Ottoman culture with socio-economic modernization: (ii) citizens' selfpositioning from being a "problematic and small footnote in the Euro-centric historical narrative" to being "active agent(s) in the formation of its own history"; (iii) internal transformation and the process of normalization especially regarding taboo subjects related to minorities, democratization and human rights; (iv) approximating locality and globalization.27 Kalın also argued that aside from a range of state institutions, other actors, such as nongovernmental organizations, aid organizations, universities, and the media were indispensable to Turkey's public diplomacy efforts.28

While the state's involvement in the globalization of domestic issues had already taken place in earlier periods, especially in the United States, it had been practiced rather sporadically and its outreach had been significantly limited. It is within this perspective that the migrant populations from Turkey living in Europe and elsewhere have been incorporated into the government's attempts, to be used as public diplomacy tools in the international arena. Giving the example of a mass demonstration in France in 2012 by Turkish migrant populations, Ünver suggested that the indirect involvement of the Turkish state in organizing and directing such events was an illustration of its interest in influencing its domestic policy issues through its community living abroad.²⁹ While the state's involvement in the globalization of domestic issues had already taken place in earlier periods, especially in the United States, it had been practiced rather sporadically and its outreach had been significantly limited. In the succeeding sections, we focus on how Turkey's embracing of its immigrants as "diaspora" overlaps with its public diplomacy efforts in the post-2002 era.

Turkish State's Policies for Diaspora Engagement and State-Led Transnationalism

The period that followed the AKP's coming to power after 2002 has witnessed the acceleration of the state's engagement policies towards citizens living overseas, in an attempt to increase its presence and control

in both the public and private realms. In this section, we expound on the major policy transformations targeting Turkish diaspora in four different arenas that have undergone the most critical changes. These transformations can be analysed under four headings. These are: (i) the institutional setting, which comprises a series of changes in the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and the establishment of the new coordinative mechanisms dealing with Turkish emigrants; (ii) the ideological setting, mainly centred around the exportation of Turkish culture and state religion; (iii) the political (electoral) setting, which was altered after the introduction of external voting from abroad since 2012; and finally (iv) the relational setting between the Turkish state and Turkish emigrant populations, involving both individual and associational relations.³⁰

Institutional Setting

The first approach by the Turkish state to reach individual citizens living abroad was a response to the mounting criticisms by migrant populations especially in the European countries about the inadequacy of the consular services and the patronizing attitudes of the state officials. As a result, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs began a reform campaign to increase the number and enhance the quality of services provided by the foreign missions, and especially by the general consulates. The number of Turkish foreign missions increased from 163 in 2002 to 236 as of 2017, incorporating 135 embassies and 86 consulates as well as permanent delegations and trade offices. This number is expected to increase to 263 in the coming years pending decisions by the Council of Ministers. The consular officials were asked to improve their services to the Turkish citizens living abroad, and to be more responsive and accommodating to their demands.

The first approach by the Turkish state to reach individual citizens living abroad was a response to the mounting criticisms by migrant populations especially in the European countries about the inadequacy of the consular services and the patronizing attitudes of the state officials.

Other than establishing closer ties with the Turkish diaspora through the diplomatic missions abroad, the new institutional setting offered alternative channels to Turkish diasporic members through which they could institutionally interact with the state's other representative bodies abroad. In 1998, the Advisory Committee for Turkish Citizens Living Abroad and the High Committee for Turkish Citizens Living Abroad, were founded under the Prime Ministry, in order to carry out research and monitor the problems faced by Turkish citizens abroad and communicate them to the Turkish parliament. This was followed by the reorganization and expansion of the responsibilities of the General Directorate of Foreign Relations and Workers Abroad Services established in 2001 under the Ministry of Labour and Social Security. After a long period of preparation, the Presidency on Turks Abroad and Relative Communities (YTB) was founded in 2010 as an institution for further coordination efforts. Although the idea of establishing a separate institution fully-functioning on the issues of Turkish immigrants and Turkic communities had already existed since the 1990s, it was reduced to the role of a state ministry responsible for non-resident citizens. The state ministry was directly tied to the Prime Minister's office without a clear-cut and specific institutional, administrative and financial structure to support any relevant activities. With the motto of "wherever our citizens and kin communities live, we are there", the YTB is placed at the heart of Turkey's policy towards its extra-territorial members, as a coordinator of different institutions' engagements with citizens

and civil society organizations abroad, as well as with kin communities and international students living in mission Turkey. The Presidency's statement signalled the government's vision about creating extra-territorial spheres of influence demarcated by varying degrees of connection based on shared civic or ethnic identity.³¹ Some state officials often referred to the establishment of such an institution as an important step towards a more comprehensive governing of citizens and dual citizens who are living outside of Turkey's territories. Following the institutional examples of other nationstates with large diasporas, Turkey evidently decided to reinforce ties between the state and its emigrants.

With the motto of "wherever our citizens and kin communities live, we are there", the YTB is placed at the heart of Turkey's policy towards its extra-territorial members.

The co-ordination of citizen affairs in the YTB is organized under four geographical regions, based on the concentration of Turkish diaspora population and distance. The first region is Germanic-speaking communities, which includes Germany, Austria

and Sweden, and the second region encompasses all other European Union countries. The third region is Englishspeaking overseas countries, which includes the United States, Canada and Australia, and the fourth region is all other remaining countries. In theory, from 2011 to 2015, the four regional coordination mechanisms worked together with the yearly consultation of an advisory committee, operating on policy areas that are exclusive to the countries or regions. However, since Germany holds more than 3 million Turkish origin immigrants out of which 1.5 million are still Turkish citizens and/ or dual citizens with eligibility to vote in general and presidential elections, there has been utmost attention given by the institution to the Turkish community living in this country.

The Yunus Emre Foundation was established in 2007 and its cultural centres founded in many countries in Europe and elsewhere have emerged as a crucial public diplomacy tool.

The YTB currently coordinates the state of affairs between the citizens living abroad and the ministries in Turkey, while at the same time cooperating with foreign missions regarding the activities

organized programs outside and Turkey. The Presidency designates and advocates on certain policy areas to the policy-makers, such as in the case of amendments related to extra-territorial voting rights, which allowed emigrants to vote from abroad. The Presidency uses three mechanisms to implement its strategies: coordination, advocacy, state-society dialogue. and Statesociety dialogue takes a substantial portion of the YTB's activities and strategies, which is primarily marked by the financial assistance granted to civil society organizations, universities, international organizations, think tanks and research centres since 2011. In 2013. the language used in the definition of priorities for financial assistance shifted from a traditional one (e.g. "improving work and employment", structure", "strengthening family "organizing cultural cooperation and exchange") towards a new discourse focusing on more specific policy areas, such as "fight against discrimination" or "active citizenship".32 The financial support provided by the YTB extends beyond the host countries of Turkish emigrants, as in the case of funding provided to countries such as Somalia, Bulgaria, and Bosnia and Herzegovina. This broad geography illustrates the Turkish state's interest in bringing the management of non-resident citizens and other ethnic and religious groups with an assumed shared identity under

the same institutional roof.33 Another institutional sphere that has been formed around the coordinating role of the YTB is reinforced by a number of other institutions working in the areas of cultural promotion, representation of economic interests, humanitarian development and the promotion of Turkey's image through media. Among these institutions, the Yunus Emre Foundation was established in 2007 and its cultural centres founded in many countries in Europe and elsewhere have emerged as a crucial public diplomacy tool. According to Kaya and Tecmen,³⁴ Yunus Emre cultural centres reflect the Turkish state's attempts to emphasize the importance of cultural interaction and cultural representation in foreign policy and bilateral relations. In countries with a large presence of Turkish migrant communities, the centers were established with an emphasis on how they constitute a "home" for the Turkish citizens, while at the same time adopting a role of "cultural bridges" by promoting Turkish culture.35

Ideological Setting

Following the institutional setting, the second issue is the reconstruction of an ideological setting abroad. One of the key elements of the Turkish state's emigrant policies in the 1980s was concentrated on the exportation of culture and ideology in order to strengthen emigrants' sense of belonging towards Turkey. There have been two main instruments with this regard, namely religion and education, around which the institutional configurations were made, through the intervening role of the Diyanet İşleri Başkanlığı (Presidency of Religious Affairs), the Ministry of Education, and the coordinative mechanism under Bakanlıklararası Ortak Kültür the Komisyonu (Interministerial Common Culture Commission). Under the reactive emigrant regime that characterized policy making towards Turkish immigrants in the 1980s until mid-1990s, the establishment of these instruments was the result of the members of the migrant community who had settled since the 1960s, but more importantly as a reaction to the dissident groups that did not comply with the official state ideology, like Kurds supporting the PKK, who found a base of support in Europe,³⁶ or members of "oppositional Islam" like followers of Kaplan.³⁷ However, the Divanet's presence has shifted from a mostly reactive perspective of controlling oppositional Islam outside Turkey towards the replication of Turkey as a model of moderate Islam on the international scene with its instruments for engaging its nonresident citizens compliant with its official ideology.

Since the early 2000s, the Turkish state's activities in the area of religion intensified gradually. The Diyanet solidified its presence further in many countries where Turkish immigrants predominantly live.³⁸ One of the earlier initiatives of the recent epoch has been the third Din Şurası (Religious Council) in September 2004, which was organized by the Divanet to bring together theologists, politicians and intellectuals who were actively involved with religious services for Turkish citizens living overseas.39 Bruce argues that the resolutions of this council have been reflected on the activities of the Divanet over recent years, including the increase in the number of religious personnel, the foundation of a bureau to represent the Diyanet in relation with the European Union, and initiatives for positioning Diyanet federations and foundations overseas as official interlocutors with the national authorities, particularly in Europe.⁴⁰ As of 2017, Divanet counsellor offices are based in 15 countries, and attachés from religious affairs hold 21 offices in nine countries around the world, with the majority being positioned in Germany. In addition to these initiatives, the Divanet started new programs to integrate the new generations among the Turkish diaspora. The new programs are comprised of the Uluslararası Ilahiyat Programi (International Theology Program) that aims to

educate young Turkish immigrants in Turkey with the aim of employing them later in countries of settlement and the foundation of the Faculty of Theology in Strasbourg, which could become a centre of attention of the high-level education of Islamic theology for young generations of Turkish diaspora.⁴¹ Furthermore, two Islamic Universities were established in Rotterdam, the Netherlands.

The increasing presence of the Diyanet in the Turkish state's diaspora engagement policy corresponded with the shifts from the Kemalist laicité towards the reinforcement of state religion during the same period. Based on the analysis of the World Values Survey on religiosity, tolerance and changing social values in Turkey which was carried out between 1981 and 2007, there has been an intensification toward conservatism since the mid-1990s.42 Turkish society and politics were also coupled with the discourses, strategies and social provisioning policies in order to maintain the state's central position in the regulation of religious affairs.⁴³ Therefore, the *Divanet*'s role as the institutional embodiment of monopolizing religion by the state in Turkey and abroad was sustained in the post-2003 period. It also continued to act as a way of creating closer ties between the state and the emigrant communities around the daily practices of religion and to keep their culture

intact while focusing on integration in the host society. While this may alienate some factions of Turkish emigrants like Alevis and non-Muslims, this engagement was deemed particularly important to counter the propaganda by extremist interpretations of religion, and radicalization of the Turkish diaspora and recruitment of terrorist organizations.

Political (Electoral) Setting

The third setting, which has witnessed a sharp change from the earlier periods, is related to the accessibility of nonresident citizens to voting rights. Allowing citizens living outside the territories to vote is a practice that has increasingly become common for many electoral democratic states in recent decades. According to a survey conducted in 2009, 129 out of 198 states were known to allow their emigrants to vote for national elections of the home country although with a range of different forms, giving out different implications for the nature of the relationship between emigrants and the states.⁴⁴ Currently three common patterns are adopted by nation-states extra-territorial regarding voting, based on exercise and use of the voting process: (i) vote in home district; (ii) vote abroad for home district; and (iii) vote abroad for direct representation.45 While many states opt for allowing

emigrants to vote in polling stations abroad or by post, rather than returning to the country of origin in order to vote, only a few permit emigrants to elect their own representation with an exclusive constituency.

Allowing citizens living outside the territories to vote is a practice that has increasingly become common for many electoral democratic states in recent decades.

In the Turkish case, from 1987 onwards Turkish immigrants were given the option to cast a vote in the elections only at customs. Therefore, diaspora members were expected to return to the country of origin for voting.46 Moreover, not all custom posts had ballots providing voting for emigrants, and it was limited with more populous entry gates, namely the land customs in Edirne, and air customs of İstanbul, İzmir, Ankara, Antalya and Adana. This changed in 2008 with amendments made to the Law No. 5749 on Basic Provisions on Elections. The changes in the electoral system resulted in the registration and collection of data on the available extra-territorial voters, which in the past would have been determined by the number of voters who went to the ballot box at the border gates and airports upon entry to the homeland. Following the first amendment in 2008, a bill was passed in May 2012 that specifically determined the conditions of external electoral participation in diplomatic missions and consular offices where the number of Turkish eligible voters were reported to be at least 2.8 million.⁴⁷

According to the bill, (i) citizens living outside Turkey would be able to vote in national elections and referenda simultaneously with elections in Turkey, (ii) customs voting would continue to be practiced, (iii) they would be able to vote at ballots in diplomatic and consular representations at a pre-designated time, (iv) they would also be able to vote during their stay in Turkey.48 External electoral participation, i.e. out-of-the-country voting, was practiced in 2014 for the first time during the Presidential elections and later on, during the general elections in 2015 and for the Constitutional referendum in 2017. During the first elections in 2014, electoral turnout remained very low at 18.9% at both customs and consular ballots combined, mainly as a result of the system which allowed citizens to vote only at the appointment time that they obtained through registering on the internet, as well as the lack of clear notification by the government and the consulates. Considering that the

Turkish electoral system is based on the d'Hondt method with a 10% electoral threshold, the extra-territorial voters comprised of 5% of the total number of voters had significant implications for the results of the elections. The current system works through a complex set of calculations, which divides the votes cast outside the country to the number of seats that a political party has already secured in the 85 constituencies in Turkey based on its ratio to the total number of votes by Turkish citizens. Moreover, the results clearly suggested an increasing popularity of Erdoğan among the diaspora in major European countries. During the 2014 Presidential Elections, he received more votes in Germany (68.63%), Australia (56,35%), Austria (80.17%), Belgium (69,85%), Denmark (62,85%), France (66,02%), and the Netherlands (77,95%) than the Turkey average of 51,79%.49 In the General Elections in November 2015, although turnout was low, out of the 36% of all valid votes, the AKP got almost half of the votes from citizens living abroad while the main opposition party, CHP (Republican People's Party) remained as low as 17%. In fact, the AKP again became the main party in major European countries, including Germany, Austria, France, Holland, Belgium, Denmark, Norway and Romania.⁵⁰ In the 2017 Referendum, the AKP gained а landslide victory in Germany, France as

well as in Austria, Belgium, Denmark and the Netherlands.⁵¹

Relational Setting

Although the history of emigration en masse from Turkey to Europe began in the 1960s, legislative frameworks that set the relations between the state and its citizens living outside were introduced much later. Accepting that Turkish immigrants settled in Europe for longer term and they were no longer simply Gastarbeiters, a "dual citizenship practice" was hastily announced with an amendment to the Turkish Constitution in 1981. The legal framework for increased involvement in the social and cultural affairs of emigrants was followed by the inclusion of Turkish citizens abroad in the 1982 Constitution, in which Article 62 noted:

Accepting that Turkish immigrants settled in Europe for longer term and they were no longer simply *Gastarbeiters*, a "dual citizenship practice" was hastily announced with an amendment to the Turkish Constitution in 1981. The Government takes measures to ensure family unity of the Turkish citizens working in foreign countries, to educate their children, to meet their cultural needs and to provide social security, to protect their link to the motherland and to facilitate their coming back.⁵²

The 1982 constitution underscored the necessity of taking measures to address the various needs of Turkish citizens living abroad, especially related to social security and cultural rights. At the same time, it led to the creation of an understanding of "persona grata living abroad" (yurtdışında yaşayan 'makbul' vatandas). According to the term, the groups of people who are determined as "anarchists and terrorists" are excluded from a relationship with the state despite their Turkish citizenship. Among the groups that have been determined as such were those refugees from Turkey who sought asylum in Western Europe after the military takeover in 1980. They were criticized as making "biased and purposeful propaganda" against Turkey and therefore constituted a constant problem for the Turkish state.53 This was definitely not surprising considering the political situation at the time. Those who were referred to as persona grata, on the other hand, were able to keep their Turkish citizenship. This process was even facilitated by the state regardless of their newly-acquired

citizenship in countries of settlement. This clause has been kept as its original following the Referendum in 2017.

The parliamentary investigative commission of 2003 emphasized that citizens living abroad should have access to more rights by naturalizing in their countries of residence.

The early 1990s were marked by a number of incentives facilitating the administrative, cultural and social engagement of emigrants with Turkey who would give up their citizenship. In 1995 an amendment was made to the Turkish Citizenship Law, providing privileged non-citizen status. Known as the "pink card", which was later replaced with the "blue card" in 2009, it granted rights to those who gave up Turkish nationality: residing, acquiring property, being eligible for inheritance, operating businesses, and working in Turkey like any other citizen of Turkey. Following a parliamentary investigation report in 1996 that suggested the existence of "distance" between the consular missions in Europe and the Turkish citizens living abroad, a state ministry was founded to represent non-resident citizens, followed by a consultative committee

established of migrant representatives.54 However, this committee was criticized by migrant organizations established by Turkish diaspora, for not effectively representing themselves. parliamentary The investigative commission of 2003 emphasized that citizens living abroad should have access to more rights by naturalizing in their countries of residence, but at the same time they should maintain close ties with the state of origin. The report further suggested a number of issues that aimed to restructure the statediaspora ties:

- Keeping in mind of their permanency abroad at present, our citizens abroad should be promoted to acquire host country citizenship;
- Ties with our citizens and the next generations should be protected and improved;
- iii) Our citizens should become bridges of good relations and friendship between host countries and our country;
- iv) Especially citizens living in the EU countries should realize their rights acquired by the EU and other international jurisprudence, defend them in every platform and be informed about them. Initiatives should be made so that the EU entitles the same rights

that it provides other candidate state citizens to our citizens;

- v) Citizens should be protected against xenophobia, discrimination and acts of violence;
- vi) Every individual who is tied to the Turkish Republic by citizenship and has not participated in terrorism is very important and valuable to our state regardless of their settlement country. The Republic of Turkey should stand together with them by all means. Our citizens should be informed about this issue with the help of embassies, consulates, all related entities and the media circulated via brochures, booklets, and documents. This issue should be properly addressed and made public through the websites of relevant institutions;
- vii) It should be among the privileges of our country to see that our citizens abroad benefit from the rights that will protect their cultural identities at the highest level.⁵⁵

The parliamentary report drew the lines of an anticipated diaspora regime, which determined emigrants' relationship with both Turkey and the countries where they reside. As active citizens in both geographies, the citizens of Turkey were expected to become intervening actors on behalf of Turkey when necessary and build bridges between the societies/states that they live in and the Turkish society/state.⁵⁶ Yet, the report codified the nature of the relationship with the Turkish state and the host states differently than before. It put emphasis on the diaspora's right to claim social, political and cultural benefits in host countries, while the relations with the Turkish state remain within the boundaries of allegiance to homeland, where the state assured the protection of its citizens' rights not solely within its own jurisprudence, but also promised guarantees in legal and sociocultural terms outside of its borders. Even though the transformation in the policymaking on the diaspora has been embedded in change in understanding of the citizenship regime, the dual designation of belonging and expectations from the diaspora endured. In line with this new understanding, the Turkish state would watch out for its citizens no matter where they live while Turkish emigrants should continue to demand for their rights in countries of settlement. To attract more supporters in the diaspora, Turkish officials also assumed the role of a "big brother", protecting its citizens as well as co-ethnics with a fervent nationalist discourse calling them to resist all forms of assimilation, and to fight against Islamophobia and eventual loss of religious identity. In his official visits to Europe, President Erdoğan asked the members of the emigrant populations to be loyal to Turkey while enjoying citizenship rights in host countries and criticized Europe's migration policies as assimilationist. In 2008, during his address to the Turkish community in Köln right after a hate crime that took place in Ludwigshafen resulted in the tragic death of 9 Turkish immigrants, Erdoğan underlined the main themes in state-led transnationalism:

Eventhough the transformation in the policy making on the diaspora has been embedded in change in understanding of the citizenship regime, the dual designation of belonging and expectations from the diaspora endured.

"Assimilation is a crime against humanity. But you also need to understand that you cannot and should not see yourselves as temporary anymore in today's Germany and Europe. It is telling that despite the large number of (our people), basic problems persist. Of course, our children will learn Turkish. This is your right to transfer language and values to upcoming generations. Yet, if you learn the language of the country that you live in and several more, this would put you in an advantageous position in every field. With 3 million living in Germany alone, the Turkish community has the potential to be effective and to be a determining factor in German politics today. Why can't we have mayors in Europe, more representatives in political parties in Europe and in the European Parliament? Why shouldn't [Europe] take our opinion in devising social policies? Despite being a handful, some [diaspora] communities are quite influential thanks to their lobbying efforts. Why don't we do the same to protect our own interests?"57

In the latest general elections in Germany in September 2017, after facing a series of political problems with German Chancellor Angela Merkel, President Erdoğan also warned Turkish immigrants living in Germany to vote carefully for the benefit of the Turkish state and community. While his supporters, such as the Allianz Deutscher Demokraten (Alliance of German Democrats) (AD-D), a political party established mainly by Turkish and other Muslim immigrants, especially used slogans with Erdoğan's picture saying "be united with Turkey's friends", his move also received strong criticism in Germany as intervening in the domestic affairs of another sovereign state.58

Diaspora Members as Symbolic Ambassadors: Who is In, Who is Out?

As explained earlier, the parliamentary report of 2003 enunciated that Turkish citizens who had good ties with the home state were expected to become "bridges of good relations" between countries of residence and origin. In other words, since they are more permanent than diplomatic representatives who come and go, they were given the duty of symbolic ambassadors of Turkey. In fact, since the 1960s Turkey adopted various practices of naming groups of emigrants, changing from gurbetçi/yurtdışı işçi (guest worker/worker abroad) to vurtdisi vatandaslar (citizens living abroad). This departure in terminology indicated not only the permanence of Turkish citizens abroad but also was critical in the implementation of policies that were specifically built for the Turkish diaspora. The shift that began partly in the 1990s and was consolidated during the early 2000s, has been distinguishable from that of earlier periods, as it harbours a state-driven re-imagination of the nation, and an attempt "to extend the boundaries of the nation beyond the territorial limits of the state".59 With the transformations in the national narrative towards the diaspora, the use of yurtdışı vatandaşlar has taken over in

the institutional language, such as its appending to the advisory committees created on 24 December 2010.

Since the 1960's Turkey adopted various practices of naming groups of emigrants, changing from *gurbetçi/yurtdışı işçi* (guest worker/worker abroad) to *yurtdışı vatandaşlar* (citizens living abroad).

According to Sahin-Mencütek and Erdoğan,60 the framing of a "strong country" was also adopted in the institution-building and citizenshiprelated policies under the new diaspora engagement regime, as in the case of the adoption of the bill that extended voting rights for all nonresident citizens. Based on the migrant composition and political opportunity structures available in host countries, however, Turkey's engagement with its diasporic communities in Western Europe and North America differed to a great extent. In Germany, there is a large Turkish immigrant population, around 3 million, of which 1.383,040 have only Turkish citizenship and almost 250.000 have dual citizenship. Yet, these emigrants from Turkey are very heterogeneous, belonging different ethnic and religious to

affiliations. In addition to ethnocultural heterogeneity, the socioeconomic background and political inclination of the Turkish diaspora in Germany has changed over time. The earlier migrant workers which started to head for Germany in the 1960s came from rural backgrounds while the later immigrants in the 1980s and 1990s were more urban, more educated and political dissidents. Therefore, other than already "hostile" migrant organizations from the viewpoint of the Turkish state, like the Kurdish associations, the lobbying potential in Germany by Turkish migrant organizations was quite limited before because of a lack of lobbying experience and human capital, differences in opinion, and their focus on securing equal treatment.⁶¹

Based on the migrant composition and political opportunity structures available in host countries, however, Turkey's engagement with its diasporic communities in Western Europe and North America differed to a great extent.

Despite the Turkish state's interest in reifying a somewhat homogeneous

"Turkish diaspora" in Europe and in the United States, the diversity endures among the migrant populations. Together with the rising politicization in Turkey and elsewhere over the past years, this diversification leads to the emergence of a variety of "voices" that are not always compatible with the state perspective. Nevertheless, the mechanisms that had been explained above in order to secure a grassroots support among some of the migrant groups seem to have given their results. In Germany and the Netherlands especially, the Union of European Turkish Democrats (UETD) is at the moment attempting to centralize its position as a lobbying organization by being politically active through rallying events and working closely with the Turkish government. Very often, the strategies that are used by this organization, as well as its close institutional ties with the Justice and Development Party attracts criticisms from the other migrant organizations in Europe. In the United States, the different profile of Turkish diasporaquite skilled and professional with higher average income than many immigrants- is seen both as an advantage and disadvantage. These highly-skilled, highly educated and "Kemalist" actors among the Turkish diaspora in the US continue to lobby for Turkey despite their distance from the governing party and criticism

against their conservative outlook. Yet, new actors in the US diaspora, who represent the shift from the traditional state approach towards the Kemalist elite, have also emerged recently with closer ties to the government.62 The Divanet Center of America (also known as the Turkish American Community Centre) has been running actively since 2008 by Divanet officials from Turkey out of a giant mosque complex built in Maryland in 2013. This non-profit organization is offering Koran courses and community-building activities for the more observant living in the US, which was guite unheard of in the 1980s and in the 1990s for less skilled Turkish immigrants living in Paterson, New Jersey and in Rochester, New York. Another actor is the Turkish American Cultural Society (TACS) which is working closely with the YTB, nad which funds Turkish migrant organizations in the US. Nevertheless, not all diasporic groups were included within the framework of representation as symbolic ambassadors. Since the failed coup attempt in Turkey in July 2016, there has been an ongoing effort to put an end to the activities of Gülenists (FETÖ) and their organizations in Europe and in America, such as the American Turkish Friendship Association (ATFA) and the Rumi Forum in the US. There is also an expectation that the European and American counterparts as well

as the Turkish diaspora living there should support Turkey's efforts to curb the transnational activities of acknowledged terrorist groups operating in and outside the country.

Conclusion

Under successive governments since 2013, Turkey has intensified its engagement policies towards its diaspora to increase its presence and control in both public and private realms. In order to carry out state-led transnationalism and to disseminate the dominant ideology, a number of changes took place at the institutional level, such as creating mechanisms to coordinate efforts more effectively as well as the introduction of external voting from abroad since 2012. As the Turkish state's institutional and administrative presence abroad has become consolidated, it is expected that diaspora members assume a bridging role as they are considered permanent communities with as

Under successive governments since 2013, Turkey has intensified its engagement policies towards its diaspora to increase its presence and control in both public and private realms.

transnational linkages to the homeland. Yet, the diversity and fragmentation within the Turkish diaspora indicate that we cannot talk about a monolithic and unified entity. Therefore, any state policies to engage with this group should take this diversity into consideration. In addition, although we focus in this paper mainly on the state's engagement with emigrants, diaspora engagement is a two-way process, as it also includes the change they bring to the countries of origin through reactions and demands, i.e. transnationalism from below.

It is expected that diaspora members assume a bridging role.

Moreover, Turkey has been experiencing strains with some EU countries and the US since 2017. It is evident that finding a solution to these escalating issues by involving only some diaspora members to act on behalf of Turkish interests could be problematic, especially considering the

dual allegiance of citizenship that many of these populations hold with the host countries, as well. Certainly, there is a need to keep diplomatic channels open with the use of skilled Turkish diplomatic corps by implementing diplomatic tools and language, which have always been Turkey's strong suit. This is also important in building a stronger support among all Turkish migrant populations that assist the home country politically and economically while obtaining their earned rights in their countries of residence. The recent high-level official visits to France and Germany as well as TÜSİAD's involvement with its German counterparts are certainly positive developments to secure normalcy in bilateral relations. Surely, the position of Turkey in the global economy, the democratic steps to be taken despite problems faced at home will determine the leverage it enjoys in the international community and the relations that it builds with the emigrant populations who would become "bridges for good relations" between Turkey and the host countries.

Endnotes

- 1 Kemal Kirişci, "Disaggregating Turkish Citizenship and Immigration Practices", *Middle Eastern Studies*, Vol. 36, No. 3 (2000), pp. 1-22.
- 2 Susan Koshy, "Introduction: Theorizing a Neo-Diaspora", in S. Koshy and R. Radnakrishnan (eds.), *Transnational South Asians: The Making of a Neo-Diaspora*, New Delhi, Oxford University Press, 2008, p. 1.
- 3 Khachig Tölölyan, "The Nation-State and Its others: In Lieu of a Preface", *Diaspora: A Journal of Transnational Studies*, Vol. 1, No. 1 (1991), pp. 3-7.
- 4 Robin Cohen, *Global Diasporas: An Introduction*, New York, Routledge, 2008.
- 5 William Safran, "Diasporas in Modern Societies: Myths of Homeland and Return", *Diaspora: A Journal of Transnational Studies*, Vol. 1, No. 1 (1991), pp. 83-99; James Clifford, "Diasporas", *Cultural Anthropology*, Vol. 9, No. 3 (1994), pp. 302-338; Stephane Dufoix, *Diasporas*, Berkeley, University of California Press, 2008.
- 6 Alan Gamlen, *Diaspora Engagement Policies: Who are They and what Kinds of States Use Them?*, Policy University of Oxford, Centre on Migration, Centre on Migration, Policy and Society, 2006; Thomas Faist, "Diaspora and Transnationalism: What Kind of Dance Partners?", in Rainer Baubock and Thomas Faist (eds.), *Diaspora and Transnationalism: Concepts, Theories and Methods*, Amsterdam, Amsterdam University Press, 2010, pp. 9-34.
- 7 Michael Smith and Luis Eduardo Guarnizo, *Transnationalism from Below* (Vol. 6). New Brunswick, Transaction Publishers, 1998.
- 8 Riva Kastoryano, "Immigration, Transnational Community and Citizenship", *International Journal of Social Sciences*, Vol. 165 (2000), pp. 353-361.
- 9 Alan Gamlen, "Diaspora Institutions and Diaspora Governance", International Migration Review, Vol. 48, No. 1 (2014), p. 189.
- 10 Linda Green Basch, Nina Click Schiller, Christina Szanton Blanc, *Nations Unbound: Transnational Projects, Post-colonial Predicaments, and De-territorialized Nation-States,* Langhorne, PA, Gordon and Breach, 1992.
- 11 Yasemin Nuhoğlu Soysal, *Limits of Citizenship: Migrants and Postnational Membership in Europe*, Chicago, University of Chicago Press, 1994; Alan Gamlen, "Diaspora Institutions and Diaspora Governance", *International Migration Review*, Vol. 48, No. 1 (2014), p. 189.
- 12 Thomas Faist, "Transnationalization in International Migration: Implications for the Study of Citizenship and Culture", *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, Vol. 23, No. 2 (2000), pp. 189- 222; Peggy Levitt and Nina Glick Schiller, "Conceptualizing Simultaneity: A Transnational Social Field Perspective on Society", *International Migration Review*, Vol. 38, No. 3 (2004), pp. 1002-1039.
- 13 Şebnem Köşer Akçapar, "Turkish Associations in the United States: Towards Building a Transnational Identity", in Şebnem Köşer Akçapar (ed.), *Turkish Immigrants in Western Europe and North America: Immigration and Political Mobilization*, New York, Routledge, 2012, pp. 28-56; Saime Özçürümez, "Immigrant Associations in Canada: Included,

Accommodated, or Excluded?", in Akçapar (ed.), *Turkish Immigrants in Western Europe and North America*, pp. 57-77.

- 14 Steven Vertovec, "Conceiving and Researching Transnationalism", *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, Vol. 22, No. 2 (1999), pp. 447-462; Roger Brubaker, "The "Diaspora" Diaspora", *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, Vol. 28, No. 1 (2005), pp. 1-19; Martin Sökefeld, "Mobilizing in Transnational Space: A Social Movement Approach to the Formation of Diaspora", *Global Networks*, Vol. 6, No. 3 (2006), pp. 265-284; Roger Waldinger, "Foreword," in Stephane Dufoix (ed.), *Diasporas*, Berkeley, CA: University of California Press, 2008, pp. xi-xvii.
- 15 T.T. Yong and Md. Mizanur Rahman, "Introduction", in T.T. Yong and Md. Mizanur Rahman (eds.), *Diaspora Engagement and Development in South Asia*, New York, Palgrave Macmillan, 2013, p. 1.
- 16 Şebnem Köşer Akçapar, "Introduction: International Migration and Diplomacy", *Perceptions*, Special Issue, 2018a, this volume.bu kısım düzenlenecek
- 17 Alina Dolea, "The Need for Critical Thinking in Country Promotion", in Jacquie L'Etang et al. (ed.), *The Routledge Handbook of Critical Public Relations*, New York, Routledge, 2015, p. 274.
- 18 Jan Melissen, The New Public Diplomacy: Soft Power in International Relations, Springer, 2005, p. 5.
- 19 Ibid.
- 20 Ibid.
- 21 Alina Dolea, "The Need for Critical Thinking in Country Promotion", in Jacquie L'Etang et al. (eds.), *The Routledge Handbook of Critical Public Relations*, New York, Routledge, 2015, p. 277.
- 22 Ibid.
- 23 İbrahim Kalın, "Soft Power and Public Diplomacy in Turkey", *Perceptions*, Vol. 16, No. 3 (2011), pp. 16-17.
- 24 Aslı Iğsız, "From Alliance of Civilizations to Branding the Nation: Turkish Studies, Image Wars and Politics of Comparison in an Age of Neoliberalism", *Turkish Studies*, Vol. 15, No. 4 (2014), pp. 689-794.
- 25 Ibid.
- 26 Meltem Müftüler-Baç and Fuat Keyman, "The Era of Dominant-Party Politics", *Journal of Democracy*, Vol. 23, No. 1 (2012), pp. 85-99.
- 27 Kalın, "Soft Power and Public Diplomacy in Turkey", pp. 15-17.
- 28 Ibid., p. 10.
- 29 Can Unver, "Changing Diaspora Politics of Turkey and Public Diplomacy", Turkish Policy Quarterly, Vol. 12, No. 1 (2013), pp. 181-189.
- 30 Damla Bayraktar Aksel, *Home States and Homeland Politics: Turkish State and Its Emigrants in France and the United States*, Unpublished PhD thesis, İstanbul, Koç University, 2016.

- 31 Damla Bayraktar Aksel, "Kins, Distant Workers, Diasporas: Constructing Turkey's Transnational Members Abroad", *Turkish Studies*, Vol. 15, No. 2 (2014), pp. 195-219.
- 32 Damla Bayraktar Aksel, Home States and Homeland Politics.
- 33 Ibid.
- 34 Ayhan Kaya and Ayşe Tecmen, "The Role of Common Cultural Heritage in External Promotion of Modern Turkey", İstanbul Bilgi University European Institute Working Paper, No. 4 EU/4/2011, 2011.
- 35 Ibid.
- 36 Eva Østergaard-Nielsen, Transnational Politics: The Case of Turks and Kurds in Germany, Routledge, 2003.
- 37 Samim Akgönül, "Islam Turc, Islams De Turquie: Acteurs Et Réseaux En Europe", *Politique Etrangère*, Vol. 1, No. 1 (2005), pp. 35-47.
- 38 Benjamin Bruce, "Gérer l'Islam à l étranger: entre service public et outil de la politique étrangère turque", *Anatoli*, Vol. 3 (2012), p.137.
- 39 Ibid.
- 40 Ibid.
- 41 Ibid.
- 42 Birol Yeşilada and Peter Noordijk, "Changing values in Turkey: Religiosity and Tolerance in a Comparative Perspective", in Birol Yeşilada and Barry Rubin (eds.), *Islamization of Turkey under the AKP rule*, New York, Routledge, 2013, pp. 9-27.
- 43 Ayhan Kaya, "Islamisation of Turkey under the AKP Rule: Empowering Family, Faith and Charity", *South European Society and Politics*, Vol. 20, No. 1 (2015), p. 63.
- 44 Michael Collyer, "Inside out? Directly Elected 'Special Representation' of Emigrants in National Legislatures and the Role of Popular Sovereignty", *Political Geography*, Vol. 41 (2014), pp. 64-73.
- 45 Michael Collyer and Zana Vathi, *Patterns of Extra-Territorial Voting*, Development Research Centre on Migration, Globalization and Poverty Working Paper, T22 (October, 2007), p. 10.
- 46 Nermin Abadan Unat, et al. *Voting Behaviour of Euro-Turks And Turkey's Presidential Elections of 2014*. Working Paper, Boğaziçi University & Friedrich Ebert Stiftung, 2014.
- 47 T.C.Yüksek Seçim Kurulu. "Onikinci Cumhurbaşkanı Seçimi, Ülke ve Temsilcilik Bazında Seçmen ve Sandık Sayıları", at http://www.ysk.gov.tr/ysk/faces/HaberDetay?training_ id = Y S K P W C N 1_4444005790&_afr L o o p = 6151344199156628&_ a fr W i n d o w M o d e = 0 &_afr W i n d o w I d = 6t5 s x y v m a_1 # % 40 % 3 F_ afrWindowId%3D6t5sxyvma_1%26_afrLoop%3D6151344199156628%26traini ng_id%3DYSKPWCN1_4444005790%26_afrWindowMode%3D0%26_adf.ctrlstate%3D6t5sxyvma_43 (last visited 17 October 2017).
- 48 T.C. Yurtdışı Türkler Başkanlığı, "Yurtdışında oy kullanma", http://www.ytb.gov.tr/ tr/yurtdisinda-oy-kullanma/760-yurtdisinda-oy-kullanma (last visited 10 September 2017).

- 49 https://secim.haberler.com/cumhurbaskanligi-secimi/yurtdisi-sonuclari/ (last visited 5 January 2018).
- 50 See *Radikal* daily: http://www.radikal.com.tr/politika/akp-yurtdisinda-519-bin-hdp-211-bin-oy-aldi-1376626/). (last visited 16 October 2017).
- 51 https://secim.haberler.com/2017/referandum-yurtdisi-sonuclari/ (last visited 5 January 2018).
- 52 This clause has been kept in the Constitution as in original following the Referendum in 2017.
- 53 Kenan Evren, Kenan Evren'in Anıları, 1. Cilt, İstanbul, Milliyet Yayınları, 1991, p. 135.
- 54 Eva Østergaard-Nielsen, Transnational Politics, p. 110.
- 55 Türkiye Büyük Millet Meclisi, İstanbul Milletvekili Ali Rıza Gülçiçek ve 20 Milletvekili ile Ordu Milletvekili Eyüp Fatsa ve 26 Milletvekilinin; Yurtdışında Yaşayan Vatandaşlarımızın Sorunlarının Araştırılarak Alınması Gereken Önlemlerin Belirlenmesi Amacıyla Anayasanın 98inci, İçtüzüğün 104 ve 105inci Maddeleri Uyarınca Birer Meclis Araştırması Açılmasına İlişkin Önergeleri ve (10/8,48) Esas Numaralı Meclis Araştırma Komisyonu Raporu, Dönem: 22, Yasama Yılı: 2, at https://www.tbmm.gov.tr/sirasayi/donem22/yil01/ss335. pdf. (last visited 1 December 2017).
- 56 Ayhan Kaya and Ferhat Kentel, Euro-Türkler: Türkiye ile Avrupa Birliği arasında köprü mü, engel mi?, İstanbul, Bilgi Üniversitesi Yayınları, 2005.
- 57 "Assimilasyon İnsanlık Suçudur", at http://www.sediyani.com/?p=3646. (last visited 5 January 2018).
- 58 "Erdoğan tells Turks in Germany to vote against Merkel", *Reuters*, at https://www. reuters.com/article/us-germany-turkey/erdogan-tells-turks-in-germany-to-voteagainst-merkel-idUSKCN1AY17Z (last visited 7 February 2018).
- 59 Latha Varadarajan, *The Domestic Abroad: Diasporas in International Relations*, Oxford, Oxford University Press, 2010, p. 39.
- 60 Zeynep Şahin-Mencütek and Murat Erdoğan, "The Implementation of Voting from Abroad: Evidence from the 2014 Turkish Presidential Elections", *International Migration*, 2015, pp. 173-186.
- 61 Şebnem Köşer Akçapar, "Turkish Associations in the United States: Towards Building a Transnational Identity", in Akçapar (ed.) *Turkish Immigrants in Western Europe and North America*. p. 42.
- 62 Şebnem Köşer Akçapar, "Diaspora Engagement in the United States: The Case of India and Turkey", in Smita T. Jassal and Halit Turan (eds.), *New Perspectives on India and Turkey: Connections and* Debates, New York and New Delhi, Routledge, 2018b, New York, Routledge, 2018b, pp.155-167.



Turkey as a "Safe Third Country"? The Impacts of the EU-Turkey Statement on Syrian Refugees in Turkey

Doğuş ŞİMŞEK*

Abstract

Turkey has taken a number of steps including regulations granting approximately three million Syrian refugees with the guarantee of nonrefoulement, access to basic humanitarian services, and the right to access education, health services and the labour market. The Turkish government's policy position on the Syrian refugees has gradually begun evolving from 'hospitality' to 'integration'. The Statement between the EU and Turkey has raised concerns about the assumption of Turkey as a "safe third country" to return refugees to, however, one aspect of the agreement, which focuses on the EU's financial support to improve the situation of Syrian refugees in Turkey, is considered as an important positive step towards the integration of Syrians. This paper aims to address the question of whether Turkey can be considered as a "safe third country" for Syrian refugees. Drawing on fieldwork conducted in Istanbul, Izmir

and Gaziantep, this paper focuses on the experiences of Syrian refugees in Turkey to explore whether Turkey can be recognized as a "safe third country" for refugees.

Key Words

Syrian Refugees, EU-Turkey Statement, Integration, Turkey, European Union, Migration Policies.

Introduction

The Syrian migration is one of the largest mass movements of people in world history, and has caused an estimated 11 million Syrians to flee their homes since the outbreak of civil war in March 2011, leaving another 13.1 million in need of humanitarian assistance within the country.¹ According to the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), approximately 5,5 million have fled to Turkey, Lebanon, Jordan, Egypt and Iraq, and 6.6 million are internally displaced within Syria.²

More than one million Syrians have requested asylum in Europe. While the Syrian refugees³ have become the world's

^{*} PhD, Instructor, Koç University, The College of Social Sciences and Humanities, Department of Sociology, Rumelifeneri Yolu, Sarıyer, 34450, İstanbul, Turkey.
E. meil deimeele@meile.com

E-mail: dsimsek@ku.edu.tr

The Syrian migration is one of the largest mass movements of people in world history, and has caused an estimated 11 million Syrians to flee their homes since the outbreak of civil war in March 2011, leaving another 13.1 million in need of humanitarian assistance within the country.

largest refugee population, Turkey has been hosting the largest share, with more than three million refugees. Since the outbreak of the refugee flows from Syria starting in 2011, the international community has not showed solidarity by sharing the burden with the major countries of asylum. The response of the international community to Syrian migration has mainly focused on limited humanitarian aid, protection of the borders, and resettlement of a tiny fraction of refugees. Research on refugees and asylum seekers in Europe has focused on receiving states' policies for reducing the number of refugees entering the European countries and preventing irregular migration flows.⁴ Many asylum seekers and refugees live in uncertainty and experience exclusion in the receiving societies due to these states' policies. As a result, the numbers of campaigns against refugees, asylum seekers and immigrants have rapidly

10

increased in Europe.⁵ Refugees are generally seen as a problem that needs to be solved and European countries introduce new regulations to control and manage the migration flow.⁶ Castles argues that the EU member states' policies aiming to reduce the flow of migrants have been unsuccessful, as migrants instead try to go to Europe via irregular ways, thus creating an emerging job market for human smugglers.⁷

While the Syrian refugees have become the world's largest refugee population, Turkey has been hosting the largest share, with more than three million refugees.

With the mass movement of Syrians from Turkey to Europe since the summer of 2015, the EU's response to Syrian migration has moved towards stopping the flows of refugees and irregular migrants. The number of refugees arriving in Europe and seeking international protection increased from 542,680 in 2014 to 1,255,640 in 2015.8 After a new wave of refugees arrived in Europe in the summer of 2015, the EU collaborated with Turkey to control and reduce the flow of refugees arriving in Europe.

On 18 March 2016, the EU agreed with Turkey upon a "one in, one out" deal.⁹ In exchange, the EU committed to: a) re-energise Turkey's accession process by establishing structured and more frequent high level dialogue with Turkey and opening new negotiation chapters; b) accelerate the lifting of visa requirements for Turkish citizens in the Schengen zone by October 2016; and c) provide an initial three billion Euros to improve the situation of Syrians in Turkey.¹⁰ The agreement has been criticized by academics, civil society actors, and human rights organisations because of the definition of Turkey as a "safe third country". Following a year

of implementation of the EU-Turkey Statement of 18 March 2016, the number of refugees crossing to Europe and the loss of lives declined, according to the fifth report on the progress made in the implementation of the EU-Turkey Statement.¹¹

With the mass movement of Syrians from Turkey to Europe since the summer of 2015, the EU's response to Syrian migration has moved towards stopping the flows of refugees and irregular migrants.



Figure 1: Outcome of the EU-Turkey Statement between 2015 and 2017

Source: European Commission, at https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-we-do/policies/european-agenda-migration/background-information/eu_turkey_statement_17032017_en.pdf (last visited 5 December 2017).



The European Commission stated that daily crossings have gone down from 10,000 in a single day in October 2015 to an average of around 43 in 2017.12 Since the deal was put into effect, 1,896 migrants have returned to Turkey; 45,972 migrants crossed over to Greece from Turkey, and just over 3,500 refugees have been resettled from Turkey to the EU.¹³ Among those returned, 831 non-Syrians have been returned to their countries of origin; all returned Syrians, in total 212, were preregistered for temporary protection, with the exception of 16 persons who decided to return voluntarily to Syria; 19 Syrians decided to stay in the accommodation facilities provided by the Turkish authorities, and 177 of them chose to live outside according to a recent report released by the EU.¹⁴

Even though daily crossings dropped 97 % between 2015 and 2017, the EU-Turkey Statement has been receiving criticism from human rights organizations and rights-based NGOs for regarding Turkey as a "safe third country" and not ensuring the safety of refugees. The EU has five criteria for a country to be considered as a 'safethird country': i) the life and liberty of asylum claimants and refugees will not be threatened on account of race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinion; ii) there is no risk of serious harm as defined in Directive

2011/95/EU; iii) the principle of non-refoulement is respected; iv) the prohibition of removal, in violation of the right to freedom from torture and cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment is respected; and e) the possibility exists to request refugee status and, if found to be a refugee, to be accorded Refugee Convention Protection.¹⁵ The EU has presumed Turkey as a "safe third country" regardless of whether Turkey fits all five of the above criteria. Although, Turkey does not provide "refugee status" to people coming from a non-European country due to the geographical limitation, and does not recognize the rights of refugees mentioned in the Convention, the presumption of Turkey as a "safe-third country" is mainly based on ensuring non-refoulement protection and access to fundamental rights.

This article aims to explore the impact of the EU-Turkey Statement and whether Turkey can be recognised as a "safe third country" for refugees, by focusing on the experiences of Syrian refugees in Turkey. This paper consists of three interrelated parts. The first part presents the methods of this research. The second part explores Turkey's response to Syrian migration by providing an historical overview and looking at the legal aspects of Syrian migration. The third part provides insight into the experiences of Syrian refugees in Turkey in relation to access to rights and their settlement choices. Finally, the conclusion discusses the validity of the EU-Turkey Statement and whether it is responding to the needs of Syrian refugees in Turkey.

Methods of Research

The findings presented here are based on fieldwork¹⁶ carried out in İstanbul, İzmir and Gaziantep from May 2016 to December 2016 as part of a project funded by the Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TÜBİTAK-BİDEB). The reason for selecting these three cities is as follows: İstanbul has the highest number of Syrians, with 537,829,17 in conjunction with migrants from Somalia, Russia, Afghanistan, Iraq, Iran, Bangladesh, Uzbekistan, and Moldova amongst others. Gaziantep, bordering Syria, hosts 350,06718 Syrians and contains many Syrian-run businesses plus many national and international NGOs working with refugees. İzmir, the Aegean province Turkish port city, is the starting point of the movement of refugees to Europe over the last few years. The number of Syrian refugees residing in Izmir is lower than Istanbul and Gaziantep as it has become a transit city for migrants attempting to reach Europe. In order to have a better understanding of the reasons behind the movement of Syrian refugees to Europe and the profile of the refugees on

the move, I preferred to conduct a part of my fieldwork in İzmir. I conducted in-depth interviews with 75 Syrian refugees in total, 25 Syrian refugees in each city, recruited in cafes and other meeting points. The length of stay of participants in Turkey varied; while some had migrated just months earlier, others had been living in İstanbul and/ or Gaziantep for up to four years. Once I had made some connections, I used a snowballing approach to identify further interviewees. The participants consisted of males and females, aged from 19 to 54. Most were from very low socio-economic status although a few informants were living in more affluent districts of Istanbul, İzmir and Gaziantep.

The number of Syrian refugees residing in İzmir is lower than İstanbul and Gaziantep as it has become a transit city for migrants attempting to reach Europe.

During the interviews, I worked closely with an interpreter who translated from Arabic to English. Questions were designed to be open-ended to enable respondents to tell their stories in their own words, and related to their experiences of living in Turkey, including settlement, access to rights, social networks, and near future plans, in order to understand whether the participants were planning to move to another country. I used qualitative content analysis to identify a set of common themes from the narratives, and then employed a thematic coding system, which helped to create analytical categories. Ethical approval for the project was gained via the university's ethics committee and consent forms were circulated to all participants before starting the interview process.

Turkey's Response to Syrian Refugees: From 'Guests' to 'Citizens'

The first movement of Syrian refugees to Turkey began in 2011. The first group of Syrian refugees crossed into the Hatay region of Turkey in April 2011. As refugees enter the country, they are registered by the Turkish Disaster and Emergency Management Authority (AFAD) and then are settled in refugee camps that have been established by the Turkish government in Adana, Adıyaman, Gaziantep, Hatay, Kahramanmaraş, Kilis, Malatya, Mardin, Osmaniye, and Şanlıurfa.¹⁹ There are 26 refugee camps in Turkey, which are run by AFAD. The services provided to Syrian refugees in the camps cover the basic survival needs including food, health

care and educational activities. By the end of 2012, there were over 170,912 registered refugees in Turkey. In 2013, the influx of refugees from Syria into Turkey reached its highest levels, with nearly 40,000 arrivals on average per month.²⁰ By the end of 2014, the total number of registered Syrian refugees reached 1,622.839,²¹ and 2,503,549²² towards the end of 2015. According to the UN High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), as of January 2018, there are 3,424.237²³ Syrian refugees registered in Turkey.

The first group of Syrian refugees crossed into the Hatay region of Turkey in April 2011.

At the beginning of the movement from Syria, Turkey adopted an "open door" policy based on religion-oriented hospitality, and Syrian refugees were perceived and welcomed as "guests". However, from a legal perspective, "guest"status implies an unpredictability about their status and, therefore, it is not internationally recognized. Turkey is a party to the 1951 Geneva Convention Related to the Status of Refugees and the 1967 Protocol. Turkey signed and ratified the 1951 Refugee Convention and the 1967 Protocol, though with geographical limitation, а which limits its responsibilities towards only European refugees. It does not provide a refugee status to people coming from non-European countries, and does not recognize the rights of refugees mentioned in the Convention. In October 2011, the Turkish government introduced a temporary protection regime for Syrians in Turkey, ensuring non-refoulement protection and humanitarian assistance. However. there was little information available on the temporary protection regime and it did not refer to access to rights. With the influence of the EU to develop the Turkish asylum law during the Turkey's EU accession process, the Law of Foreigners and International Protection (LFIP) was adopted in April 2013 and fully entered into force in April 2014. With the new law, the status of Syrians was clarified, focusing on subsidiary protection, temporary protection²⁴ status, and humanitarian assistance.²⁵ The rights of Syrian nationals in Turkey now include a lawful stay in Turkey until the conflict ends in Syria, and access to health, education, social assistance and the labour markets. With the LFIP, Turkey for the first time included provisions on migrant integration, which is referred to as "harmonization".²⁶ However, accessing these rights stated in the LFIP can be difficult in practice. For example, according to the work permit regulation, employers have to apply on behalf of Syrians who are registered

and have been in Turkey for more than six months. An employment quota also applies. According to the quota, Syrians cannot exceed 10 % of the employed Turkish citizens in the same workplace. The Ministry of Labour and Social Security data indicate that only 13,298 Syrians were granted a work permit in 2016.²⁷

The rights of Syrian nationals in Turkey now include a lawful stay in Turkey until the conflict ends in Syria, and access to health, education, social assistance and the labour markets.

Although Syrian children's access to education is gradually improving, longterm solutions are needed. Growing concerns about the education of Syrian children led to the release of the Turkish Ministry of Education's Circular, No: 2014/21 on "Education Services for Foreign Nationals" on 23 September 2014. The circular aimed to guide and better frame the application process for all migrant children to have access to education services with specified options for Syrian refugee children.²⁸ Syrian children can either attend Turkish public schools attend Temporary Education or

Centers (TEC) that are primary and secondary education centers providing education to school-aged Syrian children in Turkey with a partnership between Turkey's Ministry of National Education (MONE), UNICEF and UNHCR.²⁹ TECs provide education in Arabic, apply a modified Syrian curriculum, and operate both within and outside refugee camps. The curriculum of TECs is managed by Syrian Interim Government's the Ministry of Education in cooperation with the Turkish Ministry of National Education. The number of Syrian children attending TECs are higher than other schooling institutions such as Turkish public schools.³⁰ However, most Temporary Education Centers (TEC) have now been shut down by the government in order to integrate Syrian children into the Turkish national education system and all Syrian children can have access to formal Turkish schools. According to a new report on Syrian refugees in Turkey, published by the Turkish Parliament's Refugee Rights Commission, there were 976,200 Syrian children in Turkey by November 2017 and while 333,000 of these children continue their education in Turkish public schools, 305,000 of them still receive education at Temporary Education Centers.³¹ As stated in the report, a total of 638,000 Syrian children go to school in Turkey, which is equivalent to 62% of the

total number of Syrian children in the country. Whilst 95% of these children attend primary school, there is a drop in the number of students attending secondary and high school.

At the beginning of the movement from Syria, Turkey adopted an "open door" policy based on religion-oriented hospitality, and Syrian refugees were perceived and welcomed as "guests".

Even though the government of Turkey has taken important steps to make Turkish public schools legally accessible to Syrian refugee children and to give accreditation to the TECs, Syrian children still face many barriers to attending schools in Turkey.32 The issue of child labour among Syrians in Turkey is one of the barriers preventing children to attend school. According to a research conducted by Support to Life, a national humanitarian aid organisation based in Turkey, in Hatay and Şanlıurfa, between 70 and 80 % of Syrian children work at least eight hours a day, six days a week.³³

Regarding access to health services, Syrians under temporary protection have the right to benefit from health services under the control and responsibility of the Ministry of Health in coordination with AFAD. According to the Circular 2014/4 and Circular 2015/8 published by AFAD, refugees who are not registered with the Directorate General of Migration Management (DGMM) cannot benefit from health services other than emergency services and primary health services (i.e. in case of contagious diseases).34 In some cases, language barriers with Turkish health care providers constitutes a problem in accessing health services. Yet, translation services and Syrian health personnel also operate in certain neighbourhoods and facilitate the process. The only right that is not stated in the LFIP is housing. There are no public housing opportunities for Syrian refugees in Turkey. Syrians living outside of the camps need to provide for their housing expenses themselves. The vast majority of Syrians live outside the camps and finding affordable housing with their limited finances become one of the main problems that many Syrians experience.

The vast majority of Syrians live outside the camps and finding affordable housing with their limited finances become one of the main problems that many Syrians experience.

Although access to these rights are limited in practice, the integration gradually improving. policies are Another important step in the recognition of the Turkish government for the permanent settlement of Syrians was the Turkish President's announcement on 2 July 2016 that Syrians would be granted citizenship.35 By the end of 2017, almost 40,000 of Syrians with more human and economic capital acquired Turkish citizenship and some more are expected to get it soon.³⁶

Experiences of Syrian Refugees in Turkey (2015-2017)

The settlement patterns of Syrian refugees in Turkey have changed with the large numbers of new arrivals. Initially, the early arrivals were settled in the refugee camps closer to the Syrian-Turkish border. A year after their arrival, most Syrian refugees started to leave the camps and settle in border and metropolitan cities, due to the camps being over-crowded and the preference to live with relatives in Turkey. Over time, the number of new arrivals increased so much that the camps could not house them all. Today, about 92% of Syrian refugees in Turkey remain outside of the refugee camps.37 Those who are not registered with Turkish authorities also choose to live outside of camps, especially in towns and cities due to the entry barriers to these facilities. In the process of settlement, many Syrians have felt isolated due to the lack of access to information and not being able to speak the receiving society's language.

Over time, the number of new arrivals increased so much that the camps could not house them all.

The lack of information about their rights and limited access to services, hinders the integration processes. A majority of the respondents in İstanbul stated that they do not know their rights or which services are available for them, as the state does not provide information about how to access services such as healthcare and education. Syrian refugees get help from certain NGOs and local authorities. One 45-year-old Syrian female interviewed in Istanbul highlighted that living in areas where the majority of the population consists of refugees, makes accessing local services easier:

"The majority of the population in the Fatih district of İstanbul are Syrian refugees - nearly 70 %. The local council circulated food to us and calls us every three months" (45 years old, female, İstanbul)

The Syrian refugees I interviewed in İstanbul stated that not receiving enough support from the government services make their lives difficult, and that they need to exert more effort to access the services and information. A 49-year-old Syrian male stated his experience of accessing resources. Although Syrian children are now allowed in Turkish schools, he did not have that information at the time. He said that:

"We need help from the government. I want to send my children to school but the government does not offer education to Syrian children. We do not know what rights we have, where to go if something happens to us, or where to get help. Charities are not useful; they just brought some clothes and provide nothing else." (49 years old, male, İstanbul)

Having established mechanisms to provide support and facilities for Syrian refugees in Turkey is important, and it could be more beneficial to give authority to local representatives to respond to the refugees' needs, and to connect refugees to relevant services by constructing effective communication between local representatives and Syrian refugees. In both cases, Syrian refugees are making an effort to access information and services provided for them as stated by a Syrian in Gaziantep:

"The local representatives do not share the information with us about registration and our rights, we need to search and find out ourselves." (37 years old, female, Gaziantep)

One of the main obstacles many Syrians experience is finding affordable housing. Housing is one of the key dimensions for refugee integration. In order to feel included in the society, refugees need to access decent, safe, secure and affordable accommodation. With the increased number of Syrian refugees in urban areas, accommodation is a major struggle for Syrians. It is also reported that rent prices have soared after the arrival of Syrians in certain neighborhoods, which affects both local poor and Syrians alike:

"I found a flat in the Fatih district for 450 TL four years ago. Now, the landlord wants 1000 TL for the same flat. I have to pay this amount for a one bedroom flat. My Turkish neighbors pay 600 TL for a two- bedroom flat. Syrians pay 1000 TL. They [landlords] do not think; they do not care. We escaped from the war." (25 years old, male, İstanbul) In order to feel included in the society, refugees need to access decent, safe, secure and affordable accommodation.

In order to find affordable housing, a majority of my respondents stated they receive support from the community:

"I came to Turkey four years ago. I first stayed in the camp for four days then I escaped and went to Adana. I have an aunt in Adana. Adana was too hot. There are many fights in the camp. I stayed in the camp in Urfa. My uncle said 'go to the camp, I will take you from there'. I came to İstanbul three years ago. My Syrian friend helped me to find an accommodation and job." (33 years old, male, İstanbul)

"Some friends told us to go to İstanbul; they said that 'there is work in İstanbul, everything is fine there'. They helped us to find an accommodation." (26 years old, female, İstanbul)

As in the case of many refugees, ethnic networks are useful in providing employment among Syrian refugees in Turkey. As Bloch and McKay's research suggests, "where constraints are imposed by lack of legal status, ethnic networks may be the only available option, even where they only offer minimal or even no access to resources or information".³⁸ Muller also states the effective role of ethnic networks in accessing employment.³⁹ The positive role of ethnic networks in accessing the job market is also supported in the case of Syrian forced migrants in Turkey. Many respondents stated that they benefitted from their friends and relatives in accessing job markets:

"Syrian and Turkish people in Gaziantep told me that I could find a job in İstanbul easily. I found a job in a restaurant owned by Syrians. I am now working as a manager in the restaurant." (42 years old, male, İstanbul)

"My employer is Syrian and most of the customers are Syrian. There are a lot of Syrians where I work. It is better to work with Syrian people. They speak Arabic. It makes communication easier." (24 years old, female, İstanbul)

Many Syrian refugees interviewed for this research acknowledge the positive role of ethnic social bonds in finding accommodation and accessing the labour markets in Turkey. However, the ones who do not have social networks experience hardship in finding the employment and if they find a job, they work in difficult conditions and are often exploited, as stated by some respondents in İstanbul: "When I first came here, I worked as a tailor, and earned 600 TL. I worked one month. They said that there is no money. They say that you can complain to the police. They know that I cannot get anything because I do not have a work permit here." (25 years old, male, İstanbul)

In many cases, some employers (ab) use the situation for their own interest, as many Syrians have to work in the informal sector without work permits and they have fewer chances than locals do of finding better employment. Therefore, they accept the worst working conditions, with less pay. A 29-year-old Syrian male living in Gaziantep explained his experience of working in Turkey:

"We all have our traumas; our psychology gets worse here. They [the Turkish government] granted us work permits but it is very difficult to get because employers do not prefer to apply for work permits. All Syrians work in the informal economy and employers use this for their advantage. Most of the employers do not pay the wages of Syrians and tell them go to the police. They [the employers] know that Syrians do not prefer to go to police or complain anywhere because most of the

Syrians are not registered and work illegally, so they benefit from their vulnerable situation. Turkey opens the border for us but it is not enough." (29 years old, male, Gaziantep)

Apart from having limited access to job markets and housing, education is another problem Syrian refugees face. According to Human Rights Watch, many Syrian children are unable to attend school because of the language barrier and lack of Turkish language support for non-native speakers; some of them face bullying and social integration difficulties, lack accurate information on enrolment procedures, economic hardship and temporary education centres are limited in number and not widely available in areas where Syrian refugees live.40 A respondent living in İstanbul mentioned the difficulty of finding a school that would accept her children. She said that:

"I want my children to get an education while we are in Turkey, but accessing the education is not easy. Even though we are registered and have an ID card, it is hard to find a school accepting Syrian children. I tried to register my children to a school in İstanbul's Fatih district, but the schools did not accept them. The school's directors said that we do not have enough space for this year, you can ask again next year." (33 years old, female, İstanbul)

As a result of limited access to resources, not having a secure status and uncertainty of future, many Syrians living in Turkey prefer to move to Europe in order to have a better life standard.

Moving to Europe: Challenges and Aspirations of Syrian refugees

Many Syrians interviewed for this research highlighted that they wanted to go to Europe to have a better prospect of life, including access to the labor market, education, and health, having free accommodation and receiving unemployment benefits. Based on hearsay, a 31-year-old Syrian male respondent mentioned the resources to which he might have access if he moves to Germany. He said:

"In Germany, people have a better life. I am saving money to go to Europe. I can find a job there. They will give me house and money every month. I will have a better life in Germany. Here in Turkey, it is very expensive, the money I earn is not enough. I work 12 hours a day." (31 years old, male, İstanbul) When I ask how he knows that Germany gives money, provides access to job markets and offers affordable housing, he stated that:

"I have relatives who moved to Germany a year ago. They said that they have all these rights" (31 years old, male, İstanbul).

Social networks of refugees become crucial in deciding which country to go to. Gilbert and Koser argue that when choosing a destination country, asylum seekers take into account the availability of social networks in the country of destination as well as the countries' geographical location, economic situation, and migration policy in relation to access to rights and resources.⁴¹

Another reason stated by many Syrians for their decision to move to Europe is social exclusion they might face in Turkey, and the perception of Europe - especially of Germany - as the land of opportunities and its welcoming portrayal on social media towards refugees. A respondent mentioned discriminatory attitudes of some local people, which make him consider going to Europe and look for other alternatives:

"I want to go to Europe but it is very expensive. I want to go to Germany. There is no future for me here. Most Syrian people want to go to Europe because of communication problems and discrimination. If I stay here, there will be more problems and my life conditions will get worse." (29 years old, male, İstanbul).

When choosing a destination country, asylum seekers take into account the availability of social networks in the country of destination as well as the countries' geographical location, economic situation, and migration policy in relation to access to rights and resources.

Research shows that in an environment where harmony and friendliness are established between refugees and the natives, refugees feel safe and secure.⁴² However, in the case of Syrian refugees in Turkey, the natives' sometimes discriminatory behaviours and the refugees' lack of local language competence create barriers in establishing good relationships with the members of the receiving society and leave the refugees with a sense of feeling excluded.

Some Syrians prefer to go to Europe through regular ways such as applying for refugee status through the UNHCR. However, in most cases, the application process through the UNHCR takes too long and they do not want to wait in limbo in the transit country due to fear of persecution, poverty and uncertainty. The participants mentioned how the regulations make their life difficult in the following ways:

"I came to Gaziantep 10 months ago with my son. I am a lawyer but can't work here. Rent is very expensive here. My husband is in Norway. We will go to Norway. We applied to the UNHCR a year ago but haven't heard anything yet. If the UNHCR does not contact me within a year, I will go to Europe by using the dangerous route". (33 years old, female, Gaziantep)

"We are living in Turkey for four years under temporary protection. We have established our lives in Turkey but we do not know what will happen to us in the near future. We need a safe status; we need to feel safe. If Turkey does not offer us permanent residency, we need to search for other destinations. But if Turkey will grant us permanent residency or citizenship, we will stay in Turkey". (34 years old, male, Gaziantep)

The quotations above show that being in limbo and not having a secure status force Syrians to flee to Europe. Restrictive migration and integration policies do not prevent migrants from moving to other countries. As Portes states, migration policies focusing on

short-term plans become unsuccessful and force migrants to choose other directions.43 In order to go to Europe, many Syrians use irregular ways via human smugglers or individual resources. Their decision to go to Europe using smuggling services is voluntary as mentioned above, since the application process through the UNHCR takes long time. Castles argues that smuggling is an unintended outcome of restrictive migration policies and the lack of access to rights and resources.44 Even though going to Europe is expensive and dangerous, many Syrians plan to attempt to reach Europe:

"I plan to go to Europe. I will first go to Greece or Sofia. I lost US\$ 1000 to get a passport... My wife is pregnant. I want my child to be raised in peace. I want to go to Europe for my child to have a better life. In order to go to Europe, I have to work and save money. I came to Turkey because Turkey is central to Europe." (35 years old, male, İzmir)

"I have been told that many Syrians come to Aksaray, İstanbul to go to Europe. There are lots of smugglers who are Turks, Moroccans and Syrians in Aksaray. A friend of mine in Syria told me that I could easily reach smugglers in Aksaray. He knew a Syrian guy who organizes the journey. I came to İstanbul, Aksaray to go to Germany through the smuggling operation. I paid US\$ 10,000 to go to Germany." (27 years old, Syrian male, İstanbul)

The respondents above indicate that they are aware that the journey is dangerous; they know the procedure and cost of the journey. It is important to state that not all the Syrians going to Europe have been living in Turkey, as some of them travel from Syria to İzmir in order to directly go to Europe. One 35-year-old Syrian male stated that he directly came to İzmir from Syria with his family. He said the following:

"We came to İzmir from Syria a week ago to go to Europe. We escaped from the ISIS attacks. We could not take all our money because we had to run away. We paid US\$ 1,200 per person to go to Greece. We do not know where to go from Greece. It depends on the amount of money we will receive from our relatives in Lebanon. We do not want to die in Syria; we have to escape." (35 years old, male, İzmir)

When I ask the respondent above why they (the family) do not want to live in Turkey and instead chose the dangerous route to go to Europe, he said that: "We are aware of the conditions and situations of Syrians in Turkey; they are not in good conditions, so we choose to go to Europe. We also do not want to live in Turkey for security reasons because Turkey is a neighbourhood country of Syria and there are continuous terrorist attacks in Turkey" (35 years old, male, İzmir).

This interview took place after the EU-Turkey Statement in which Turkey is recognized as a "safe third country" for Syrian refugees. Even though, the number of migrants crossing to Europe reduced dramatically, the safe environment has not been established for many Syrians in Turkey.

Conclusion

It has been almost two years since the EU-Turkey Statement has started being implemented. However, there are still concerns about the legality of the agreement, especially concerning the EU's assumption of Turkey as a "safe third country". Although, Turkey does not fit all the necessary criteria to be considered as a "safe third country", the presumption of Turkey as a "safe-third country" is mainly based on ensuring non-refoulement protection and providing access to fundamental rights. The concerns related to recognizing
Turkey as a "safe third country" highlights the geographical restriction that Turkey maintains the 1951 Geneva Convention and its 1969 Protocol, due to which Syrians are not recognised as refugees. This situation is not only creating barriers to their permanent settlement in Turkey, but it also limits their access to the rights provided to refugees. Respecting the nonrefoulement principle of international refugee law is not enough, as the other requirements in the Refugee Convention, including access to social assistance, healthcare, labour markets and education also have to be provided for refugees to feel secure. As expressed by human rights organizations, since March 2015, Turkey has virtually sealed its borders with Syria and erected walls near the border areas.⁴⁵

According to the Statement, Turkey needs to ensure access to effective asylum procedures for all persons in need of international protection.46 There are also claims of unlawful practices which are carried out against the principles of the LFIP in a deportation centre for irregular migrants.47 Apart from ensuring access to effective asylum procedures, according to the Statement, Turkey also needs to guarantee that the rights of all refugees need to be safeguarded in line with the Refugee Convention.48 However, the empirical data illustrate that many Syrians have experienced struggles to access the labour market, education, health care and housing that are essential for refugees, and which need to be guaranteed.

The EU should offer humane reception conditions to people who are in need of help, improve the situation of asylum seekers in the Greek islands, transfer them to mainland Greece for their cases to be processed rather than return them to Turkey, and take its fair share of responsibility.

The EU has also received criticism for not providing safe and legal ways for asylum seekers to reach other European countries for family reunification, relocation or humanitarian visas. It is stated that thousands of asylum seekers in Greece are trapped in deplorable and volatile conditions, with many denied access to adequate asylum procedures by human rights and humanitarian aid organisations.49 The EU should offer humane reception conditions to people who are in need of help, improve the situation of asylum seekers in the Greek islands, transfer them to mainland Greece for their cases to be processed rather than return them to Turkey, and take its fair share of responsibility. Therefore, the EU-Turkey deal is not working as it does not offer safe and stable living conditions and does not provide effective protection for refugees.

Policy makers need to understand migration as a social process of a long-term nature, and need to establish long-term policies in order to be able to respond to the migrants' needs.

The emphasis of this article is that long term solutions to improve refugees' access to rights are needed for an effective integration process of Syrian refugees in Turkey. As Castles stated, policy makers need to understand migration as a social process of a longterm nature, and need to establish long-term policies in order to be able to respond to the migrants' needs.⁵⁰ Even though there has been a considerable decline in the number of irregular crossings to Europe since the Statement was implemented, no progress has been made on the integration of Syrians in Turkey.⁵¹ In order for Turkey to be considered as a "safe third country" in legal terms, a sustainable status should be given to Syrians and other refugees from different countries who have been living in Turkey for years. Rather than giving temporary protection with the absence of a timeframe, access to rights should be guaranteed to Syrian refugees not only on paper but also in practice.

Endnotes

- 1 European Commission- Humanitarian Aid and Civil Protection, 2017, at https:// ec.europa.eu/echo/files/aid/countries/factsheets/syria_en.pdf (last visited 28 January 2018).
- 2 UNHCR- Syria Regional Refugee Response, 2017, at http://data.unhcr.org/ syrianrefugees/regional.php (last visited 28 January 2018).
- 3 I will use the term 'refugee' when referring to Syrians in Turkey even though they are not recognized as a refugee to highlight the international protection and rights.
- 4 Nicholas De Genova, "Migrant "Illegality" and Deportability in Everyday Life", *Annual Review of Anthropology*, Vol. 31 (2002), pp. 419- 447.
- 5 Alice Bloch and Lisa Schuster, "At the Extremes of Exclusion: Deportation, Detention and Dispersal", *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, Vol.28, No.3 (2005), pp. 491-512.
- 6 Rinus Penninx, Dimitrina Spencer and Nicholas Van Hear, "Migration and Integration in Europe: The State of Research", 2008, at http://www.compas.ox.ac.uk/fileadmin/files/ Publications/Reports/Migration%20and%20Integration%20in%20Europe.pdf (last visited 10 March 2017).
- 7 Steven Castles, "Why Migration Policies Fail", *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, Vol.27, No.2 (2004), pp. 205- 227.
- 8 Asylum in the EU Member States, "Record Number of over 1.2 Million First Time Asylum Seekers Registered in 2015", at http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/ documents/2995521/7203832/3-04032016-AP-EN.pdf/ (last visited 19 March 2017).
- 9 Ahmet İçduygu and Şule Toktaş, "After the EU- Turkey Refugee Deal: A Perspective from Turkey", *Clingendael, Netherlands Institute of International Relations*, at https:// www.clingendael.nl/publication/after-eu-turkey-refugee-deal-perspective-turkey (last visited 21 March 2017).
- 10 Ahmet İçduygu and Doğuş Şimşek, "Bargaining over Refugees: Turkey's View", *Beyond Migration and Asylum Crisis: Options and Lessons for Europe*, Italy, Aspen Italia Views, 2017, pp. 85-91.
- 11 European Commission, "Fifth Report on the Progress Made in the Implementation of the EU-Turkey Statement", at https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/ files/what-we-do/policies/european-agenda-migration/20170302_fifth_report_on_ the_progress_made_in_the_implementation_of_the_eu-turkey_statement_en.pdf, (last visited 16 March 2017).

- 12 European Commission, EU-Turkey Statement one year on, at https://ec.europa.eu/ home-affairs/sites/homeaffairs/files/what-we-do/policies/european-agenda-migration/ background-information/eu_turkey_statement_17032017_en.pdf, (last visited 28 January 2018).
- 13 European Commission, "Seventh Report on the Progress Made in the Implementation of the EU-Turkey Statement", at https://ec.europa.eu/neighbourhood-enlargement/ sites/near/files/20170906_seventh_report_on_the_progress_in_the_implementation_ of_the_eu-turkey_statement_en.pdf, (last visited 28 January 2018).
- 14 Ibid.
- 15 Art.38, para.1, APD; Refworld, Section 12: The Safe Third Country Concept, pp.2-3, at http://www.refworld.org/cgi-bin/texis/vtx/rwmain/opendocpdf. pdf?reldoc=y&docid=4bab55e22, (last visited 2018).
- 16 This research was funded by the Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TÜBİTAK). The project number is 114C145.
- 17 Ministry of Interior Directorate General of Migration Statistic's, at http://www.goc.gov. tr/icerik6/gecici-koruma_363_378_4713_icerik (last visited 28 January 2018).
- 18 Ibid.
- 19 "The Population Influx from Syria to Turkey: Life in Turkey as a Syrian Guest, Report by Disaster and Emergency Management Authority (AFAD)", at https://www.afad.gov. tr/Dokuman/TR/148-20150202172457-11549547929971633783.pdf (last visited 25 March 2017).
- 20 Ahmet İçduygu, "Syrian Refugees in Turkey: The Long Road Ahead", 2015, at http:// www.migrationpolicy.org/research/syrian-refugees-turkey-long-road-ahead, (last visited 11 February 2017).
- 21 UNHCR Syria Regional Refugee Response, at http://data.unhcr.org/syrianrefugees/ country.php?id=224 (last visited 28 January 2018).
- 22 Ibid.
- 23 Ibid.
- 24 On 22 October 2014, the Council of Ministers of the Republic of Turkey issued a regulation on temporary protection.
- 25 Ahmet İçduygu and Doğuş Şimşek, "Syrian Refugees in Turkey: Towards Integration Policies", *Turkish Policy Quarterly*, Vol. 15, No. 3 (2016), pp. 59- 69.
- 26 Meral Açıkgöz and Hakkı Onur Arıner, "Turkey's New Law on Foreigners and International Protection: An Introduction", at https://www.compas.ox.ac.uk/media/BP-2014-TurkMis-Turkey_New_Law_Foreigners-1.pdf, (last visited 27 February 2017).

- 27 "Türkiye 73 Bin Yabancıya Çalışma İzni Verdi", *Ekonomi7*, at http://www.ekonomi7. com/haber/1071/turkiye-73-bin-yabanciya-calisma-izni-verdi.html.
- 28 Ahmet İçduygu and Doğuş Şimşek, "Syrian refugees in Turkey", pp. 59- 69.
- 29 UNICEF (2016) Syria Crisis Report- Humanitarian Results, at http://reliefweb.int/ sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/UNICEF%20Syria%20Crisis%20Situation%20 Report%20-%20Year%20End%202016.pdf, (last visited 25 March 2017).
- 30 Bülent Aras and Salih Yasun, "The Educational Opportunities and Challenges of Syrian Refugee Students in Turkey: Temporary Education Centers and Beyond", at http://ipc. sabanciuniv.edu/en/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/Bulent-Aras-and-Salih-Yasun-11. pdf, (last visited 21 March 2017).
- 31 "TBMM İnsan Haklarını İnceleme Komisyonu Mülteci Hakları Alt Komisyonu raporu", at https://tr.sputniknews.com/turkiye/201801181031873614-tbmm-turkiye-suriyeliler-rontgenini-cekti/, (last visited 28 January 2018).
- 32 Dogus Simsek, "The Processes of Integration and Education: The Case of Syrian Refuge Children in Turkey", in M.Pace and S.Sen (eds.), *Syrian Refugee Children in the Middle East and Europe: Integrating the Young and Exiled*, Routledge, London, 2018.
- 33 Sezen Yalçın, "Syrian Child Workers in Turkey", *Turkish Policy Quarterly*, Vol.15, No.3 (2016), pp. 89-98.
- 34 Mehmet Gülay, "Legislative Arrangements in the Field of Right to Health. In War, Migration and Health; Experience of Turkey", *Turkish Medical Association Publications*, 2016.
- 35 "Erdogan Offers Citizenship to Syrian and Iraqi Refugees", at http://www.aljazeera.com/ news/2017/01/erdogan-offers-citizenship-syrian-iraqi-refugees-170106195134961. html, (last visited 23 March 2017).
- 36 Şebnem Köşer Akçapar and Doğuş Şimşek, "The Politics of Syrian Refugees in Turkey: A Question of Inclusion and Exclusion through Citizenship," *Social Inclusion*, Vol.6, No.1 (2018), pp. 176-187.
- 37 European Commission, European Civil Protection and Humanitarian Aid Operations, "Turkey: Refugee Crisis", at http://ec.europa.eu/echo/files/aid/countries/factsheets/ turkey_syrian_crisis_en.pdf (last visited 23 March 2017).
- 38 Alice Bloch and Sonia McKay, "Employment, Social Networks and Undocumented Migrants: The Employer Perspective", *Sociology*, Vol.49, No.1 (2015), pp.35-55.
- 39 Thomas Muller, "Immigration and Urban Areas: the United States Experience", OECD Proceedings: Immigrants, Integration and Cities: Exploring the Links, OECD, Paris, 1998.

- 40 Human Rights Watch, "When I Picture My Future, I See Nothing": Barriers to Education for Syrian Refugee Children in Turkey", at https://www.hrw.org/sites/ default/files/report_pdf/turkey1115_reportcover_web.pdf, (last visited 23 March 2017).
- 41 Alan Gilbert and Khalid Koser, 'Coming to the UK: What do Asylum Seekers Know About the UK Before Arrival?', *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, Vol.32, No.7 (2006), pp. 1209- 25.
- 42 Alastair Ager and Alison Strang, "Understanding Integration: A Conceptual Framework", *Journal of Refugee Studies*, Vol. 21, No.2 (2008), pp.166-191.
- 43 Alejandro Portes, "Immigration Theory for a New Century: Some Problems and Opportunities", *International Migration Review*, *Vol.*31, No.4, (1997), pp. 799- 825.
- 44 Steven Castles, "Why Migration Policies Fail", *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, Vol.27, No.2 (2004), pp.205-227.
- 45 Human Rights Watch, "EU Policies out Refugees at Risk: An Agenda to Restore Protection", at https://www.hrw.org/news/2016/11/23/eu-policies-put-refugees-risk, (last visited 21 March 2017).
- 46 European Commission-Press release, "Six Principles for Further Developing EU-Turkey Cooperation in Tackling the Migration Crisis", at http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_ IP-16-830_en.htm, (last visited 25 March 2017).
- 47 Orcun Ulusoy, "Turkey as a Safe Third Country?", at https://www.law.ox.ac.uk/researchsubject-groups/centre-criminology/centreborder-criminologies/blog/2016/03/turkeysafe-third, (last visited 25 March 2017).
- 48 European Commission-Press release, "Six principles for further developing EU-Turkey cooperation in tackling the migration crisis"
- 49 "Greece: Asylum Seekers in Abysmal Conditions on Islands", at https://www.amnesty. org/en/latest/news/2017/10/greece-asylum-seekers-in-abysmal-conditions-onislands/, (last visited 28 January 2018).
- 50 Steven Castles, "Why Migration Policies Fail", pp.205-227.
- 51 Ahmet Içduygu and Doğuş Şimşek, "Bargaining over refugees", pp. 85-91.

The Impact of Forced Migration in the Middle East: Syrian and Palestinian Refugees

Meltem İNCE YENİLMEZ*

Abstract

Forced migration in the Middle East dates back to the mid-20th century. This paper takes up the experiences of Palestinian and Syrian refugees and examines the impact of forced migration on the host countries and the region at large. It explicates the short and longterm economic, cultural and political outcomes of these two refugee flows and concludes that forced migration- although extremely disruptive to all involved initially- has a net benefit on the host countries in the long-run. It also explores the reasons behind the lack of regional coping mechanisms, including regional migration management mechanisms, and proposes that the terms such as "crisis" and "guests" should be avoided when discussing protracted situations because refugees are not able to repatriate to their countries of origin whenever they wish, and may instead become permanent residents of the host country because of the political and economic problems in the home countries.

Key Words

Migration, Middle East, Refugees, Politics, Culture.

Introduction

For decades, the Middle East has been the scene of forced migrations. As Martin indicates, forced migration itself has many causes and takes on many forms.¹ People leave their homes because of civil wars, political turmoil, and international terrorism, among other things. Forced migration may also take place because of the creation of nation-states. The phenomenon of violent mass displacement has become one of the defining features of the Middle East. Forced migration continued throughout the 20^{th} century, with the displacement of the Palestinians following the wars with Israel in the 1940s and in the 1960s, creating a refugee population that still has not been officially settled decades later, and forcing the populations into generations "permanent of impermanence".² Forced migration has continued well into the 21st century, as

^{*} Assoc. Prof. Dr., Yaşar University, Department of Economics, Ağaçlı Yol Üniv. Cad. No:35-37, 35320, Bornova - İzmir. E-mail: meltem.ince@yasar.edu.tr

Syria's civil war has created the largest number of refugees since World War II, with over 5 million forced to flee the country and at least 7 million internally displaced.³ This paper will take up the experiences of the Palestinians and Syrians and examine the impact of their forced migration on the region and beyond.

The phenomenon of violent mass displacement has become one of the defining features of the Middle East.

Of all the different categories of people, from citizens to foreigners, forced migration has had the greatest impact on how the term "refugee" is considered. Historically, refugees are considered as temporary. Refugees would flee an internal conflict, or would be forcibly removed from the country of origin, but it was expected that they would return home as soon as problems disappear. The history of forced migration has had a big impact on the entire Middle East, on its cultures, and especially on the politics of the region. Each time there is mass scale forced migration, it changes the relationships among the countries, and has a deep impact on the individual countries involved. As a consequence, labour markets are affected not only in the home country of the refugees but also in the host country. Typically, host

countries also benefit as they receive a large influx of new labour force. Perhaps surprisingly, such influxes also improve the institutional and political environment of the host country, as existing institutions and the political system are forced to cope with the influx of refugees. It can take some time for any host country to adjust initially, but in the long run, if managed well, they may reap the benefits of refugee influx. Additionally, the host country's culture is enriched by the increase in diversity that the displaced people bring with them through their own cultures. Furthermore, cross-cultural political relationships are strengthened in the long run as the countries have to learn to work together to handle the major displacement of people.

Of all the different categories of people, from citizens to foreigners, forced migration has had the greatest impact on how the term "refugee" is considered.

Naturally, these benefits do not come without a price. The migrants themselves suffer some of the worst trauma that people can ever experience. All the countries involved are greatly disrupted politically and socially, and in cases similar to Syria, the whole region can become unstable. Culturally, the host country will be disrupted as mentioned above, and although increased diversity will make the home country stronger in the long run, not everyone will be happy to see this change, as the country's identity will be in flux. This is especially true as handling the influx of refugees can force countries to question their identity of being traditionally open to all newcomers, as is happening in the European Union countries.⁴ Although forced migration may pave the way for strengthening institutions in countries of destination, it should be noted that it is not the will of the people to flee their home countries since they are forced out of their country often by desperate circumstances. Therefore, forced migration has both positive and negative impacts on the host society. Regardless of the impacts, the problem of forced migration needs to be addressed adequately, since the initial costs of managing an increasing number of refugees are much bigger than the eventual benefits accrued.

Labour Markets

It is impossible to have large numbers of people move from one country to various other countries without the labour markets being profoundly affected. As expected, the home country loses out since thousands of workers are forced to flee the country. For the

host country, the picture can be more nuanced, and the benefits remain more uncertain, as huge number of workers suddenly flood into their domestic labour market. Such a sudden influx is initially disruptive if not managed properly as these new workers are not instantly absorbed into the new society, and this creates a burden on the existing institutions. This, in turn, can lead host countries to question the wisdom of opening their borders to the refugees. However, the net effect is beneficial to the host countries as the new labour pool ultimately makes the economy stronger.

A prime example of this is what has happened in Turkey following the influx of close to 3.5 million refugees fleeing the Syrian conflict. Although Turkey has spent billions of euros to accommodate them; economically, this inflow of refugees into Turkey has had a net benefit. While the refugees have displaced Turkish workers in some areas, notably in the unskilled, informal, and part-time work sectors, they have also been the catalyst for an increase in formal employment for the Turks, an increase in demand for higherquality work, which is then filled by the Turkish workers, and an increase in the average wages of the Turkish employees employed in the formal sector. Although the net benefit is overall positive for Turkey, labour market dynamics have shifted. Women in particular have been

negatively impacted by the influx of refugees, as they have been forced out of the informal labour market, and have not seen a corresponding uptick in employment in the formal sector.⁵ The Syrian crisis has also created a similar economic distress in Jordan and Lebanon. Jordan and Lebanon have registered a decline in economic growth, increased social tension, insecurity and political instability.6 From 2011 to 2014, Lebanon registered a growth rate of 1.8%, declining from 9.2% in 2007 to 2010, while Jordan experienced a growth rate of 2.8% in 2011-2014, a decline of 3.0% from its economic growth between 2009 and 2010.7 One of the main challenges facing Lebanon and Jordan is balancing quality and quantity of employment for its own nationals and Syrian refugees. To safeguard job opportunities for its citizens, Lebanon has implemented procedural legislation that places its nationals in formal jobs, resulting in many Syrians finding jobs in the informal sector. In Turkey, the entry of Syrian nationals into the informal labour market has resulted in a decrease of informal work among the Turkish labour force from 50 % to approximately 30 %.8

The Turkish experience highlights the fact that for the host countries to experience the full benefit of a refugee influx, the refugees need to be quickly integrated into the labour market on a formal level, as this will have the effect of giving the refugees the protection of a stable situation.⁹ If this does not happen, the refugees will end up in the informal market, which, although it provides some form of employment, is ultimately less beneficial to both the refugees and the economy of the host country. In such circumstances, the refugees have an insecure form of employment, and the host country does not have access to tax revenue that would otherwise be generated by the work of the refugees.

Politics

Political disruption is inevitable when it comes to forced migration. Political upheaval often leads to and results from forced migration. A prime example of this is the political upheaval that led to the forced migration of thousands of Palestinian refugees following the war with Israel in 1948, and the subsequent creation of the state of Israel, which resulted in regional political turmoil in and of itself, and finally, the 1967 war. Many of these refugees are still living in camps or ethnic neighbourhoods where human security continues to be a major problem. One other factor that makes these refugees particularly unique in Lebanon is that most of them are descendants of the original refugees who fled decades before and have not been granted citizenship. As indicated

by Goldberg, the exact number of those stateless today is uncertain, but it is probably a few tens of thousands.¹⁰ As the question of their ultimate fate is still undecided, they exist in a state of "permanent impermanence," as mentioned earlier.¹¹

The question of what to do with the Palestinian refugees is one of the main sticking points in the ongoing political dispute between Israel and the Palestinians. Palestinian authorities assert the right of return, saying that the Palestinian refugees should be allowed to return to Israel. Israeli authorities see this as a non-starter, as it would dramatically change the demographics of the country, making the Jewish population a minority. Of course, there is more than one factor that keeps the political dispute between Israel and the Palestinians alive, but the fact that the Palestinian and Israeli authorities have opposing, non-negotiable positions means that it can be argued that the presence of the refugees is doing its part to keep the political situation from being completely settled.¹²

Although the short-term burden on a host country of a new refugee population can be great, the net effect in the long-term is positive. In the short-term, an influx of refugees creates pressure on the host government's resources, services, and labour markets,¹³ and a decline in economic growth due to disruptions

in regional trade, diminishing receipts from tourism, worsening confidence of potential investors, and diminishing capital inflows in the region.¹⁴ However, it is not all negative and in some regards, forced migration can have a positive effect on the economic and political fronts. Despite the negative shock in the short-term due to the influx of Syrian refugees in Jordan, Lebanon and Turkey, the high number of refugees may bring about a positive impact on these countries' economy. For example, refugees are additional consumers, boosting demand for necessities in these countries. Therefore, if the host countries can trigger an effective response to refugee influx, for example, supplying the basic needs (i.e. food and shelter) and related services (i.e. transportation, health and education), they could experience a positive economic growth in the long run.15 If over time, the refugees are properly integrated into the host countries' economies, their contribution will be amplified as they are rendered less dependent on social transfers and thus, become more stable.

The forced migration from Syria has had perhaps the greatest political impact of any forced migration in recent history. Neighbouring countries have accepted many of the millions of displaced, but as the conflict keeps going, countries such as Jordan, Lebanon and Turkey are feeling the strain. This is particularly true for the host countries that are underdeveloped economically in comparison to other countries in the region. Jordan and Lebanon, in particular, have both expressed concern over the burden being placed on their institutions, with Jordanian officials recently stating that, without additional international aid, they will soon be at the breaking point. Turkey has also received only a limited amount of international aid so far, as promised by the EU under the 1:1 refugee deal.

The forced migration from Syria has had perhaps the greatest political impact of any forced migration in recent history.

To solve this limited burden-sharing problem, Jordan says that it needs more international aid and this highlights, perhaps non-intuitively, the positive political impact that forced migration can have. Forced migration forces a change in the politics of the host country, as the institutions are forced to adapt to the added strain on them, and the refugee policy is forced to adapt as well. At the regional level, host countries are compelled to reach out to their neighbours and work to share the (hopefully) short-term burden

of hosting the refugees. For example, Syria and Lebanon signed a bilateral agreement before the Syrian conflict for economic and social cooperation, where citizens of both countries were granted the freedom to stay, work and carry out economic activities. However, the Lebanese authorities suspended the right of Syrian refugees to work in the country as of early 2015 due to mounting social unrest and problems with the public service provision. To properly share the burden of forced migration, especially on the scale created by the Syrian conflict, close cooperation is required. Not all the countries in the region are at the same economic level, and thus have different capabilities for hosting refugees. To equitably share the burden, other countries in the region, such as Saudi Arabia and other Gulf countries including the Organization of Islamic Cooperation (OIC) would need to step in. In addition, the countries in the region need to talk and cooperate with each other, and this can lead to ties being forged and strengthened eventually. These ties then can be used in the future to further international cooperation on other regional challenges that may arise.

In the long-term, new ties can be forged between the home country of the forcibly migrated, and the host countries. This can come about as the host countries and the home country work together to settle the conflict that Forced migration forces a change in the politics of the host country, as the institutions are forced to adapt to the added strain on them, and the refugee policy is forced to adapt as well.

has resulted in the forced migration, also from the shift in demographics. The conflict in Syria has effectively spread out the Syrian population in the region and beyond. The vast majority of Syrians now live outside Syria, especially in neighbouring countries. Although their ties to their homeland are strained at best, they still exist. In the future, these personal ties will continue to remain, and will create points of commonality between the host countries, and the home countries. For example, when conflict in Syria is eventually settled, Syria, and the countries hosting Syrian refugees, will have to work together to ensure that the ties between them remain strong so that the Syrians abroad can either return to Syria, or at least have easier travel to and from Syria to visit family, and to deal with other personal interests in Syria. In brief, although greatly disruptive in the short-term, forced migration can lead to an improved political situation as existing systems are forced to adapt to the new reality, and to forge new and strengthen

existing political ties among countries, as Lebanon and Jordan attempted to do with Syria through labour agreements in 1993 and 2001 respectively.¹⁶

Culture

Culturally speaking, forced migration changes everything, especially when it is a large-scale forced displacement. In the Middle East, the countries, except for Israel, have a lot in common culturally, sharing common languages, cultures of hospitality, and a common religion, Islam, despite the sectarian differences. Thus, when Syrian Sunni refugees living along the border, for example, flee to Jordan, it does not create additional cultural problems thanks to common heritage and already existing ethnic ties.

In the long run, cultural diversity makes a country stronger. Although forced migration creates more challenges to nation-states due to its magnitude and spontaneity than regularly managed flows of migration, there is no reason that in the long run, this challenge should not be offset by the benefits that come from increased diversity. Diversity makes a country less insular and more outward focused. It also fosters a culture that is more welcoming of differences; this means that more people from more diverse backgrounds may feel accepted in the country. This will, in turn, boost the reputation of the country abroad and increase its standing in the international community.

Diversity makes a country less insular and more outward focused.

However, while mixing cultures is good for a country in the long run, in the short run it can prove to be fractious. In Turkey, for example, where the home culture and the migrant cultures are more different than in other parts of the Middle East, the reception has been different as the cultural differences are more profound. Syria and Turkey, although sharing some religious similarities, linguistically and demographically have significant differences. As the social and political pressures have increased due to the continuous flow of refugees, antiimmigrant and anti-Arab sentiments have surfaced more and more within Turkish society.¹⁷ This growing hostility creates a level of social/cultural tension within Turkish society. This is further exacerbated by the fact that the refugees are viewed as guests within the country. It means that they are expected to stay only temporarily and are viewed as outsiders. More recently, hostility targeting the Syrian population is on the rise in Turkey.¹⁸

Of course, it is assumed that some of the Syrian forced migrants will be integrated into the host country, but the assumption is that the majority of them should return to their home country, ideally through mechanisms created by the closer political ties between the home country and the host country. However, this puts the refugees in a position of being complete outsiders. Just as a personal guest is not viewed as being part of the household they are visiting, the forcibly migrated are not viewed as being full-fledged members of the society of the host country.

However, this does not mean that they do not have a cultural impact on their host countries. They bring with them the culture of their home countries, and they add to the diversity of their host country. Normally the migrants reject the culture of the host country, but their children, if they end up settling in the host country, adopt the culture of the new country. Although this can lead to intra-familial conflict, it does indicate that some cultural mixing is going on. If the families end up migrating back to their home country, they often find that both themselves and their home countries have changed, further adding to the cultural mixing.¹⁹

At the same time, the processes of cultural adaptation are costly for the receiving end countries both socially and economically. Cultural adaptation poses a challenge for the native residents of the countries hosting refugees by calling into question issues of cultural identity, and creates tension among populations. Although a big portion of forced migration is taking place in the Middle East, the biggest cultural impact has been felt outside of the region. Millions of refugees have fled the Middle East entirely, migrating to Europe. Traditionally, Europe and the European Union have been open to migrants coming from particular regions. However, as the number of Syrian refugees in the EU has increased, so has opposition to their presence. Several countries in the European Union have taken the dramatic step of closing their borders to refugees, even questioning the Schengen regime by re-imposing strict border controls. Traditionally tolerant countries, like Sweden, have also seen populist social movements arise that oppose the presence of the migrants. Magnusson reported this story as one of shifting attitudes:

It is the latest sign of the major change in sentiment sweeping across Scandinavia's biggest economy as the Sweden Democrats- a party with neo-Nazi roots- forces itself into the mainstream of Swedish politics.... forcing it [the government] to form a pact with the core opposition parties in

an effort to prevent the Sweden Democrats from disrupting lawmaking. However, voters are signaling they want the group to have a bigger say. Moreover, after Sweden's generous asylum policies led to a surge in refugee flows from war zones in the Middle East, the government's political power has waned. Its budget pact with the opposition fell apart in October and both the coalition and the main opposition parties have since been forced to tighten their stance on immigration.²⁰

Unlike in the Middle East, European cultures, broadly speaking, are historically quite different from Middle Eastern cultures and significant proportions of the population in Europe fear the transformative influence that a large number of Muslim migrants will have on Europe. This in turn has led to a serious discussion about what it means to be European, and whether or not European policy towards the Middle East needs to be reformulated.²¹

Security

Adding to the complexity of the situation are the fears regarding security. With all those people displaced, moving from one country to the next, forced migration raises genuine and serious concerns regarding the security of the host countries. The fear is that, under the guise of being refugees, terrorist organizations and/ or criminals will infiltrate the host countries and do harm against them. To have a balance between maintaining an open door to refugees and providing for the security of its people is one of the major challenges for nation-states. Bertossi and Milkop summarize it as follows:

To have a balance between maintaining an open door to refugees and providing for the security of its people is one of the major challenges for nation-states.

One country declares a state of emergency because of the presence of undocumented immigrants in its territorial waters. Another dispatches asylum seekers to offshore islands in foreign jurisdictions before considering their applications. Genetic testing is seen as a proper tool for coping with possible abuses of family reunification laws. To paraphrase Shakespeare, there are serious problems in the "kingdom" of international migration and migration policies.²²

Additionally, the host countries only need to look at another country in the Middle East that is experiencing conflict and a large outflow of refugees, Iraq, to see how it could turn ugly. As Lischer puts it when discussing the Iraqi refugee challenge:

As this crisis demonstrates. displacement can expand and intensify violence during a civil war. In addition, refugee flows increase the risk that conflict will spread across international borders. In some cases, refugee militarization can lead to international war and regional destabilization. Even if the displaced Iraqis do not join militant groups, their mere presence will exacerbate political tensions.²³

Many countries in the region, and beyond, are worried about the forced migrants coming into their territories. Existential questions about national identity aside, neighbouring host countries face the prospect that by opening their borders to refugees, they are opening their borders to the ongoing conflict. However, in the same article Lischer proposes a multi-faceted solution that can reduce the chances of this happening, and that can be applied to the Syrian refugee challenge: First, provide a massive infusion of humanitarian aid. Second, resist the temptation to build camps to house the displaced. Third, do not return the displaced people home against their will. Fourth, expand and expedite the resettlement process.²⁴

Existential questions about national identity aside, neighbouring host countries face the prospect that by opening their borders to refugees, they are opening their borders to the ongoing conflict.

This latter recommendation is not very feasible at the moment, but it points to the ideal solution to the whole challenge. The outcome that would assuage the concerns of everyone, forced migrants, regional leaders, as well as the average citizens, who are anxious about what the changing demographics of their neighborhoods mean for the identity of their countries, would be peaceful and voluntary repatriation of the refugees. It would not change demographics in Europe, but it would at least put an end to the misperception of a "refugee invasion" of Europe.²⁵ Politically speaking, this is much more achievable vis-à-vis the Syrian forced migrants, than for the Palestinians, whose lands were confiscated and for whom return

to the homeland has become more difficult. Once the Syrian conflict is over and stability is achieved, there will be no major barrier towards eventual peaceful repatriation. Naturally, this assumes that the sectarian aspects of the Syrian civil war are adequately addressed in any peace treaties, and that there are minimal disputes at the communal level. A peace accord was established in the Balkans even after the tragic Srebrenica genocide, so one can hope that it could happen in Syria as well.

Regional Migration Management Mechanisms

Other than Turkey, the countries in the Middle East are not signatories of the 1951 Geneva Convention on Refugees. Turkey is also still keeping the geographical limitation clause, which theoretically hinders those coming from outside Europe to settle in Turkey as accepted refugees. Yet, with a temporary protection regime introduced in 2014, Turkey also provides shelter and protection while following non-refoulement for more than 3.5 million forced migrants coming from diverse nationalities, such as Syrians, Afghans, Iranians, Iraqis and Somalis. The Middle East also shares a culture of hospitality, whereby the forcibly displaced are welcome to seek shelter and aid. However, this

means that in the absence of formal mechanisms to provide support, most policies are *ad-hoc* and can be subject to change.

Other than Turkey, the countries in the Middle East are not signatories of the 1951 Geneva Convention on Refugees.

Despite the absence of an international legal framework, UN agencies operate in the region. The most well-known of these is the United Nations Relief and Works Agency for Palestinian Refugees in the Near East, known by its acronym UNRWA. This agency's primary task is to provide institutional level support to Palestinian refugees in the camps. Of course, it cannot do everything and thus the refugees are forced to improvise. One of these most dangerous forms of improvisation that they have embarked on is being smuggled out of the Middle East. As Anderson highlights:

"Before the Syrian civil war began, there were 70,000 Palestinians living in Ain al-Hilweh, which occupies less than one square mile of land. But the devastating conflict has prompted another flood of Syrians and Palestinians living in Syria: The camp's population is now estimated to have ballooned by another 10,000 people. Given the brutal conditions there, many of its residents are seizing the opportunity to hire people like Zeinab to provide them with passage to Europe. As the influx of refugees seeking asylum in Europe grows, so does the refugee smuggling industry, now said to be a \$26 billion per year business. Over 300,000 migrants are reported to have crossed the Mediterranean Sea into Europe, and the number keeps growing".²⁶

No doubt that human smuggling is extremely dangerous. Migrants face death along the route, and a very uncertain future in Europe. Often smugglers have simply had their money taken, and then they leave them behind before reaching destination points. Even if they do, they usually await deportation as Palestinians, since many of the destination countries would not take them in. Economically speaking, the Palestinian refugee camps in the Middle East are very underdeveloped.²⁷ Poverty is one of the most enduring characteristics of these camps and it is one of the strongest motivators for the refugees to take extreme measures to improve their lot in life. Additionally, not only are the living conditions harsh in the Palestinian refugee camps; with the civil war in nearby Syria, the camps have become a refuge of sorts for Syrian refugees in Lebanon as well. This, in turn, has attracted the attention of the Islamic State and others, effectively bringing the Syrian civil war to the Palestinians.

Poverty is one of the most enduring characteristics of these camps and it is one of the strongest motivators for the refugees to take extreme measures to improve their lot in life.

Regardless of the human tragedies and death toll along the way, many forced migrants have chosen human smuggling, but they have also adopted other means as a survival strategy. One of these methods is taking advantage of religious social networks through conversions.²⁸ This strategy is neatly illustrated by the experience of the Syrian Christians. Christians, in general, in the Middle East have been hit particularly hard by forced migration. Religious leaders are abducted, sometimes murdered, and across the Middle East, thousands of Christians are fleeing their homes. Syrian Christians are among the tens of thousands of forced migrants

escaping the civil war in Syria. In rebel held areas of Syria, no outward show of Christianity is tolerated. Other refugees have described being forced to pay a heavy tax and/or property. If they resist, they face the prospect of being killed. As Flamini reports:

"The reality is that the Christian population in the Middle East is shrinking at a faster rate than ever before, through emigration and wholesale killing, as well as a lower birthrate than its Muslim counterpart... Migrants can come back, of course, but rarely do. 63 % of Arab Americans are descendants of Christian immigrants."²⁹

In order to escape their dire situations and find a safe refuge, they follow the footsteps of Iranian Christians. That is to say that they usually establish connections with their Christian social networks to escape further to the West.³⁰

The fact that no formal migrant management mechanisms have developed in the Middle East is a serious problem for the whole region. As the Syrian forced migrant experience demonstrates, having a culture of hospitality is not enough. Nearby countries will take the brunt of the influx of migrants, and if they are fortunate, like Turkey, they will be economically healthy enough to be able to handle it. If they are not as robust, like Jordan or Lebanon, they will soon reach the breaking point, and if they do break, it will only add to the already existing instability. This lack of such mechanisms has compelled many of the forcibly displaced to risk abuse and even death to try to reach Europe through human smugglers³¹ instead of being able to take advantage of a regional mechanism for safer transport away from the violence. Instead, the forced migrants are left to fend for themselves, and do the best they can to reach safety.

This also demonstrates a failure on the part of the host countries to recognize the value of the migrants. As illustrated in previous sections, the refugees can result in a net benefit to their host countries. Farsighted regional leaders would have looked at history, seen the patterns, and have instituted mechanisms to allow receiving countries to quickly integrate the refugees into the host society. Additional burdensharing would have allowed host countries to quickly call upon the resources of other regional countries, so that no one country gets overwhelmed. One can hope that the Syrian refugee experience will demonstrate the need for such mechanisms and when the next mass forced migration happens, the region will be better prepared.

Conclusion

While depicted as refugee crisis in the media, the protracted case of both Palestinians and Syrians indicate that it is high time to come up with regional policies that target better management of such forced migration flows. I would argue that "crisis" is the wrong word to denote what is going on when forced migration occurs, though it is understandable why the term is being used as it contains a sense of urgency and call to action.

However, what is needed is to be better prepared in order to handle such issues more effectively and to think of longterm solutions. As Adamson underlines, this could be one of the reasons that regional coping mechanisms were never set up, even though forced migration in the Middle East has been occurring since the early 20th century.³² The Palestinian refugees have been in a perpetual state of deep distress and misery for the last 60 years. The Syrian conflict has been going on since 2011 with no clear end in sight, and with more and more players getting embroiled in it. Understanding forced migration, as a calamity rather than crisis would mentally prepare policy makers by giving them a sense of the enormity of the challenge. The Merriam-Webster dictionary defines "calamity" as "a state of deep distress or misery caused by major misfortune or loss; an event that

causes great harm and suffering." Use of such a descriptive would make the international community consider the fact that it is not a short-term disaster but a long-term phenomenon that will require long-term solutions and longterm planning; not only to ameliorate the current crisis, but also to prepare for the possibility of more forced migrations in the future.³³

While depicted as refugee crisis in the media, the protracted case of both Palestinians and Syrians indicate that it is high time to come up with regional policies that target better management of such forced migration flows.

Additionally, the host countries need to revise the way that they think of the refugees themselves. Instead of thinking along the lines of these people being in their country as transient "guests" and providing the refugees assistance that is designed to provide aid only in the short-term, it would be better to begin to think of them as incentives, and try to fit them, skilled and unskilled alike, into the labor markets, with the recognition of diplomas. One can hope that this shift in thinking will force the regional policy makers to consider the long-term benefits to the host countries having migrants.

Of course, a sudden uncontrolled increase in the number of refugees might be devastating to any host country. Although the greatest cost is born by the forced migrants themselves as they go through deep trauma without a clear idea of when it will end, the host countries in the region face social unease created by the influx of migrants and by limited resources. Politically, it may result in unwanted ethnic tensions as a result of demographic imbalance. Furthermore, by opening their borders, host countries run the risk of inadvertently spreading the conflict if the refugees become militarized or the combatants follow them to the host country.

Nevertheless, forced migration can be turned into a net benefit in the long run for all the stakeholders: host society, home country, and refugees themselves. Economically, it makes the host country more prosperous, culturally, it is enriching, and politically, it makes the system more robust and the institutions more flexible. Internationally, countries in the region are forced to cooperate to not only share the initial burden of created by the forced migration, but to address the underlying factors that created it in the first place. This has the effect of strengthening existing ties while creating new ones. Traditionally, hospitality cultural and religious solidarity have been the mechanism by which the refugees have been aided, and this has led to an absence of rightsbased regional coping mechanisms. The fact that the Palestinian refugee population has been living for several generations with no solutions at sight and the tragedies lived out on a daily basis by the Syrian refugees mainly dispersed in Turkey, Lebanon, and Jordan are indications that the whole region needs to rethink how it addresses forced migration.

Future Study

More research needs to be done on the social attitudes that host countries have towards refugees. How do the citizens of the countries in the region view refugees? Are they considered outsiders despite the fact that they have ethnic ties, share a common culture and speak the same language? What are the attitudes in countries like Jordan and Lebanon, where Palestinian refugees have been there for generations? Do local societies view them as a part of the national fabric? How extensive is the viewpoint that forced migrants in the Middle East are temporary guests? What is the effect of a lack of international protection mechanisms and agreements on the reception of refugees? Additional studies need to be done to see whether proper asylum policies and regional cooperation addressing the issue would redefine how refugees are viewed and treated. Lastly, more quantitative research needs to be carried out to measure how long it will take for host countries to finally reap the benefits of hosting forced migrants.

Forced migration can be turned into a net benefit in the long run for all the stakeholders: host society, home country, and refugees themselves.

Endnotes

- Susan F. Martin, "Forced Migration and Professionalism", *The International Migration Review*, Vol. 35, No. 1 (2001), pp. 226- 43.responses and solutions. This article describes efforts since the early 1980s to professionalize the field. Professional development requires, at a minimum, that three things be in place: training; standards to govern professional competence; and a process for evaluation and improvement. Professional development must take into account the increasing complexity of humanitarian crisis; changing notions of sovereignty that permit new solutions; changing mandates and responsibilities of organizations concerned with forced migration; and technological and communications innovations that enable new approaches to forced migration and professional training.","ISSN":"0197-9183","journalAbbreviation":"The International Migration Review", "author":[{"family":"Martin","given":"Susan F."}],"issued":{"date-pa rts":[["2001"]]}}],"schema":"https://github.com/citation-style-language/schema/raw/master/csl-citation.json"}
- 2 Rosemary Sayigh, "A House is Not a Home: Permanent Impermanence of Habitat for Palestinian Expellees in Lebanon", *Holy Land Studies*, Vol. 4, No. 1 (2005), pp. 17–39.
- 3 UNHCR Report, "Forced Displacement Worldwide at its Highest in Decades", at http://www.unhcr.org/afr/news/stories/2017/6/5941561f4/forced-displacement-worldwide-its-highest-decades.html (last visited 28 January 2018).
- 4 Stephan Szabo, "Europe's Identity Crisis", The Washington Post, 12 November 2015.
- 5 Ximena Vanessa Del Carpio and Mathis Christoph, "The Impact of Syrian Refugees on the Turkish Labor Market, at http://www.gsdrc.org/document-library/the-impact-ofsyrian-refugees-on-the-turkish-labour-market/ (last visited 28 January 2018).
- 6 ILO Report, "Regional Dialogue on Labor Market Impact of the Syrian Refugee Crisis in Jordan, Lebanon, Turkey, Iraq and Egypt: Summary Report and conclusions", at http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---arabstates/---ro-beirut/documents/ publication/wcms_408999.pdf (last visited 28 January 2018).
- 7 Lorenza Errighi and Jörn Griesse, "The Syrian Refugee Crisis: Labor Market implications in Jordan and Lebanon", at https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/file_import/dp029_en_2.pdf (last visited 28 January 2018).
- 8 ILO Report, "Regional Dialogue on Labor Market Impact".
- 9 Phillippe Fargues, "Work, Refuge, Transit: An Emerging Pattern of Irregular Immigration South and East of the Mediterranean", *The International Migration Review*, Vol.43, No. 3 (2009), pp. 544–77.
- 10 Ari Ben Goldberg, "US Senate Dramatically Scales down Definition of Palestinian Refugees" *The Times of Israel*, 25 May 2012.

- 11 Rosemary Sayigh, "A House is not a Home: Permanent Impermanence of Habitat for Palestinian Expellees in Lebanon", *Holy Land Studies*, Vol. 4, No. 1 (2005), pp. 17–39.
- 12 Deborah Sontag, "Quest for Middle East Peace: How and Why It Failed", Journal of Palestine Studies, Vol. 31, No.1 (2001) pp. 75–85.
- 13 ILO Report, "Regional Dialogue on Labor Market Impact".
- 14 Lorenza Errighi and Jörn Griesse, "The Syrian Refugee Crisis: Labor Market Implications in Jordan and Lebanon", at https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/file_ import/dp029_en_2.pdf (last visited 28 January 2018).
- 15 Ibid.
- 16 Ibid.
- 17 Şenay Özden, «Syrian Refugees in Turkey", at http://cadmus.eui.eu/handle/1814/29455 (last visited 28 January 2018).
- 18 William Armstrong, "Syrian Kurds Have Risen `Out of Nowhere` since 2011", *Hürriyet Daily News*, 24 October 2015,
- 19 Arturo Roizblatt and Daniel Pilowsky, "Forced Migration and Resettlement: Its Impact on Families and Individuals", *Contemporary Family Therapy*, Vol. 18, No. 4 (1996), pp. 513-521.
- 20 Niklas Magnusson, "Sweden Anti-Immigration Party Surges in Poll Amid Refugee Crisis", at http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2015-12-01/sweden-antiimmigration-party-surges-in-poll-amid-refugee-crisis (last visited 28 January 2018).
- 21 Stephan Szabo, "Europe's Identity Crisis", The Washington Post, 12 November 2015.
- 22 Christophe Bertossi and Ashley Milkop, "The Regulation of Migration: A Global Challenge", *Politique étrangère*, Vol. 73 (2008), p. 189.
- 23 Sarah Kenyon Lischer, "Security and Displacement in Iraq: Responding to the Forced Migration Crisis", *International Security*, Vol. 33, No. 2 (2008), pp. 95–119.
- 24 Ibid.
- 25 Massimiliano Calì and Samia Sekkarie, "Much ado about nothing? The Economic Impact of Refugee Invasions", 16 September 2015 at https://www.brookings.edu/blog/ future-development/2015/09/16/much-ado-about-nothing-the-economic-impact-ofrefugee-invasions/ (last visited 28 January 2018).
- 26 Sulome Anderson, "The Smugglers Are Vampires", *Foreign Policy*, at https://foreignpolicy. com/2015/10/05/the-smugglers-are-vampires-lebanon-palestinian-refugees-ain-alhilweh/ (last visited 28 January 2018).

- 27 Sylvain Perdigon, "For us it is otherwise: Three Sketches on Making Poverty Sensible in the Palestinian Refugee Camps of Lebanon", *Current Anthropology*, Vol. 56, no. 11 (2015), pp. 88–96.
- 28 Şebnem Köşer Akçapar, "Conversion as a Migration Strategy in a Transit Country: Iranian Shiites Becoming Christians in Turkey", *The International Migration Review*, Vol. 40, No. 4 (2006), pp. 817–853.
- 29 Roland Flamini, "Forced Exodus: Christians in the Middle East", *World Affairs*, Vol. 176, No. 4 (2013), pp. 65–71.
- 30 Lizzie Dearden, "Muslim Refugees are Converting to Christianity in Germany", *The Independent*, 9 December 2016.
- 31 U.S. Department of State, "Fact Sheet: Distinctions Between Human Smuggling and Human Trafficking 2006", U.S. Department of State, at https://www.state.gov/m/ds/ investigat/hstcenter/90434.htm (last visited 28 January 2018).
- 32 Fiona B. Adamson, "Crossing Borders: International Migration and National Security", *International Security*, Vol. 31, No.1 (2006), pp. 165-199.
- 33 "Calamity", at http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/calamity (last visited 28 January 2018).

Style and Format

Articles submitted to the journal should be original contributions. If another version of the article is under consideration by another publication, or has been or will be published elsewhere, authors should clearly indicate this at the time of submission. Manuscripts should be submitted to: e-mail: perceptions@mfa.gov.tr The final decision on whether the manuscript is accepted for publication in the Journal or not is made by the Editorial Board depending on the anonymous referees' review reports.

A standard length for PERCEPTIONS articles is 6,000 to 8,000 words including endnotes. The manuscript should begin with an indented and italicised summary up to 150 words, which should describe the main arguments and conclusions, and 5-7 keywords, indicating to main themes of the manuscript. A title page should be attached to the manuscript, including the title of the manuscript, full name (s) of the authors, academic and/or other professional affiliations if any, complete mailing address, fax and phone numbers of the author to whom proofs and correspondence should be sent. The author is also expected to give a brief biography in a footnote at the beginning of the article. Perceptions also publishes reviews of new books or reports; 'book reviews' are usually around 700-1,500-words."

Manuscripts should be single-spaced written by Times New Roman regular font, 11 point throughout. Justified margins; top and bottom 3 cm, left and right 2.4 cm are required. Manuscripts should be numbered consecutively throughout the paper. Only the first letters of title words should be 'upper case'. Quotations should be placed within double quotation marks ("....."). Quotations larger than four lines should be indented at left margin and single-spaced. Use endnotes and avoid bibliography. British punctuation and spelling should be used throughout. Dates should be in the form 3 November 1996; 1995-1998; and 1990s.

All diagrams, charts and graphs should be referred to as figures and consecutively numbered. Tables should be kept to a minimum and contain only essential data. Each figure and table must be given an Arabic numeral, followed by a heading, and be referred to in the text. Appropriate places of tables should be indicated in the text and tables should be submitted in a separate file. If copyrighted material is used in the article, it is the author's responsibility to obtain permission from the copyright holder.

Names of the authors, places and the publishing houses are required to be written in their original forms. The styles of the references in endnotes should conform the following examples:

Books

John Smith, *The Book Title*, New York, New York Publishing Co., 1999, p. 100. John E. Smith (ed.), *The Book Title*, New York, New York Publishing Co., 1999, pp. 100-102. John Smith and Mary Jones, *The Book Title*, New York, New York Publishing Co., 1999, p. 100. Subsequent references should appear as: Smith, *The Book Title*, p. 100. In endnotes 'Ibid' should be used where possible, but it should not be used where the previous note contains more than one source.

Articles in Journals

John Smith, "Article Title", *Journal Name*, Vol. #, No. # (Month Year), p. #. Subsequent references should appear as: Smith, "Article Title", p. #.

Articles in Edited Books

John Smith, "Article Title", in Mary Jones (ed.), *Book Title*, New York, New York Publishing Co., 1999, p. 100.

Newspaper Articles

Christopher Hooton, "Japan is Turning Its Abandoned Golf Courses into Solar Power Plants", *The Independent*, 21 July 2015.

Manuscript References

PRO King's Remembrancer's Memoranda Roll, E159/69, m. 78. BM Add. MS 36042, fo.2 (plural fos.). Four-figure numerals without comma or space: 2572. Titles of other record repositories, and names of collections of papers, in full in first reference: Scottish Record Office (hereafter SRO), Airlie Papers, GD 16, section 38/82, April 5, 1844. Compton Papers, kept at the estate office of the Marquess of Northampton, Castle Ashby (hereafter CA), bdle. 1011, no.29.

Official Papers

Parliamentary Papers: Select Committee on Manufacturers (Parl. Papers, 1833, VI), 0.456. Subsequent references as: SC on ... (PP, 1839, VII), 00.2347. Hansard (Commons), 4th ser. XXXVI, 641–2, 22 Aug. 1895.

Theses

For titles of published and unpublished theses use italics: John E. Smith, *Title of Thesis*, unpublished Ph.D. thesis, Name of the University, Year, Chapter #, p. #

Internet References

Azam Ahmed and Julie Hirschfeld Davis, "U.S. and Cuba Reopen Long-Closed Embassies", *The New York Times*, 20 July 2015, http://www.nytimes.com/2015/07/21/world/americas/cuba-us-embassy-diplomatic-relations.html?ref=world&_r=0 (last visited 21 July 2015).

Title of Book Reviews

Türk Basınında Dış Habercilik (Foreign News Reporting in the Turkish Media), by M. Mücahit Küçükyılmaz and Hakan Çopur. Ankara: SETA, 2010, 168 pages, ISBN 9786054023073.

